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IBC Corporate Information

Savanna Energy Services Corp. is a strategically focused drilling, 

well servicing and oilfield rentals company. Headquartered in Calgary, Alberta, 

we have operations in Canada, the U.S. and Australia. Our Aboriginal partnerships, 

community involvement and commitment to safety reflect the importance of our 

four values: Integrity, Relationships, Excellence and Sustainability.
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In the face of a radical market shift 

away from shallow drilling in 2008,  

we have been transitioning our 

company by adding depth in every 

area — from geographic diversity, rig 

reconfiguring and financial capacity 

to improving safety, people programs 

and aboriginal partnerships.

our vision and values lead the way in 

building a conservative yet innovative 

growth company that can weather any 

market condition. We are a company 

of choice for the long term.
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Our plan

Doing what we said 
we would do.
Exiting the global financial crisis of 2008/2009, we knew we needed 
to change in order to thrive long-term and be less dependent on any 
one market. We devised a strategy and worked diligently over the 
next several years to transform our business — and we have.

G o A l tA R G e t W h e R e  A R e  W e  n o W

Diversify our operations 
outside of Canada.

Grow revenue outside of 
Canada to 50% of total 
revenue in five years.

International revenue 
was 38% in 2012 (year 3) 
and we expect this growth 
to continue.

Reconfigure our
underutilized 
CT-1500.

Pursue a three-year build 
plan to reconfigure 15 CT-1500 
units into TDS-3000TM 
by 2013.

All 15 TDS-3000TM rigs were 
reconfigured on time and on 
budget, and exceed customer 
performance expectations.

Establish a foothold in the 
Australian Coal Seam Gas  
(CSG) market.

Deliver and commission 
built-for-purpose rigs, 
establish local crews, and 
begin demonstrating expertise 
in the Australian market.

4 drilling and 3 workover 
rigs are operating under 
long-term contracts. Ancillary 
trucking and rentals have 
been added. 

Grow financial strength
and flexibility for uncertain
market conditions.

Maintain debt-to-equity ratio 
below 0.5, and ensure debt 
availability to capitalize on 
opportunities.

Debt-to-equity ratio was 0.3 
at Dec. 31, 2012. We enhanced 
liquidity by issuing 7-year
notes and expanded our 
revolving credit facility. 
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Our rESulTS

A deeper, stronger, 
more diverse Savanna.
Today, Savanna is a stronger company with increasing balance in 
our service lines and geographical presence, and new avenues for 
growth. Our margins are improving and our EBITDAS has more than 
tripled from 2009 to 2012.
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prESidEnT’S MESSagE

F i n a n c i a l  I n f o r m a t i o n

(In thousands of dollars except as noted) 2010 2011 2012

Revenue  438,396  610,737  669,321 

operating margin  110,139  176,493  195,238 

operating margin (%) 25% 29% 29%

eBItDAS  78,576  135,844  150,986 

Dividends per share declared ($/share)  0.03  —    0.27 

2012 Roller Coaster
2012 was a tumultuous year for the industry and 
Savanna, which both tested and strengthened our 
conviction to following our strategy. In Q1, we 
experienced some of the strongest demand and 
activity of the last few years. This was once again 
followed by an extended break-up in Canada. Our 
U.S. operations continued to generate high activity 
and Australia progressed with utilization and rig 
delivery. Industry activity heading into Q3 and Q4 
looked positive everywhere. 

Unfortunately, oil prices began to retreat in the second 
half of the year and this, coupled with stubbornly low 
natural gas prices, significantly curtailed our customer 
cashflows and demand for our services. Initially this 
was isolated to Canada, but did spread to the U.S. 
in Q4. Fortunately, Australia continued to increase 
overall activity; however, this was punctuated by 
regulatory, customer and operational delays along 
the way. 

Committed to our Strategy
With such uncertainty, we could easily have pulled 
back on Savanna’s strategy of expansion and 
diversification, but we chose not to. While this 
negatively impacted our results in the second half 
of 2012, we firmly believe this decision sets the 
stage for longer-term growth and profitability in 
2013 and beyond.

Revitalize. Diversify. expand.
In pursuit of our vision to become a global energy 
services leader, we have completed several important 
steps to revitalize, diversify and expand our operations: 

Rig Revitalization: In 2012, we introduced our 15th 
TDS-3000TM drilling rig — the last in a three-year plan 
to convert half of our shallow CT-1500 fleet to the 
highly sought after TDS-3000TM platform. Currently 
all of these rigs are contracted, with 12 operating in 
Canada and three in the U.S. We also exported our 
shallow drilling expertise to Australia and uncovered a 
profitable niche in the coring drilling market in Canada 
for the remainder of the CT-1500 fleet.

Revenue Diversification: We have focused on 
diversifying our revenue stream geographically by 
growing in non-Canadian markets while continuing 
to grow Savanna overall. Between 2006 and 2012, 
our non-Canadian revenues grew from less than 5% 
to 38%, and are poised to grow further in the U.S.  
and Australia in 2013.

Service Expansion: It has been Savanna’s stated 
intention to grow our oilfield services business to 
more closely match the scale of our drilling and 
workover rigs. In 2008, we added a small rental 
business to the mix, and in 2012, we successfully 
expanded this service line both organically and 
through acquisitions.
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“  In our vision to be a global leader in energy services, our focus is on 
making the right decisions for the long term and in the best interest 
of our shareholders, customers and employees.”

Ken Mullen
President and Chief Executive Officer

2013 priorities
To be sustainable long term, we must expand our customer base. Savanna has invested significantly to develop 
processes and systems needed for multinational and government-backed customers. These systems are typically 
maintained only by the largest of our competitors, and so the cost has been significant for us. 

Yet the rewards are showing. Coupled with strategic geographic and product execution, these systems have 
enabled Savanna to grow revenue from multinational customers from nil in 2010 to a projected 25% in 2013, 
with the bulk from the U.S. and Australia. 

Executing our strategy and developing core long-term systems is essential to future growth. But we must 
provide a strong balance of cost control and efficiency that was missing in 2012, particularly in light of industry 
volatility. Managing costs will be a core focus in 2013 and beyond. We are also reinforcing our commitment 
to improve our safety performance – first, because it’s the right thing to do and second, because it’s required to 
operate in the multinational arena. 

Our stakeholders have demonstrated incredible faith and patience over the past several years as we essentially 
rebuilt Savanna. We do not take that faith and patience for granted, and we are focused on doing whatever is 
required to ensure our stakeholders are properly rewarded. 
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aSk kEn

Q.  Why is your share price trading at a 
significant discount to book value? 

  Ken. Savanna’s book value per share is approximately $10.40, while our share price is currently 
around $7 per share. So, yes, our shares trade at a discount to our peers on a price to book value basis. 
Part of this is due to Savanna’s new asset base, which has not yet been significantly depreciated. But 
the bigger discount is because we have not yet generated the expected returns from the restructuring 
of our drilling assets over the last three years that we, and therefore the market, expected. Our focus 
in 2013 is to do just that.

Q.  Where do you see the biggest growth 
going forward for Savanna?

  Ken. Savanna has three major business lines: drilling, workover and equipment rentals. We also 
operate in three distinct regions: Canada, the United States and Australia. Our strategy is to increase 
the depth focus of our drilling fleet, to increase our revenue everywhere, but disproportionately outside 
Canada, and to expand our workover and rental businesses opportunistically. We have developed 
designs for new, deeper drilling rigs, and are aggressively pursuing opportunities to deliver these in 
the U.S. and Canada. At the same time, our strong presence in Australia provides significant expansion 
potential in that region as well. Savanna has a wealth of growth opportunities, and we will advance 
them in a financially-disciplined manner.

Q.  What is the biggest challenge facing Savanna 
in the next year and how do you plan to 
manage it?

   Ken. For much of our history, Savanna has been known as an innovative company that delivers 
top-quartile financial returns to our stakeholders. This has not been the case in the past few years. 
We understand the reasons why this has occurred, and we believe we have made the corporate 
and strategic changes needed to reestablish those return levels. 

  Now we must execute. That is both our biggest challenge and opportunity. The potential is in place, 
the assets are in place, and the strong people required to generate the results are in place. It is now 
time to reap the benefits of all our opportunities as a Company. 



We’re no longer just 
a shallow driller.
We have expanded 
deeper and are 
growing our presence 
internationally.
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2 0 1 2

Capital Assets by Service Line
(in millions of dollars) 

Drilling Well Servicing Equipment Rentals

245

62
787

Three
Service 
lines
Our three service lines allow us to serve customers in both the drilling 
and production phases. They are complementary services that leverage 
existing infrastructure and add to earnings stability.

D R I l l I n G

W e l l  S e R v I C I n G

e Q u I p M e n t  R e n tA l S

Drilling
Our drilling business has a modern fleet of over 100 rigs 
for virtually any exploration program. We employ hybrid 
drilling rigs, deep horizontal singles, telescopic and AC 
telescopic doubles, and triples. From shallow gas to deep 
horizontal wells, our fleet boasts top drive technology and 
we strive to engineer out hazards wherever possible with 
automation and better rig designs.

Well Servicing
Savanna Well Servicing offers a safe and professional 
fleet of almost 100 workover rigs and crews available on 
demand. This business is supported by an in-house training 
centre in Lacombe, Alberta and some of the most modern 
single and double rigs in the world (including a top drive 
outfitted model in Australia).

equipment Rentals
D&D Oilfield Rentals and Savanna Oilfield Rentals offer 
over 3,800 pieces of equipment, including loaders, well-site 
trailers, downhole equipment, well-site accommodations, 
trucking, matting and more. This business is a natural fit 
to our core drilling and workover offerings that enhances 
our service breath and improves the efficiency of our 
customers’ exploration programs. The products offered 
are catered to the needs of the local market.
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Three
geographic 
areas
Expanding our business outside of Western Canada allows us to operate 
in markets that are less seasonal and have great growth potential — 
particularly with our newer equipment and solid expertise.

C A n A D A

u n I t e D  S tAt e S

A u S t R A l I A

D e c e m b e r  3 1 ,  2 0 1 2

Active Drilling & Service Rigs by Area

Canada United States Australia

35

8
154

Canada
Our re-configured TDS-3000TM rigs have complemented 
the consistent performance of our telescopic double rigs in 
British Columbia, Alberta and Saskatchewan. Additionally, 
our CT-1500 Hybrids have been active in heavy oil plays 
in northern Alberta on a seasonal basis. Savanna is capable 
of drilling or servicing virtually any type of well program 
in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin.

united States
While our fleet size in the U.S. is relatively small, our 
reputation for excellence in safe operations and technical 
expertise is gaining attention. Our newest AC electric 
telescopic double rigs and our US crews are in high demand 
across the country. The result? Nearly 100% utilization rates 
with contracts in place and significant growth potential.

Australia
Q4 2012 saw our best quarter so far in Australia with 
$2.6 million in operating margins in drilling. Well 
servicing was able to commission and begin operating  
all four workover units. With tremendous growth forecast 
for Coal Seam Gas in Queensland, we are well positioned 
as an early entrant with the right equipment. This market 
is more stable and less seasonal than Canada, and is an 
investment friendly international foothold.
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Our 
drilling 
Fleet

l o n G - R e A C h  D R I l l I n G  R I G S

RIG type QuAntIty totAl 
veRtICAl
Depth

totAl 
MeASuReD 
Depth

hooKloAD
(Average)

hoRSepoWeR
(Average)

teleSCopIC DouBleS 51 4000 M 5000+ M 400,000 lbs 800 HP

teleSCopIC tRIpleS 2 5000 M 5000+ M 775,000 lbs 1500 HP

Features & Benefits
•   All telescopic doubles are equipped with top drives for 

safety and efficiency
• All new builds are AC electric controlled
• Exceptional horizontal drilling capability
•  Capable of drilling 95% of well depths required in Canada 

and 80% in the U.S.
•  Many telescopic doubles feature iron roughnecks, doghouse 

command centres, weight-on-bit and rate-of-penetration, 
hydraulic slips and pipe tables, and joystick control

• Highly mobile and nimble for rigs of this depth rating
•  Newest AC telescopic doubles feature pad 

walking capability

Features & Benefits
• All rigs equipped with top drives
•  Automated features such as iron roughnecks, hydraulic slips, 

remote controlled pipe tables and joystick operation
• Minimal number of loads
• Efficient circulation systems that reduce water consumption
• Extremely small footprint for virtually zero disturbance
• Hugely successful in Viking, Cardium and Bakken plays
•  Handles Range III pipe for efficient drilling and 

fewer connections
• 80+% of TDS-3000TM under multi-year contract
•  Retrofit capital returns on TDS-3000TM are averaging less 

than 4 years payback 

M I D - R A n G e  D R I l l I n G  R I G S

RIG type QuAntIty totAl 
veRtICAl
Depth

totAl 
MeASuReD 
Depth

hooKloAD
(Average)

hoRSepoWeR
(Average)

tDS-2200 8 2200 M 3200 M 200,000 lbs 350 HP

tDS-3000™ 15 3000 M 4000+ M 300,000 lbs 650 HP

AlMoSt

80%
of our fleet is capable of long-reach 

horizontal drilling
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Features & Benefits
•   Drill with coil tubing or conventional top drive and drill pipe 

off the same rig
•  19 operating in Canada with strong winter utilization in coring 

and delineation
•  4 operating in Australia in Coal Seam Gas with a unique 

Australian design
• Highly mobile with a small footprint and virtually zero   
 disturbance
• Effective in coring and delineating for heavy oil plays
•  Automated features such as PLC controls and efficient 

circulation systems

Features & Benefits
• Newly built, modern, high capacity, free standing
• 100% self-mobile fleet, many with PLC controls
•  Excellent coverage in Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin 

with locations near most active plays
•  Proliferation of oil drilling in North America over past few years 

should result in increasing demand for workover services

Savanna’s fleet of drilling and well servicing rigs is among the newest 
in the world. Our rigs are safer, lighter, more mobile and faster. And we 
are producing some of the industry’s best AC telescopic doubles.

h y B R I D  D R I l l I n G  R I G S

RIG type QuAntIty totAl 
veRtICAl
Depth

totAl 
MeASuReD 
Depth

hooKloAD
(Average)

hoRSepoWeR
(Average)

Ct-1500 23 1500 M 2000 M 100,000 lbs 350 HP

S e R v I C e  R I G S

RIG type QuAntIty

SInGle WoRKoveR 43

DouBle WoRKoveR 49   

InteRnAtIonAl WoRKoveR 4
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To be a leader in this industry, we are continually improving our rigs to 
ensure they are relevant, safe and valuable to our customers long term. 

Depth of Knowledge
We have a wealth of operational knowledge at 
Savanna, and a tremendous appetite for innovation. 
We were one of the first to introduce a PLC-operated 
service rig. We designed a high capacity, ultra-heavy 
telescopic double drilling rig specifically to meet the 
stringent technical and transportation requirements to 
drill in the Eastern United States. We have a patented 
coiled tubing drilling technology, and the TDS-3000TM 
rolled out last year was the latest example of our 
drilling innovation. It was collaboration between our 
technical services and operations groups to cost-
efficiently reintroduce an otherwise underutilized 
asset as a highly sought after drilling rig in both 
Canada and the United States.

Rig innovation adds value and depth 
to our service offerings and future.

Our 
Appetite for
innovation

technical Service Group
Our Technical Service Group plays a key part in 
helping us uphold two of our values: Excellence and 
Sustainability. They evaluate and develop external 
and internal business opportunities and review third-
party developments. They also, in conjunction with 
our operating team, create the best technical solutions 
to grow our current fleet of equipment. Four new 
rig designs are in the works that we are very excited 
about. These designs reflect our commitment to 
finding solutions that address our customers’ needs 
and stand the test of time.

 4 new Rig Designs:
 Ultra-Deep AC Double
 High-Mobility AC Triple
 TDS-3000TM Australia design
 Slant rig design for oil sands



Improving our 
hSe performance is 
a top priority, and 
we are committed to 
achieving excellence 
in this area.
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S A F e t y  &  e n v I R o n M e n t

In 2012, we examined our Health, Safety, and Environment (HSE) 
culture at Savanna through a critical lens. We did so not because it 
was “broken” — we remain well positioned in our industry from a 
safety standpoint — but because our HSE culture was not near the 
standard we strived for in all areas of our operations.

Through this evaluation, many changes have been 
made, including adding key management to our HSE 
team. We are essentially beginning a new HSE journey 
with a new team to forge “The path for others to follow” 
as our vision states. Although this refocusing has just 
begun, and the plan to develop a comprehensive HSE 
culture has yet to be solidified, one thing is very clear:

As of January 2013, Savanna’s HSE culture begins 
and ends with commitment from each and every 
Savanna employee.
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everyone deserves 
to go home unharmed.

SaFETY

•	 	Promoting	a	commitment	to	a	value	that	says	that	no	injury	is	acceptable.

•	 	Promoting	an	attitude	and	culture	of	intolerance	of	unsafe	incidents,	accidents	or	harmful	situations.

•	 	Demonstrating	leadership	and	a	personal	commitment	to	safety	including	making	sure	my	actions	

and	behaviors	support	this	principle	at	work	and	at	home.

•	 	Communicating	that	going	home	safely	is	the	company’s	number	one	priority.

•	 	Taking	the	appropriate	respectful	steps,	including	intervening	or	stopping	work,	if	I	witness	or	learn	

of	unsafe	behaviors	or	situations.

•	 	Reporting	any	incident,	near	miss,	error	and	emission	that	I	see,	and	following	up	to	ensure	that	we	

learn	from	these	occurrences	so	that	it	does	not	happen	again.

•	 	Communicating	the	importance	of	our	values	and	how	each	value	(Integrity,	Relationships,	

Excellence	and	Sustainability)	sets	the	foundation	for	an	HSE	culture	in	Savanna.

•	 	Ensuring	HSE	management	systems	are	in	place	and	effective,	and	that	HSE	activities	are	reported	

and	acted	upon.

•	 	Being	personally	involved	in	the	investigation,	assessment	and	implementation	of	remedial	actions	

of	any	serious	incident	or	near	miss.

•	 	Acknowledging	and	rewarding	positive	HSE	actions	and	results.”

With this in mind, Savanna’s Executive Vice President, Operations 
and COO, John Cooper, issued a personal commitment to safe work 
and doing the right thing when it comes to HSE:

“  I am personally committed to building 
and promoting a sustained HSE culture 
in all of Savanna’s operations, and 
customer and community activities. 
I will achieve this by:

John W. Cooper 
EVP Operations and COO
Savanna Energy Services Corp.
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Mr. Cooper also issued the following challenge:

“  I am challenging all Managers within Savanna to create their own version of a commitment to Savanna’s HSE 
culture both themselves and with their direct reports. It is only through a conscious and real commitment to 
actively improving and caring for the individual and collective Health, Safety and Environment of all Savanna 
employees that we will create the type of HSE culture needed by a leader in global energy services.”

X
• Regulations

•  Creating and managing even more Health & Safety 

policies or procedures

• Accepting some injuries as okay or minor

•  Ignoring safe work practises to get a job done on 

time or on budget

•  Making the same mistakes over again or watching 

others make mistakes that can be avoided

• Statistics that don’t change behavior

3 People and a culture that cares

3 All stakeholders going home safely every day

3 Being intolerant of any incident: 

 No injury is acceptable

3  Understanding the leadership qualities to focus on: 

No incidents and no harm

3  Learning from others’ mistakes so we don’t make 

them ourselves

3  Future performance and being at the leading edge 

of the performance envelope

Great Safety leadership is not About Great Safety leadership is About
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Maximizing performance 
while minimizing our 
footprint. 

EnvIROnMEnTAL SUSTAInABILITy

Throughout our rig fleet and operations, we are focused 
on minimizing our environmental footprint by:
•  engineering safer and more efficient rigs that use 

less fuel and produce less noise;
•  insulating engines and mud pumps to reduce noise; 
•  running newer equipment, which means less down 

time and therefore more efficient operations; and
•  reducing the number of buildings and loads, which 

increases mobility and decreases transportation 
costs and associated emissions.

In large part, efficiencies that benefit our business and 
customers also benefit the environment. This means 
we don’t have to choose between maximizing profit 
and minimizing our environmental impact.

Our patented hybrid rigs drill with coil or jointed 
pipe. This reduces the need for a second rig if 
drilling conditions change. These rigs use a closed-
loop circulation system capable of re-using drilling 
fluids and minimizing water use. They also are more 
compact and efficient leaving minimal environmental 
disturbances on location. 

Our AC telescopic doubles use electric power with lower 
fuel consumption. Smaller generators for drawworks 
reduce engine run time and fuel use, and our PLC 
controlled workover rigs operate at improved overall 
efficiencies. Where financially and environmentally 
justified, Savanna has and will continue to use natural 
gas to augment our rig fuel systems.
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o u R  vA l u e S

I n t e G R I t y Demonstrate the courage to do the right thing

R e l At I o n S h I p S Build collaborative partnerships

e x C e l l e n C e Set the industry standard

S u S tA I n A B I l I t y Drive short and long-term success

v ISIOn & vALUES

our commitment 
to our vision and values 
runs deep. 
2012 saw Savanna continue to strive toward our vision of “defining leadership in global energy services” 
and we remain committed to reaching this within a competitive industry and uncertain economic atmosphere. 
From operational excellence to improvement in our safety record, we are committed to being a leader. 
To us, “committed” means many things including:
•  demonstrating professionalism within every aspect of our business and being accountable for performance 

and outcomes;
• developing a plan and executing that plan; 
•  utilizing our expertise and upholding our values as individuals; 
•  honestly identifying failure and turning it into success; 
• continuing to build on achievements; 
•  actively keeping each other accountable and focused; and
•  continuously evaluating and searching for opportunity for all of our stakeholders.



people drive 
our success.
partnerships forge 
new paths.
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p e o p l e  &  p A R t n e R S h I p S

We began Savanna 11 years ago with a vision to lead the energy services 
industry. Today, with over 2,600 people in three different countries, we 
are working hard to keep that innovative spirit alive and continually 
improve our ability to serve our customers. If people want opportunity 
and a home for their careers, this is the place to be.
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More than just a job, 
we help build careers.

BUILDInG CAREERS

vARIety:
We have over 100 job descriptions across professions 
and trades. In addition to professional Red Seal Rig 
Technicians, we employ electricians, mechanics, 
lawyers, accountants, graphic designers, engineers, 
office administrators, IT professionals, project 
managers, business analysts, teachers and more.
 
CAReeR pAth pRoGReSSIon:
We strive to promote from within and encourage 
movement across job families. Several of our key 
managers began their Savanna careers in entry level 
positions, and many sales representatives and senior 
managers began as Rig Technicians. Our employees 
benefit from the variety of career opportunities 
available to our growing international team.

tRAInInG:
Knowledge is power. We offer our employees  
training to develop professionally and learn new 
skills. This includes on the job training and 
continuing education. 

Attracting and retaining good people in the energy services industry is a key priority. We offer many 
different and lucrative careers in drilling, well servicing and oilfield rentals. While factors such as 
seasonality and the global economy can impact a potential candidate’s decision to work on the rigs, 
we are doing our part to highlight Savanna and this industry as a very attractive career choice. 

What does Savanna offer?
CoMpenSAtIon:
Our employees are the heart of our business and 
so we create compensation packages to reflect their 
value. In addition to competitive salary, our benefits 
packages are among the best in our class and each 
region offers specific incentives including health 
and fitness plan opportunities and generous personal 
time-off allotments.

GeoGRAphICAl DIveRSIty:
Our operations are not limited to just Western Canada. 
We are always growing and exploring new areas and 
currently employ people in Canada, the United States, 
and Australia.

volunteeR ChARItABle SuppoRt:
We support employees who make positive 
differences in their communities. Whenever an 
employee volunteers a minimum of 40 hours to 
a registered charity aligned with our values, we 
will donate $500 to that charity. 

Savanna is a great place to expand 
your career horizons and take your 
knowledge of the energy services 
industry deeper. 
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WOMEn In THE FIELD

Stepping up 
to the challenge.
Working on the rigs is like nothing else. It’s 
fast-paced, outdoors and physical. It’s long hours, 
hands-on and will teach you things you could never 
learn in an office setting. Today more and more 
women are stepping up to the challenge, and for 
the right person, it can be a rewarding and 
lucrative move.

When we asked a few female employees about 
working in the field, here’s what they said:

“You	have	to	be	very	open-minded	and	versatile	
in	both	personality	and	work	skills.	You	have	to	be	
willing	to	learn	and	work	hard…	and	laugh	a	lot.”	

“You	have	to	be	physically	fit	and	mentally	tough.	
You	have	to	be	willing	to	carry	your	own	weight.”

“I	think	a	girl’s	strength	is	that	we	view	things	
differently	–	we	are	stronger	at	cleanliness,	
organization,	and	multi-tasking.	Maybe	we	take	
away	the	roughness	to	some	people	out	here.
All	round	it’s	a	good	thing.”	

Savanna is one of a growing number of companies that recognizes 
there is a place for women in the field. As with all of our employees, 
we strive to set them up for success and support their progression. 

Watch the full video to learn more:
www.youtube.com/savannaenergy
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Savanna’s Aboriginal partnerships are a very important 
part of our business. We have worked with many First 
Nations communities over the years to establish long-
term and mutually beneficial partnerships where, in 
many instances, communities own 50% of a drilling or 
well servicing rig operated by Savanna. The benefits 
are many. Aboriginal communities become part of 
the western Canadian energy industry as meaningful 
players, often leading to employment and additional 
business opportunities. Savanna and our customers 
benefit by building productive relationships with 
Aboriginal communities and a better understanding 
of how we can work together to ensure fair and 
sustainable resource development.

The success of our partnership model lies in the 
depth and strength of the commitment as well as 
its alignment with our values of Relationships and 
Sustainability. With a record of tangible achievement 
no other service company can match, working with 
First Nations communities remains a priority for 
Savanna. And based on support from our customers, 
we see opportunity to expand this model into other 
service lines as well.

A values-based approach 
to business success.

ABORIGInAL PARTnERSHIPS

8
FIRSt nAtIonS

share 8 drilling rigs and
6 well service rigs in
50/50 partnerships

with Savanna

Oil & Gas
Company
Customer

Aboriginal
Partner

Savanna
Energy

Services

Dene tha’ First nation

Saddle lake Cree nation

Duncan’s First nation

Blood tribe

Sturgeon lake Cree nation

heart lake First nation

Cold lake First nation

Alexis nakota Sioux nation

Our Aboriginal partners 
participate as both investors 
and valued employees.
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ManagEMEnT TEaM

Bringing years of expertise and 
hands-on experience.

Ken Mullen
President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Mullen has been in a senior executive and directorship role with a number of energy 
service companies for nearly 20 years. Graduating with his Bachelor of Commerce and 
Law degrees from the University of Calgary, Ken is originally from Alberta and has strong 
roots in the community. As a founding member of Savanna, Mr. Mullen has a passion for 
achieving sustainable success for the organizations he works with. As a value-based leader, 
Ken promotes integrity among all Savanna employees and he ensures Savanna remains 
focused on its vision of defining leadership in global energy services through people, 
innovation, and technology. Ken and his wife and daughter live in Calgary.

George Chow
Executive Vice President, Corporate

Mr. Chow is one of Savanna’s founders. As EVP Corporate, he oversees corporate 
governance and legal matters as well as Savanna’s Technical Services & Engineering, 
Information Technology and Supply Chain Groups. He began his career in oilfield services 
in 1994 with Entest Corp., where he was a founding shareholder and President until it was 
acquired by Plains Energy Services Ltd. (“Plains”) in 1996. George joined the Board of 
Directors of Plains and held various senior management positions until Plains was acquired 
by Precision Drilling in 2000. Prior to his career in oilfield services, George practiced 
securities law and obtained his P.Eng. in 1987. He has been a director of several public 
companies, lastly as the non-executive chairman of Profound Energy Inc. He is also a 
member of the Institute of Corporate Directors and obtained his ICD.D designation in 2010. 
He lives in the Calgary area with his wife and three sons.

John Cooper
Executive Vice President, Operations and Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Cooper came to Savanna in the summer of 2011 with over 25 years of leadership 
experience in the energy and logistics industries. John has practical expertise in building 
operating teams in diverse environments from an operational and executive perspective. 
He has served as President and CEO for EnerMax; General Manager, Western Canada 
for Waste Management Inc.; and President of Superior Propane. As such, Mr. Cooper is 
responsible for continuing to develop Savanna’s operations teams in Canada, the United 
States and Australia. John received his Bachelor of Science degree from the University of 
Western Ontario and resides in Calgary with his wife and three daughters.
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Darcy Draudson
Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Draudson is a founding member of Savanna and has more than 20 years of 
business and public company experience in the energy industry. Originally from 
Medicine Hat, Alberta, Darcy has spent many years in Calgary and studied at the 
University of Calgary where he received his Bachelor of Commerce degree. As a 
Chartered Accountant, Mr. Draudson served as the Vice President, Finance and 
CFO of Plains Energy Services and has also worked for several years in public 
practice for a large public accounting firm. Darcy and his family reside in Calgary 
and enjoy the Calgary community.

Dwayne laMontagne
Executive Vice President and Chief Development Officer

Mr. LaMontagne graduated from the University of Regina with a Bachelor of 
Administration in 1990 and earned his Chartered Accountant designation in 1993. 
His more than 20 years of experience include assurance and business advisory 
roles with Ernst and Young, as well as leadership positions with both private 
and public oil and gas companies. In Mr. LaMontagne’s current role as Chief 
Development officer, he oversees Savanna’s Australian operations as well as the 
development of Savanna’s Aboriginal Partnerships. Upon moving to Alberta, 
Dwayne and his family settled in the Cochrane area and have become very 
active community members.

Rachel Moore
Executive Vice President, Human Resources

Mrs. Moore has an extensive background leading HR initiatives across a variety of 
industries. Responsible for the development of Savanna’s HR departments globally, 
Rachel designs and implements workplace programs for Savanna’s employees 
worldwide, including compensation and benefits, training and development, values 
based leadership and workforce planning. Prior to joining Savanna in 2010, Rachel 
was the Vice President, Human Resources at Enerflex Systems Ltd. and held 
positions at Solectron, Canadian Pacific Railways and Trans Canada Pipelines. 
Rachel is well known for her not-for-profit work and volunteerism throughout 
Calgary, where she resides with her husband and three daughters.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information and Statements

Certain statements and information contained in this Annual Report may constitute forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation and 
“forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on certain factors, assumptions and 
analysis made by the Company in light of its experience and its perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors it believes 
are appropriate in the circumstances. However, whether actual results, performance or achievements will conform to the Company’s expectations and predictions is subject to a 
number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations. Consequently, all of the forward-looking 
information and statements made in this Annual Report are qualified by this cautionary statement and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated 
by the Company will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects on the Company or its business or operations. Except 
as may be required by law, the Company assumes no obligation to update publicly any such forward-looking information and statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events, or otherwise. See the “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information and Statements” in the Company’s “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”.
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Since 2009, 
our financial and 
operating results 
have been steadily 
improving.
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Savanna is a Canadian-based drilling and oilfield services company 
with operations in Canada, the United States and Australia, focused 
on providing equipment and technologies to meet and exceed its 
customers’ needs. 

Based in Calgary, Alberta, Savanna also has corporate offices in Houston, Texas and Brisbane, Australia, as well as 
numerous field offices throughout Canada, the United States, and Australia. The Company’s focus is drilling, well 
servicing and rentals and Savanna’s equipment fleet is among the newest and most technically advanced in the 
industry. Savanna’s commitment to talent and technology has enabled the Company to build a strong presence 
within the oilfield services sector in Canada. Savanna has also expanded its customer base to international markets, 
diversifying geographically into growing and emerging markets. Savanna operates through a number of wholly-
owned subsidiaries and several 50/50 partnerships with Aboriginal communities. The Company’s overall business 
is conducted through two major divisions: contract drilling and oilfield services. 

Savanna’s Vision
Defining leadership in global energy services  
through people, innovation, and technology –  
The path for others to follow.

Savanna’s Values
InteGRItY
Demonstrate the courage to do the right thing.  
Be respectful; be trustworthy; be accountable;  
be honest and open; be ethical.

RelAtIonSHIpS
Build collaborative partnerships. Be safe;  
care for people; communicate effectively;  
treat others with dignity; celebrate successes.

eXCellenCe
Set the industry standard. Be committed;  
be creative and open minded; be focused;  
be disciplined; constantly pursue innovation;  
continuously learn and improve.

SuStAInABIlItY
Drive short and long-term success. Create  
value for all; be adaptive; value diversity;  
be profitable; be environmentally responsible;  
develop and empower people.
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This management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is dated March 6, 2013.

This MD&A focuses on key items from the consolidated financial statements of Savanna Energy Services Corp. 
(“Savanna” or “the Company”) for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, which have been prepared by 
management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and are presented in 
Canadian dollars. This discussion should not be considered all-inclusive as it excludes changes that may occur in 
general economic, political and environmental conditions. Additionally, other matters may occur which could affect 
the Company in the future.

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the 
related notes for the year ended December 31, 2012, as well as the Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-
Looking Information and Statements found at the end of this MD&A. Additional information regarding the 
Company, including the Company’s Annual Information Form, is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

noteS:
(1)	 Operating	margin,	operating	margin	percentage,	EBITDAS,	and	operating	cash	flows	are	not	recognized	measures	under	IFRS,	and	are	unlikely	to	be	

comparable	to	similar	measures	presented	by	other	companies.	Management	believes	that,	in	addition	to	net	earnings,	the	measures	described	above	
are	useful	as	they	provide	an	indication	of	the	results	generated	by	the	Company’s	principal	business	activities	both	prior	to	and	after	consideration	of	
how	those	activities	are	financed,	the	effect	of	foreign	exchange	and	how	the	results	are	taxed	in	various	jurisdictions.	Similarly,	capital	assets,	working	
capital,	and	net	debt	are	not	recognized	measures	under	IFRS;	however,	management	believes	that	these	measures	are	useful	as	they	provide	an	
indication	of	the	Company’s	investment	in	operating	assets,	liquidity	and	leverage.

•	 Operating	margin	is	defined	as	revenue	less	operating	expenses.
•	 Operating	margin	percentage	is	defined	as	revenue	less	operating	expenses	divided	by	revenue.
•	 EBITDAS	is	defined	as	earnings	before	finance	expenses,	income	taxes,	depreciation,	amortization,	impairment	losses	and	share-based	compensation	
and	excludes	other	expenses	(income).

•	 Operating	cash	flows	are	defined	as	cash	flows	from	operating	activities	before	changes	in	non-cash	working	capital.
•	 Capital	assets	are	defined	as	property,	equipment	and	intangible	assets.
•	 The	acquisition	of	capital	assets	includes	the	purchase	of	property,	equipment	and	intangible	assets,	capital	assets	acquired	through	business	
acquisitions	and	non-cash	capital	asset	additions.

•	 Working	capital	is	defined	as	total	current	assets	less	total	current	liabilities	excluding	the	current	portions	of	long-term	debt.
•	 Net	debt	is	defined	as	long-term	debt,	including	the	current	portions	thereof	and	excluding	unamortized	debt	issue	costs,	less	working	capital	as	
defined	above.

(2)	 Certain	industry	related	terms	used	in	this	MD&A	are	defined	or	clarified	as	follows:
•	 The	number	of	operating	days,	spud	to	release	days	and	operating	hours	are	all	on	a	net	basis	which	means	only	Savanna’s	proportionate	share	of	
any	rigs	held	in	50/50	limited	partnerships	have	been	included.

•	 Savanna	reports	its	drilling	rig	utilization	based	on	spud	to	release	time	for	its	operational	drilling	rigs	and	excludes	moving,	rig	up	and	tear	down	
time,	even	though	revenue	may	be	earned	during	this	time.	Source	of	Canadian	industry	average	utilization	figures:	Canadian	Association	of	Oilwell	
Drilling	Contractors	(“CAODC”).	Industry	utilization	figures	are	calculated	in	the	same	manner	as	the	Company.

•	 Savanna	reports	its	service	rig	utilization	for	its	operational	service	rigs	in	North	America	based	on	standard	hours	of	3,650	per	rig	per	year.	
Utilization	for	Savanna’s	service	rigs	in	Australia	is	calculated	based	on	standard	hours	of	8,760	per	rig	per	year	to	reflect	24	hour	operating	
conditions	in	that	country.	Reliable	industry	average	utilization	figures,	specific	to	well	servicing,	are	not	available.



S a v a n n a  E n e r g y  S e r v i c e s  C o r p .  2 0 1 2  A n n u A l  R e p o R t 33

M A n A G e M e n t ’ S  D I S C u S S I o n  A n D  A n A lY S I S

Financial Highlights

The following is a summary of selected financial information of the Company:

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 2010

OPERATING RESULTS
Revenue  669,321  610,737  438,396 
Operating expenses  474,083  434,244  328,257 
Operating margin (1)  195,238  176,493  110,139 
Operating margin % (1) 29% 29% 25%

EBITDAS (1)  150,986  135,844  78,576 
Per share: basic  1.77  1.65  0.99 
Per share: diluted  1.76  1.64  0.99 

Net earnings  37,479  45,724  11,458 
Per share: basic  0.44  0.56  0.14 
Per share: diluted  0.44  0.55  0.14 

CASH FLOWS
Operating cash flows (1)  135,180  140,546  81,252 

Per diluted share  1.58  1.70  1.03 
Acquisition of capital assets (1)  185,541  260,471  106,422 
Dividends paid  15,792  –    1,977 

Financial Position at December 31 2012 2011 2010

Working capital (1)  89,354  99,587  78,873 
Capital assets (1)  1,119,764  1,033,241  840,702 
Total assets  1,308,875  1,233,700  998,532 
Long-term debt  245,820  207,637  112,802 

FInAnCIAl HIGHlIGHtS 2012 CoMpAReD to 2011
Overall, 2012 was a tumultuous year for the oilfield services industry in North America. Q1 2012, backed by 
relatively high oil prices and sustained activity levels in liquids-rich natural gas and unconventional oil plays, was 
a period of strong demand for drilling, completion and maintenance services. The Company’s increased operating 
equipment base, coupled with the high demand levels and improved operating performance, resulted in Savanna 
generating significantly higher revenue, operating margins, EBITDAS, net earnings, and operating cash flows 
during that period compared to the same period in 2011.

In the second half of 2012, demand levels dropped off dramatically as customers pulled back on their second half 
projects or deferred their winter programs into Q1 2013. In the fourth quarter in Canada, customers reduced 
spending on 2012 capital programs as a result of overall economic uncertainty, lower relative oil commodity pricing 
in Canada and lower natural gas prices. Combined with the negative effects of an extended spring break-up in 
Canada, Savanna’s overall utilization rates, and as a result, operating margins and EBITDAS, decreased in the back 
half of the year relative to 2011. Despite the decreases in the latter part of the year, the increases from Q1 2012 were 
sufficient to enable Savanna to generate higher revenues, operating margins and EBITDAS overall in 2012 relative 
to 2011 and to maintain overall operating margin and EBITDAS percentages.
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Notwithstanding the higher year-over-year EBITDAS, Savanna’s net earnings decreased in 2012 compared to 2011 
as a result of higher share-based compensation expenses, higher depreciation and amortization expenses based on 
an increased capital asset cost base, asset impairment losses, higher finance expenses, and asset disposal and foreign 
exchange losses compared to gains in 2011. The share-based compensation expenses, depreciation and amortization 
expenses and asset impairment losses are all non-cash charges which, in aggregate, totaled $87 million in 2012 
versus $67 million in 2011. The asset disposal and foreign exchange losses in 2012 aggregated $0.5 million 
compared to $2.6 million in gains in 2011, reducing net earnings by $3.1 million, comparatively.

Savanna also reinstated its dividend in 2012, in the form of a $0.03 per share monthly ($0.36 annual) dividend.  
The first monthly dividend was declared in April 2012 and in total Savanna declared $23.1 million ($0.27 per share) 
of dividends in 2012. Of the dividends declared, $4.7 million was reinvested in additional common shares through 
the Company’s dividend reinvestment plan, $15.8 million was paid in cash and $2.6 million was payable at 
December 31, 2012.

In Q1 2012, a strong Canadian industry focus on developing oil and liquids-rich prospects and coring and delineation 
of the oil sands, propelled demand for Savanna’s fleet of drilling rigs in Canada. Demand decreased in all drilling 
categories post Q1 2012; however, Savanna’s long-reach horizontal drilling rigs managed to maintain utilization rates 
higher than industry averages (in the same depth categories) and day rates above those of 2011. As a result, the Canadian 
long-reach horizontal drilling fleet, which contributed 45% of Savanna’s overall operating margin in 2012 (2011 – 51%), 
was able to maintain overall operating margins and operating margin percentages despite lower revenues year-over-year.

Savanna’s fleet of shallow rigs in Canada, which benefited from very strong Q1 coring and delineation demand, 
was significantly impacted by the decrease in industry demand after Q1 2012. While the decrease in coring activity 
was anticipated, the conventional shallow drilling market reached its lowest activity levels since 1994. Outside of 
the first quarter, where utilization of the CT-1500 fleet was 54%, utilization of the shallow fleet was challenged. 
Despite these challenges, overall operating margins finished the year on par with 2011 and operating margin 
percentages were five percentage points higher in 2012.

The scale of Savanna’s Canadian service rig and rental equipment fleets increased significantly in 2011 and 2012 
both through organic growth and acquisitions. Unfortunately, in the face of a slow market in the second half of 
2012, utilization of the equipment fleet in 2012 lagged that of 2011 and resulted in lower overall operating hours 
in 2012 compared to 2011. While hourly rates for well servicing were higher throughout 2012 versus 2011, the 
utilization challenges of the much larger service rig and rental equipment fleet resulted in re-supply, repair, and 
fixed operating costs having a more pronounced effect in 2012 compared to 2011 and led to lower overall operating 
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margins and operating margin percentages. Savanna still expects a long-term increase in well servicing activity in 
North America. Savanna’s fleet is well maintained and Savanna has been upgrading and re-certifying its rigs and 
improving recruiting and training capabilities in anticipation of this expected demand increase.

In the U.S., demand for Savanna’s equipment in the areas in which it operates has remained strong and both the 
drilling and well servicing operations continued to achieve high utilization rates. In 2012, total operating margins 
for the U.S. operation increased by $19.1 million or 52% from the same period in 2011 as a result of a larger fleet 
and improved operating margin performance due primarily to overall pricing increases and the conversion of 
footage-based drilling contracts to day work terms.

Savanna’s Australian operations continued to progress in 2012 and operating margins were higher in every quarter 
of 2012 versus the comparative quarter in 2011, as additional equipment commenced operations. Overall operating 
margins for Australia increased by $6.8 million in 2012 compared to 2011 and virtually all of that increase occurred 
in the second half of 2012. The operating margin improvements were particularly evident on the drilling rigs, which 
accounted for $5.7 million of the $6.8 million overall increase. The eighth rig for Australia began operating in 
December 2012 and, with the full complement of rigs now operating, Savanna expects contributions from Australia 
to continue to increase in 2013.

FInAnCIAl HIGHlIGHtS 2011 CoMpAReD to 2010
Overall, 2011 was a period of improving oilfield service industry fundamentals and Savanna enjoyed a better rate 
of improvement than industry averages. Strong oil prices and increased activity in liquids-rich natural gas and 
unconventional oil plays created more demand for drilling, completion and maintenance services throughout North 
America than in 2010. This resulted in Savanna generating significantly higher revenue, operating margins, earnings 
and operating cash flows compared to 2010.

With the Canadian industry strongly focused on developing oil and liquids-rich prospects, and Savanna’s positioning 
within these activity areas, demand for Savanna’s primarily deep fleet of drilling rigs in Canada was particularly 
strong and led to the highest utilization rates since 2006, with day rates that continually increased throughout the 
year. These factors led to a $41 million increase in operating margins for the Canadian long-reach horizontal drilling 
fleet, which contributed 51% of Savanna’s overall operating margin in 2011.

As a result of Savanna’s continued retrofit of its hybrid drilling fleet to the TDS-3000TM platform, Savanna continued 
to increase its exposure to the deeper oil and liquids-rich markets throughout 2011. Furthermore, the number of 
operational drilling rigs was higher in 2011 compared to 2010 as a result of the conversions, and the additional 
TDS-3000TM drilling rigs contributed materially to the overall drilling segment in 2011.

In addition, two timely acquisitions occurred in late Q2 2011 and early Q3 2011 and increased Savanna’s Canadian 
service rig fleet by nearly 50%. These acquisitions contributed to an increase in operating hours and rates in the 
Company’s oilfield services division and significantly increased revenues and operating margins compared to 2010.

In the United States, Savanna continued to achieve high utilization rates for both drilling and well servicing 
operations in all areas. Some challenges were experienced on its footage contracts in the oil-dominated Permian 
basin, which negatively impacted U.S. drilling margins. Despite those challenges, both revenue and operating 
margins increased significantly from 2010.

Several operating delays, including floods, customer licensing and regulatory constraints, throughout the year had 
a negative effect on Savanna’s Australian operations in 2011. Savanna managed through the delays and mitigated 
its losses through stand-by charges and the positive operating results from the rigs that were able to work.

In May 2011, Savanna completed a $125 million seven-year note offering, solidifying Savanna’s debt structure to 
better match its capital deployment strategy.
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pRoGReSS on KeY InItIAtIVeS
Savanna’s key 2012 initiatives were described in the 2011 MD&A, which appears in the Company’s 2011 Annual 
Report. The following is an update on the progress of these initiatives to date in 2012:
• Strategies to Increase Drilling Rig Depth and Operational Capacity – converted eight shallow drilling rigs to 

TDS-3000TM drilling rigs, marking the completion of Savanna’s TDS-3000TM retrofit program; increased the depth 
capacity of four telescoping double drilling rigs and the pump capacity on several others, enhancing their long-
reach capabilities; added nine new top drives.

• Australian Operational Strategies – now have four drilling rigs and four service rigs in Australia, all of which are 
working in Q1 2013; achieved growth in ancillary trucking and rental related operations.

• North American Operational Strategies – improved year-over-year operating margin performance relative to 
2011; converted all footage-based contracts to day work contracts; eliminated three non-essential field locations; 
completed the integration of the conventional and hybrid drilling teams in Canada; grew the rental business 
organically and through a 2012 business acquisition.

• Technology and Rig Build Strategies – processes to design, retrofit, build and deliver drilling and service rigs 
more predictably and rapidly are nearing completion. In the past 18 months, the Company has completed the 
design of four new drilling rig platforms to provide the foundation for additional growth in all markets in which 
Savanna operates.

• People Strategies – training, safety and leadership initiatives progressed, with specific focus on inexperienced 
field personnel and rig crew progression training; communication of Savanna’s vision and values improved and 
is ongoing.

• Aboriginal Partnership Strategies – added two service rigs to an existing partnership; secured term loans in four 
50/50 partnerships; customer awareness initiatives are underway to expand the program operationally and 
geographically with strong indications of further expansion opportunities.

The Company’s key 2013 initiatives are described later in this MD&A under the heading “Outlook”.

Market Trends

Savanna’s business depends significantly on the level of spending by oil and gas companies for exploration, 
development, production, and abandonment activities. In addition to general economic conditions and expectations, 
sustained increases or decreases in the price of natural gas or oil materially impact such activities, and could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows (see “Risks 
and Uncertainties” in this MD&A and “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Information Form). In recent years, 
pricing for both oil and natural gas has become more regional. As a result, the physical location of Savanna’s assets 
can result in general commodity pricing trends having a greater or lesser impact on demand for the Company’s services.

Due to extreme fluctuations in the prices for both oil and natural gas, the oil and gas industry is subject to significant 
volatility. Over the last few years, natural gas prices have remained relatively low. North American storage levels 
for natural gas are still relatively high and, coupled with continued strong production from liquids-rich and 
unconventional plays, there remains uncertainty regarding the near-term pricing of this commodity, and the related 
oilfield services activity it drives.

In contrast, oil prices have remained relatively strong, generating a greater emphasis on oil-focused drilling, 
completion and maintenance activity, which has until recently more than offset the activity void from reduced 
natural gas service demand. Oil-focused activity in Canada has slowed recently as pipeline capacity issues have 
further reduced local pricing relative to world commodity prices. Still, the focus remains very much on deep 
unconventional plays, while shallow drilling remains muted. Additionally, the continuing global economic 
uncertainty may further affect commodity prices and capital market liquidity in the near-term.
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Savanna’s business depends heavily on the nature of wells drilled by its customers, as well as their geographic focus. 
Dramatic shifts in well depths or core areas can, despite the mobility of drilling and well servicing equipment, 
temporarily disrupt the demand for Savanna’s services. These shifts can occur rapidly, requiring a corresponding 
shift in Savanna’s asset or geographic focus. Savanna continuously attempts to anticipate these shifts and react to 
them. As a result of the shift by Savanna’s customers from natural gas drilling to oil and liquids-focused drilling 
over the past several quarters, as well as development of new core areas of activity, Savanna has expended 
considerable effort on repositioning its drilling and well servicing fleet into more oil-focused regions and in 
increasing the average depth capacity of its drilling fleet. This has been accomplished through both retrofit of 
shallow drilling rigs as well as building of new ultra-deep telescoping doubles. As the retrofit process is now 
complete, it is Savanna’s intention to focus on new builds for expansion going forward. The Company has invested 
significant effort into developing internal design and development capacity in anticipation of this. Additionally, 
recognizing the highly seasonal and cyclical nature of the Canadian oilfield services market, Savanna continues to 
drive toward achieving a better balance between its Canadian business and operations in geographies outside of 
Canada. While Savanna will continue to expand inside Canada, it is keenly focused on disproportionately expanding 
its U.S. and Australian operations over the next several years.

Current depressed natural gas prices in North America present two key potential challenges to Savanna’s business 
prospects in the near-term. First, low pricing in the natural gas market has resulted in a virtual cessation of new 
drilling for natural gas prospects throughout North America. While Savanna’s focus has shifted to oil and natural 
gas liquids-rich areas, any reduction in oil or liquids driven activity could result in a temporary excess supply of 
rigs and equipment pursuing these markets, increasing competitive pressures. Secondly, low natural gas pricing 
reduces the cash flow that Savanna’s customers generate to pursue other drilling and exploration programs. The 
degree of these potential challenges has been alleviated somewhat due to recent increases in natural gas pricing. 
However, this market remains highly volatile. Savanna’s current presence in oil and natural gas liquids-rich areas 
should continue to mitigate the impact of this slowdown.

Longer-term, a projected increase in the number of operating oil wells in both Canada and the U.S. should drive 
increases in the demand for well servicing. Savanna has spent several quarters both expanding and positioning its 
North American fleet in anticipation of this shift.

Business Acquisitions

On December 1, 2012, Savanna acquired substantially all of the operating assets of a private company in Alberta. 
The acquisition included 208 oilfield accommodation buildings, 20 of which were newly manufactured, and related 
support equipment. The Company expects that the addition of this equipment will enhance the marketability of its 
drilling rigs and other rental assets. The $17 million acquisition price was funded in cash. The purchase price 
allocation is as follows:

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Net assets acquired:
Property and equipment 16,867 
Intangibles assets 146 

17,013 
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Equipment Fleet and Capital Program

The following table outlines the Company’s drilling rig fleet by type of rig and operational status. As of the date of 
this MD&A, Savanna’s drilling rig fleet and its operational status remains unchanged from December 31, 2012.

At December 31 2012 2011 2010

DRILLING RIGS – OPERATIONAL 
Long-reach horizontal drilling rigs 

Heavy and ultra-heavy telescoping doubles  51  51  49 
TDS-3000 TM  15  7  2 
TDS-2200  8  8  8 
Triples  2  2  2 

 76  68  61 

Shallow drilling rigs 
North American hybrid – CT 1500  19  22  30 
International hybrid  4  2  2 
Single  1  1  1 

 24  25  33 

Total operational drilling rigs (gross)  100  93  94 
Total operational drilling rigs (net)*  96  89  90 

DRILLING RIGS – INACTIVE 
North American hybrid – CT 1500 – undergoing conversion to TDS-3000 TM –  5  2 
North American hybrid – CT 1500 – undergoing conversion to international hybrid –  2  2 
Racked – coring and pipe-arm single  1  5  5 

Total inactive drilling rigs (gross and net)  1  12  9 

TOTAL DRILLING RIGS (gross)  101  105  103 
TOTAL DRILLING RIGS (net)*  97  101  99 

*	 Eight	drilling	rigs	were	owned	in	50/50	limited	partnerships	at	December	31,	2012,	2011	and	2010.

Shallow

Long-reach

Equipment Fleet

20112010 2012

37%
63%

32%
68%

24% 76%
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To reflect their primary use and capacity, beginning in 2012, the Company designated all CT-2200 drilling rigs as 
top drive single (“TDS”) 2200 drilling rigs.

In Q4 2012, Savanna concluded its TDS-3000TM drilling rig conversion program. During the year, the Company 
completed the conversion of eight CT-1500 drilling rigs to deeper capacity TDS-3000TM rigs. Three of the conversions 
were completed in Q1 2012, another three were completed in Q3 2012, and the last two were finalized at the end of 
October 2012. Two of these TDS-3000TM drilling rigs were deployed into Texas and the rest remained in Alberta.

During 2012, the Company determined that in aggregate, the carrying amounts of its inactive drilling rigs, which 
consisted of Savanna’s coring rigs and a pipe-arm single rig, and certain other equipment were in excess of their 
recoverable amounts. Four of these rigs had not worked since 2009. As a result, an impairment loss of $5.2 million 
with respect to these drilling assets was recorded in 2012. In 2012, Savanna sold its four coring rigs and other 
redundant assets for total proceeds of $8.5 million.

The following table outlines the Company’s service rig fleet by type of rig and operational status. As of the date of 
this MD&A, Savanna’s service rig fleet and its operational status remains unchanged from December 31, 2012.

At December 31 2012 2011 2010

SERVICE RIGS – OPERATIONAL 
Singles  43  47  32 
Doubles  49  53  33 
International service rigs  4  3  2 
Flush-by units  1  1  1 

Total service rigs (gross)  97  104  68 
Total service rigs (net)*  94  102  66 

SERVICE RIGS – INACTIVE 
Training rig  1  1  – 
Racked pending future upgrades  5  –  – 

Total inactive service rigs (gross and net)  6  1  – 

TOTAL SERVICE RIGS (gross)  103  105  68 
TOTAL SERVICE RIGS (net)*  100  103  66 

*	 Six	service	rigs	were	owned	in	50/50	limited	partnerships	at	December	31,	2012.	At	December	31,	2011	and	2010,	four	service	rigs	were	owned	in	50/50	
limited	partnerships.

Savanna’s fourth service rig for Australia was commissioned in Q4 2012 and commenced operations in December 
2012. In Q1 2012, the Company sold two service rigs to an aboriginal partnership owned 50% by the Company. In 
2012, three service rigs were retired. The carrying amounts of these retired rigs and certain other equipment was 
determined to be in excess of their recoverable amounts and, as a result, an aggregate impairment loss of $1.5 
million with respect to these assets was recorded in 2012. Savanna also determined that five of its service rigs 
required upgrades in order to market them more effectively; however based on current activity levels, the decision 
was made to defer these upgrades and as a result the rigs were racked. On the sale of the two service rigs to the 50% 
owned partnerships above, non-essential field locations and other redundant assets, Savanna received proceeds of 
$5.4 million in the year.
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The following table outlines the deployment of Savanna’s operational drilling and service rig fleets by  
geographic location:

At December 31 2012 2011 2010

DRILLING RIGS – OPERATIONAL 
Canada  70  67  70 
United States  26  24  22 
Australia  4  2  2 

Total operational drilling rigs  100  93  94 

SERVICE RIGS – OPERATIONAL 
Canada  84  90  57 
United States  9  11  9 
Australia  4  3  2 

Total operational service rigs   97  104  68 

In each month of the first three months to begin 2012, a new TDS-3000TM drilling rig began working in Texas. The 
first was sent in late December 2011 and the other two arrived in February and March respectively.

In Australia, Savanna exited 2012 with a total of eight operating rigs. Two service rigs and two drilling rigs operated 
in the first half of 2012 and all were subject to a significant number of delays due to weather and customer readiness. 
In the second half of 2012, Savanna operated an average of four drilling rigs and three service rigs and the fourth 
service rig commenced operations December 2012. The start-up delays in Australia are typical for the size and scale 
of the exploration and development activities under a larger, vertically integrated project. Savanna’s intermediate 
view of the Australia opportunity for its drilling and workover services remains positive. With a growing asset base 
in the area, coupled with further development of the overall capital programs of the core operators in Australia, 
Savanna’s contribution from Australia is expected to grow consistently over the next several years.

CApItAl pRoGRAM
Savanna’s 2012 capital program, as well as the carry-over of ongoing projects initiated under the Company’s 2011 
capital program, was completed as follows:

Carry-forward
from 2011

Capital  
Plan 2012 Total Status

Retrofit of hybrid drilling rigs as TDS-3000TM drilling rigs – Canada  1  5  6  Completed 
Retrofit of hybrid drilling rigs as TDS-3000TM drilling rigs – U.S.  2  –  2  Completed 
Retrofit of hybrid drilling rigs to international specifications– Australia  2  –  2  Completed 
Construction of a new high-capacity workover/drilling rig – Australia  –  1  1  Completed 
Purchase truck mounted accelerator (TMX) units  –  2  2  Completed 
Purchase of new portable top drives – Canada and U.S.  9  –  9  Completed 
Deposits on long-lead items  Completed 
Additional support equipment for drilling, well servicing and rentals  Completed 
Maintenance capital,  rig re-certifications and upgrades  Completed 
New rental assets for greenfield expansion in Nisku, Alberta     Completed 

In 2013, Savanna is pursuing a conservative capital program in light of the completion of its key capital initiatives in 
2012, as well as the market uncertainties in North America. While activity levels to date in Q1 2013 are strong, the 
Company remains cautious about North American activity levels for the remainder of 2013. As a result, on December 
6, 2012, Savanna announced a conservative 2013 capital expenditure plan of $107 million centered on the following: 
maintenance capital, rig recertification’s, upgrades, spare equipment and drill pipe; three service rigs for the U.S.; 
expansion capital for rentals in both North America and Australia; and long-lead items for future rig new-builds.
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The ordering of long-lead items ahead of manufacture will reduce delivery times should Savanna secure any long-
term contracts to support new-build rigs. Savanna remains focused on adding ultra-deep double and triple rigs to 
its drilling fleet, and anticipates further demand for both drilling and service rigs in Australia. However, the Company 
will only pursue new-build opportunities if supported by long-term contracts.

With the exception of the long-lead items and the three service rigs for the U.S., the remaining capital program is 
scalable to market activity. With one of the most modern drilling and oilfield services fleets, industry-leading 
aboriginal relationships, and substantial growth opportunities in all of its existing domestic and international 
markets, Savanna remains focused on providing long-term, sustainable returns for all of its stakeholders.

Contract Drilling

Savanna provides contract drilling services through its long-reach horizontal telescoping double drilling rigs, newly 
designed TDS-3000TM drilling rigs, triple drilling rigs and both deep-rated and shallow proprietary hybrid drilling 
rigs and single drilling rigs, virtually all of which were designed and built by the Company in the last ten years. In 
all periods presented, the drilling division operated in Canada, the United States and Australia.

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per day) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 Change 2012 2011 Change

Revenue $120,143 $129,786 (7%) $487,197 $451,132 8%
Operating expenses $ 92,538 $ 91,307 1% $337,695 $323,049 5%
Operating margin (1) $ 27,605 $ 38,479 (28%) $149,502 $128,083 17%
Operating margin % (1) 23% 30% 31% 28%
Operating days (2)  5,227  5,569 (6%)  21,194  21,136 0%
Revenue per operating day $ 22,985 $ 23,305 (1%) $ 22,987 $ 21,344 8%
Spud to release days (2)  4,521  4,977 (9%)  18,541  18,701 (1%)
Wells drilled (2)  540  552 (2%)  2,224  2,245 (1%)
Meters drilled (2)  1,002,954  986,395 2%  3,865,547  3,633,315 6%

FouRtH QuARteR ReSultS
Savanna’s contract drilling segment achieved fewer operating days and revenue in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011. 
In addition, lower day rates and higher per day operating expenses, driven by retention costs, increased repairs and 
maintenance, and the increased impact of fixed costs based on lower days, resulted in lower operating margin 
percentages and lower overall operating margins compared to Q4 2011. In Canada, the relatively low demand levels 
realized in Q3 2012 worsened in Q4 2012, as customers continued to pull back on their second half projects and 
deferred their winter programs into Q1 2013. This resulted in a decrease in operating days from Q4 2011 and, 
although day rates were virtually unchanged from a year ago, the decreased utilization in Canada magnified the 
negative effect of crew retention costs incurred in anticipation of a busy Q1 2013. Retention costs for contract 
drilling in Canada aggregated $2.5 million in Q4 2012 compared to $1.5 million in Q4 2011. In the U.S., an increase 
in operating days based on a larger rig fleet in Q4 2012 was offset by lower per day revenue. As a result, operating 
margins remained flat compared to Q4 2011. Conversely, having all four drilling rigs operating in Australia in Q4 
2012, led to a significant increase in operating days and overall operating margins in that region compared to Q4 
2011. In fact, the $2.6 million of operating margin generated from the drilling operations in Australia in Q4 2012 
marks its highest quarterly operating margin performance since commencing operations.
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The following summarizes the operating results in the fourth quarter of 2012 and 2011 by type of rig or geographic 
area. Long-reach drilling in Canada includes the Company’s telescoping double drilling rigs, TDS-3000TM drilling 
rigs and TDS-2200 drilling rigs.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Q4 2012

Long-reach  
Drilling Canada

Shallow
Drilling Canada

Drilling U.S.  
and International Total

Revenue  61,933  4,074  54,136  120,143 
Operating margin (1)  18,738  (1,697)  10,564  27,605 
Operating margin % (1) 30% (42%) 20% 23%

Revenue excluding cost recoveries  54,640  3,830  51,224  109,694 
Operating margin (1)  18,738  (1,697)  10,564  27,605 
Operating margin % (1) 34% (44%) 21% 25%

Average number of net rigs deployed  46  20  30  96 
Utilization % (2) 50% 9% 81% 51%

(Stated in thousands of dollars)
Q4 2011

Long-reach  
Drilling Canada

Shallow
Drilling Canada

Drilling U.S.  
and International Total

Revenue 78,151  10,036  41,599  129,786 
Operating margin (1)  28,619  740  9,120  38,479 
Operating margin % (1) 37% 7% 22% 30%

Revenue excluding cost recoveries  69,867  9,348  39,290  118,505 
Operating margin (1)  28,619  740  9,120  38,479 
Operating margin % (1) 41% 8% 23% 32%

Average number of net rigs deployed  41  24  26  91 
Utilization % (2) 73% 16% 77% 56%

In the contract drilling segment, significant costs are incurred and passed through to customers with little or no 
markup; for Q4 2012 these costs aggregated $10.4 million (Q4 2011 – $11.3 million). Savanna’s accounting policy 
with respect to cost recoveries billed to customers is to include them as both revenue and operating expenses rather 
than to net them. Although Savanna believes this most appropriately reflects the substance of the underlying 
transactions, the accounting treatment of cost recoveries varies in the oilfield services industry. There is no effect 
on overall operating margins whether cost recoveries are netted or not; however, the different treatments do result 
in different operating margin percentages as the same dollar margin is factored against lower revenue when cost 
recoveries are netted. As a result, Savanna believes it is useful to provide revenue excluding cost recoveries and the 
resulting operating margin percentages for comparative purposes.

The Canadian long-reach drilling rigs realized some downward pricing pressure in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011. 
Variable costs per day were relatively unchanged from a year ago. However, the significant decrease in utilization 
resulted in fixed operating costs having a more pronounced negative effect in Q4 2012 and together with the decrease 
in per day revenue led to a 35% decrease in operating margins compared to Q4 2011. The relatively low overall 
industry demand in Canada led to the decrease in utilization in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011. However, the fourth 
quarter utilization rates for Savanna’s long-reach drilling rigs in 2012 still exceeded Canadian industry utilization 
rates of 46% in the same depth category, which illustrates the relative strong demand for Savanna’s deep rated rigs.

Savanna’s shallow fleet in Canada generated negative overall operating margins in Q4 2012 compared to the positive 
operating margin contribution made in Q4 2011. Lower demand in Canada led to a decrease in utilization relative 
to a year ago and the shallow rigs were not able to generate sufficient revenues to cover fixed operating costs in the 
fourth quarter of 2012. The low utilization also compounded the effect of crew retention costs in the quarter. To 
meet anticipated high demand for its shallow rigs in Canada in Q1 2013, the Company determined to retain a 
significant number of rig crews at a significant cost to the Company. The benefits of this decision are expected to 
be realized in Q1 2013 as Savanna believes the extra contribution from these crews in Q1 2013 will exceed the costs 
incurred in the retention program.
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Revenue for Savanna’s U.S. drilling operations was 9% higher in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011, as a result of more 
rigs and more operating days. For the first time in 2012, quarterly operating margin performance in the U.S. 
remained flat compared to the same quarter in 2011. Pricing pressure in Q4 2012, as a result of increased competition 
in the Permian basin in Texas, Savanna’s highest activity area in the U.S., resulted in a slight weakening in day 
rates. Also, the effect of converting footage-based contracts to day work terms was more muted in Q4 2012 compared 
to previous quarters in the year as a number of these contracts were converted in Q4 2011. The Q4 2012 operating 
margin improvements from the conversion of the remaining footage-based contracts in 2012 were offset by increased 
repairs and maintenance in the quarter. On a per day basis, repairs and maintenance costs were 44% higher in Q4 
2012 than the annual average, as strong utilization rates throughout 2012 resulted in a significant number of required 
repairs in the fourth quarter. The increase in repairs and maintenance costs in Q4 2012 is expected to be lower in 
future quarters and should track closer to the 2012 annual average.

In Australia, more of the fleet worked throughout Q4 2012 and both operating days and revenue nearly quadrupled 
compared to Q4 2011. As a result, Savanna’s four drilling rigs in Australia contributed $2.6 million of operating 
margin in Q4 2012 which, on a per rig basis, exceeded that of Savanna’s Canadian and U.S. divisions in the quarter.

AnnuAl ReSultS
An increase in overall revenue per day and operating margin performance led to a $21.4 million increase in contract 
drilling operating margins in 2012 compared to 2011. All of this increase was generated from operations outside of 
Canada. In Canada, most of the increases achieved in Q1 2012 were offset by the negative effects of an extended 
spring break-up, prolonged periods of wet weather in Q2 2012, and a reduction in overall industry demand in the 
second half of 2012.

The following summarizes the operating results for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 by type of rig or 
geographic area.

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
YTD 2012

Long-reach  
Drilling Canada

Shallow
Drilling Canada

Drilling U.S.  
and International Total

Revenue  246,376  39,604  201,217  487,197 
Operating margin (1)  88,704  8,762  52,036  149,502 
Operating margin % (1) 36% 22% 26% 31%

Revenue excluding cost recoveries  220,563  37,853  193,770  452,186 
Operating margin (1)  88,704  8,762  52,036  149,502 
Operating margin % (1) 40% 23% 27% 33%

Average number of net rigs deployed  42  21  30  93 
Utilization % (2) 55% 20% 79% 55%

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
YTD 2011

Long-reach  
Drilling Canada

Shallow
Drilling Canada

Drilling U.S.  
and International Total

Revenue 253,680  51,813  145,639  451,132 
Operating margin (1)  89,311  8,979  29,793  128,083 
Operating margin % (1) 35% 17% 20% 28%

Revenue excluding cost recoveries  222,896  49,189  137,403  409,488 
Operating margin (1)  89,311  8,979  29,793  128,083 
Operating margin % (1) 40% 18% 22% 31%

Average number of net rigs deployed  39  26  25  90 
Utilization % (2) 69% 20% 76% 56%

In 2012, cost recoveries aggregated $35 million compared to $41.6 million in 2011.
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Overall, 2012 operating margins for the Canadian long-reach drilling rigs remained flat compared to 2011. Operating 
margins increased significantly in the first part of the year through increased day rates and additional converted 
TDS-3000TM drilling rigs in the average deployed fleet. However, these increases were negated in the second half 
of the year as decreases in industry demand and utilization rates led to fixed operating costs having a more negative 
effect on per day operating margins. Still, Savanna’s long-reach drilling rigs in Canada were able to maintain 
operating margin percentages despite lower utilization in 2012 compared to 2011. Although lower than in 2011, 
utilization rates for Savanna’s long-reach drilling rigs in 2012 exceeded Canadian industry utilization rates (48%) 
in the same depth category, which illustrates the relative strong demand for Savanna’s deep rated rigs.

Despite a $12 million decrease in revenues for Savanna’s shallow drilling fleet, as a result of a decrease in the 
number of rigs in the fleet, operating margins were virtually unchanged in 2012 compared to 2011. In both Q1 2012 
and 2011, Savanna’s shallow fleet performed a substantial amount of coring work for oil sands customers. The 
Company’s CT-1500 hybrid drilling rigs had considerable success applying coil-based drilling to coring, and the 
performance of these rigs, coupled with the oil drilling market in the early part of 2012, led to a significant increase 
in day rates and operating margin performance for the first part of the year. Outside of the first quarter, utilization 
of the shallow fleet was challenged and not enough revenue was generated to cover fixed operating costs or crew 
retention costs for the remainder of the year. Still, operating margin percentages were five percentage points higher 
in 2012 compared to 2011, a clear indication that Savanna’s shallow drilling rigs benefited from a reduction in the 
overall fleet size, and consequently a reduction in the fleets’ fixed operating cost structure, to a level more aligned 
with base shallow drilling and coring activity in Canada.

The biggest year-over-year improvements in the contract drilling segment were from outside of Canada. Backed by 
strong contract positions and operating in high activity areas, Savanna’s drilling rigs in the U.S. achieved strong 
utilization rates in 2012. Revenue from Savanna’s U.S. drilling operation was 18% higher in 2012 compared to 2011, 
as a result of more rigs and more operating days. Compared to 2011, the average number of rigs deployed in the U.S. 
for 2012 increased by the two long-reach telescoping doubles added to the fleet in late Q3 2011, and the three additional 
TDS-3000TM drilling rigs, which commenced operations in 2012. Operating margin performance in the U.S. improved 
dramatically in 2012, as footage-based contracts were converted to day work terms. As a result, operating margins 
increased by $16.5 million, or 56%, from 2011 and operating margin percentages increased by seven percentage points.

In Australia, Savanna’s drilling division generated strong revenues from an average of three drilling rigs working 
in 2012. Weather and customer delays, particularly in Q2 2012, limited operating margin increases in the first half 
of 2012. However, as the fleet began to work more consistently in the second half of 2012, operating margin 
contributions improved significantly. Overall operating margins increased by $5.7 million compared to 2011.

Shallow Canada
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U.S. & International
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Oilfield Services

Savanna provides well servicing and rental equipment to the oil and gas industry in Canada, the United States and 
Australia. The Company operates single and double service rigs, nearly all of which are free-standing, and a wide 
array of rental equipment.

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per hour) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 Change 2012 2011 Change

Revenue $ 48,769  $ 52,244 (7%)  $184,920  $162,607 14%
Operating expenses  $ 36,389  $ 37,274 (2%)  $139,910  $114,924 22%
Operating margin (1)  $ 12,380  $ 14,970 (17%)  $ 45,010  $ 47,683 (6%)
Operating margin % (1) 25% 29% 24% 29%
Operating hours (2)  43,312  52,506 (18%)  173,190  170,936 1%
Revenue per hour  $    906  $    839 8%  $    874  $    777 12%

FouRtH QuARteR ReSultS
Savanna’s oilfield services division generated lower revenues based on a decrease in operating hours in Q4 2012 
compared to Q4 2011. In Canada, the muted demand levels encountered post Q1 2012 continued through the rest 
of 2012 and overall utilization rates for well servicing decreased by twelve percentage points in Q4 2012 compared 
to Q4 2011. In Canadian rentals, the December 1st acquisition of oilfield accommodation buildings somewhat 
mitigated the effect of lower overall demand in Q4 2012. Revenues and operating margins for well servicing in the 
U.S. were flat relative to Q4 2011. In Australia, despite an increase in revenues as a result of the increase in the 
number of service rigs and oilfield service equipment operating in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011, operating margins 
remained flat relative to Q4 2011.

The following summarizes the operating results by geographic area:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
Q4 2012 Canada

U.S. and  
International Total

Revenue  34,060  14,709  48,769 
Operating margin (1)  10,217  2,163  12,380 
Operating margin % (1) 30% 15% 25%
Average number of net rigs deployed  86  14  100 
Utilization % (2) 43% 59% 47%

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
Q4 2011 Canada

U.S. and  
International Total

Revenue 42,593  9,651  52,244 
Operating margin (1)  12,785  2,185  14,970 
Operating margin % (1) 30% 23% 29%
Average number of net rigs deployed  89  13  102 
Utilization % (2) 54% 67% 56%

The relatively low demand levels in Canada through Q4 2012 and the resulting decrease in utilization led to a 20% 
decrease in revenues despite higher hourly rates in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011. The decrease in revenue also 
resulted in fixed operating costs having a more pronounced effect in 2012 compared to 2011. However, the increased 
impact of fixed operating costs in Q4 2012 was offset by lower re-supply and repair costs compared to Q4 2011. In 
2011, Savanna acquired 33 service rigs in two separate business combinations. These rigs, when acquired, were 
fully supplied and as a result there were minimal re-supply or repair costs incurred on over a third of the fleet until 
Q4 2011, which led to higher relative costs in that quarter. As a result, operating margin percentages remained flat 
quarter-over-quarter.
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U.S. well servicing demand did not decrease and Savanna’s service rigs in the U.S. generated strong utilization rates 
throughout Q4 2012. Despite operating two fewer rigs in Q4 2012, as a result of equipment issues and a rig 
retirement, overall operating margins were virtually unchanged compared to Q4 2011. In Australia, the service rigs 
and rental equipment generated higher revenues in Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011 based on a larger equipment base 
quarter-over-quarter. However, lower than expected service rig utilization, due to customer and equipment issues, 
and resulting crew retention costs and the costs of importing and commissioning Savanna’s fourth service rig in the 
country, led to operating margins just slightly ahead of breakeven for Q4 2012, consistent with those in Q4 2011.

Included in revenue for Q4 2012, was $9.5 million from oilfield rentals (Q4 2011 – $8.2 million). Of the Q4 2012 
rental revenue, $4.1 million (Q4 2011 – $2.2 million) was generated in Australia and $0.8 million (Q4 2011 – $0.8 
million) is eliminated on overall consolidation as inter-segment revenue. Oilfield rentals revenue is excluded from 
the per hour revenue calculations above.

AnnuAl ReSultS
Overall, an increase in the number of service rigs and scale of oilfield service equipment operating in 2012 compared to 
2011, resulted in an increase in operating hours and revenue in oilfield services. However, sharply reduced demand, post 
Q1 2012, resulted in lower year-over-year utilization which negatively affected operating margins compared to 2011.

The following summarizes the operating results by geographic area:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
YTD 2012 Canada

U.S. and  
International Total

Revenue 132,383  52,537  184,920 
Operating margin (1)  34,899  10,111  45,010 
Operating margin % (1) 26% 19% 24%
Average number of net rigs deployed  86  14  100 
Utilization % (2) 43% 62% 47%

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
YTD 2011 Canada

U.S. and  
International Total

Revenue 128,686  33,921  162,607 
Operating margin (1)  39,969  7,714  47,683 
Operating margin % (1) 31% 23% 29%
Average number of net rigs deployed  73  12  85 
Utilization % (2) 52% 76% 55%
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Reduced demand led to significantly lower utilization rates and lower overall operating hours in 2012 compared to 
2011. Utilization challenges in 2012, in the face of a much larger service rig and rental equipment fleet, resulted in 
re-supply, repair, and fixed operating costs having a more pronounced effect in 2012 compared to 2011 and resulted 
in lower operating margin percentages despite an increase in revenue per hour. These costs were incurred to take 
advantage of available labour, as well as to ensure the service rig fleet was in condition to fully benefit from an 
expected long-term trend toward higher utilization of well servicing equipment in North America. The re-supply 
and repair and maintenance costs incurred in 2012 are not expected to be as high going forward.

The U.S. well servicing division benefited from increased industry activity levels, increased pricing, and an increased 
average rig fleet in 2012 compared to 2011, increasing operating margins by 41% year-over-year. In Australia, the 
service rigs and related rental equipment generated improved revenues in 2012 based on an average of three rigs 
working in that period. However, weather and customer delays in Q2 2012 and rig commissioning delays in Q4 
2012 reduced utilization of the equipment and resulted in significant crew retention costs. As a result, aggregate 
operating margins remained challenged. As the fleet has begun working more consistently, the Company expects 
operating margin contributions to increase significantly.

Included in revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012, was $33.6 million from oilfield rentals, a 13% increase 
from 2011. Of the 2012 rental revenue, $14 million (2011 – $7.4 million) was generated in Australia and $3.5 million 
(2011 – $3.7 million) is eliminated on overall consolidation as inter-segment revenue. Oilfield rentals revenue is 
excluded from the per hour revenue calculations above.

Other Financial Information

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 Change 2012 2011 Change

General and administrative expenses*  10,796  10,617 2%  44,252  40,649 9%
As a % of revenue 6.4% 5.9% 6.6% 6.7%

Share-based compensation*  1,248  1,640 (24%)  6,833  5,554 23%
Depreciation and amortization*  20,153  17,800 13%  73,481  61,386 20%
Impairment loss  1,032  – ∆  6,687  – ∆

Finance expenses  3,461  3,019 15%  12,932  10,032 29%
Other (income) expenses  209  (1,325) ∆  530  (2,582) ∆

Income tax expense  105  5,196 (98%)  13,044  15,280 (15%)
Effective income tax rate 25% 25% 25% 25%

∆	 Calculation	not	meaningful.
*	 General	and	administrative	expenses	above,	differs	from	the	amount	reported	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	net	earnings	as	it	excludes	the	attributable	

amounts	of	share-based	compensation	and	depreciation	and	amortization.	Those	attributable	amounts	have	been	included	under	the	applicable	headings	
above.	This	presentation	is	consistent	with	how	management	reviews	the	information	internally.

The overall increase in general and administrative expenses in 2012 compared to 2011 is primarily a result of 
upgrades to all of Savanna’s support functions throughout the last 12 months in-line with the growth and strategy 
of the Company. The upgrades have and will continue to contribute to the execution of the Company’s strategic 
plans and include: improving the capacity of the engineering, procurement and inventory, human resources, health 
safety and environment, finance and information technology departments.

The decrease in share-based compensation for the three months ended December 31, 2012, compared to Q4 2011, 
is a result of mark-to-market adjustments on the Company’s deferred share units. For the year ended December 31, 
2012, compared to the same period in 2011, the increase is due primarily to additional stock options granted in the 
last 18 months.
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The overall increase in depreciation and amortization for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2012, compared 
to the same periods in 2011, is primarily a result of the increase in the Company’s capital asset cost base through the 
execution of Savanna’s capital programs and an increase in the amount of assets depreciated on a straight-line basis.

Impairment losses for 2012 relate to specific asset impairments, as described under “Equipment Fleet and Capital 
Program” in this MD&A.

The increase in finance expenses for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2012, compared to the same periods 
in 2011, is a result of an increase in the Company’s average long-term debt outstanding together with an increase 
in the average interest rates on that debt.

The breakdown of other (income) expenses is as follows:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 2012 2011

Loss (gain) on disposal of assets 89  (612)  102  (1,535)
Impairment of rigs damaged by flooding in Australia  –  303  –  5,255 
Insurance proceeds on repair of rigs damaged by flooding  –  (303)  –  (5,255)
Foreign exchange losses (gains)  148  (554)  647  (955)
Other  (28)  (159)  (219)  (92)

 209  (1,325)  530  (2,582)

In 2012, the Company sold two service rigs to a partnership owned 50% by the Company, its inactive coring rigs, 
non-essential field locations and other redundant assets for total proceeds of $13.9 million. In 2011, the Company 
sold one service rig to a partnership owned 50% by the Company, a field location, its machining and pipe inspection 
facility and other redundant assets for total proceeds of $10.4 million. Foreign exchange gains and losses arise on 
the settlement of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities (gains and losses on translation of foreign 
subsidiaries are included in other comprehensive income (“OCI”)); the change year-over-year is due primarily to 
the change in the values of the U.S. dollar and Australian dollar relative to the Canadian dollar in the respective 
periods. In 2011, the Company incurred an impairment loss of $5.3 million on two service rigs in Australia that 
suffered extensive flooding damage for which Savanna was fully reimbursed through its insurance program.

The decrease in income tax expense in 2012 versus 2011 is primarily a result of the overall decrease in pre-tax 
earnings in 2012 compared to 2011. The Company’s operations are complex and computation of the provision for 
income taxes involves tax interpretations, regulations and legislation that are continually changing. There are 
matters that have not yet been confirmed by taxation authorities; however, management believes the provision for 
income taxes is adequate.

Quarterly Results

In addition to other market factors, quarterly results of Savanna are markedly affected by weather patterns throughout 
its operating areas in Canada, which still constitute the majority of Savanna’s operations. Historically, the first 
quarter of the calendar year is very active, followed by a much slower second quarter. As a result of this, the variation 
in activity levels on a quarterly basis, particularly in the first and second quarters, can be dramatic year-over-year 
independent of other demand factors. As the Company continues to expand outside of Canada, the relative impact 
of Canadian seasonality will be reduced. The following is a summary of selected financial information of the 
Company for the last eight completed quarters.
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SuMMARY oF QuARteRlY ReSultS

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Three Months Ended 
Dec. 31

2012
Sep. 30

2012
Jun. 30

2012
Mar. 31

2012
Dec. 31

2011
Sep. 30

2011
Jun. 30

2011
Mar. 31

2011

Revenue  168,242  154,300  120,884  225,895  181,480  166,127  94,544  168,586 
Operating expenses  128,110  108,445  96,132  141,396  127,792  115,298  72,346  118,808 
Operating margin (1)  40,132  45,855  24,752  84,499  53,688  50,829  22,198  49,778 
Operating margin % (1) 24% 30% 20% 37% 30% 31% 23% 30%
EBITDAS  29,336  34,853  14,390  72,407  43,071  39,387  12,704  40,682 

Per share: basic  0.34  0.41  0.17  0.85  0.51  0.47  0.16  0.51 
Per share: diluted  0.34  0.41  0.17  0.85  0.51  0.46  0.16  0.51 

Net earnings (loss)  3,129  6,915  (7,578)  35,013  16,742  14,363  (956)  15,575 
Per share: basic  0.04  0.08  (0.09)  0.41  0.20  0.17  (0.01)  0.20 
Per share: diluted  0.04  0.08  (0.09)  0.41  0.20  0.17  (0.01)  0.20 

Total assets  1,308,875  1,264,845  1,249,828  1,290,446  1,233,700  1,219,620  1,091,302  1,060,147 
Long-term debt 245,820 214,623 197,147 217,236 207,637 200,642 155,875 141,180

Revenue Operating Margin EBITDAS (1)Quarterly Financial Highlights
($ million) 
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SuMMARY oF QuARteRlY ReSultS — ContRACt DRIllInG

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per day)

Three Months Ended 
Dec. 31

2012
Sep. 30

2012
Jun. 30

2012
Mar. 31

2012
Dec. 31

2011
Sep. 30

2011
Jun. 30

2011
Mar. 31

2011

Revenue  $120,143  $110,839  $ 86,071  $170,144  $129,786  $117,120  $ 70,371  $133,855 
Operating expenses  $ 92,538  $ 75,869  $ 65,635  $103,652  $ 91,307  $ 82,632  $ 53,382  $ 95,728 
Operating margin (1)  $ 27,605  $ 34,970  $ 20,436  $ 66,492  $ 38,479  $ 34,488  $ 16,989  $ 38,127 
Operating margin % (1) 23% 32% 24% 39% 30% 29% 24% 28%
Operating days (2)  5,227  5,221  3,878  6,868  5,569  5,705  3,521  6,341 
Revenue per operating day  $ 22,985  $ 21,229  $ 22,195  $ 24,773  $ 23,305  $ 20,529  $ 19,986  $ 21,109 
Spud to release days (2)  4,521  4,522  3,363  6,136  4,977  5,034  3,122  5,568 
Wells drilled (2)  540  547  349  788  552  538  303  852 
Meters drilled (2)  1,002,954  1,031,310  693,998  1,137,286  986,395  1,015,903  608,459  1,022,558 
Utilization (2)

Canada 38% 41% 24% 71% 48% 52% 23% 62%
U.S. and international 81% 79% 75% 83% 77% 74% 83% 83%
Canadian industry average 40% 40% 21% 65% 54% 55% 23% 66%
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SuMMARY oF QuARteRlY ReSultS — oIlFIelD SeRVICeS

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per hour)

Three Months Ended 
Dec. 31

2012
Sep. 30

2012
Jun. 30

2012
Mar. 31

2012
Dec. 31

2011
Sep. 30

2011
Jun. 30

2011
Mar. 31

2011

Revenue  $ 48,769  $ 43,957  $ 35,063  $ 57,131  $ 52,244  $ 49,818  $ 24,477  $ 36,068 
Operating expenses  $ 36,389  $ 33,242  $ 30,912  $ 39,367  $ 37,274  $ 33,639  $ 19,431  $ 24,581 
Operating margin (1)  $ 12,380  $ 10,715  $  4,151  $ 17,764  $ 14,970  $ 16,179  $  5,046  $ 11,487 
Operating margin % (1) 25% 24% 12% 31% 29% 32% 21% 32%
Operating hours (2)  43,312  42,286  34,175  53,418  52,506  54,705  27,300  36,425 
Revenue per hour $    906  $    842 $    852 $    886 $    839 $    758 $    714 $    761 
Utilization (2)

Canada 43% 41% 32% 56% 54% 56% 35% 62%
U.S. and international 59% 64% 70% 69% 60% 76% 69% 66%

Financial Condition and Liquidity

The market risks outlined under “Market Trends” and under “Risks and Uncertainties” in this MD&A can 
significantly affect the financial condition and liquidity of the Company. Savanna’s ability to access its debt facilities 
is directly dependent on, among other factors, its total debt to equity ratios and trailing cash flows. Additionally, the 
ability of Savanna to raise capital through the issuance of equity could be restricted in the face of volatility in 
worldwide capital markets or in the energy related capital markets.

Savanna’s primary objective in managing capital, given the cyclical nature of the oil and gas services business, is 
to preserve the Company’s financial flexibility in order to benefit from potential opportunities as they arise and in 
turn maximize returns for Savanna shareholders. This objective is achieved by: prudently managing the capital 
generated through internal growth; optimizing the use of lower cost capital; raising share capital when required to 
fund growth initiatives; and maintaining a conservative approach to safeguarding the Company’s assets.

Although Savanna cannot anticipate all eventualities in this regard, the Company maintains what it believes to be 
a conservatively leveraged balance sheet, and makes every effort to ensure a balance in maximizing returns for its 
shareholders over both short-term and long-term activity levels in the oil and gas services business.

WoRKInG CApItAl AnD CASH pRoVIDeD BY opeRAtIonS

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 Change 2012 2011 Change

Operating cash flows (1)  23,125  44,166 (48%)  135,180  140,546 (4%)
Per diluted share  0.27  0.52 (48%)  1.58  1.70 (7%)

The Company’s operating cash flows are closely related to its operating margins and general and administrative 
expenses; consequently, the decreases in operating cash flows for the three months ended December 31, 2012, are 
directly related to the decreases in operating margins net of general and administrative expenses in the same 
respective period. Therefore, decreased demand levels and lower utilization were the primary drivers for an overall 
decrease in operating cash flows for Q4 2012 compared to Q4 2011. In addition, $6 million more in income tax 
refunds were received in Q4 2011 than in Q4 2012 and the Company incurred foreign exchange losses in Q4 2012 
versus gains in Q4 2011.
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For the year ended December 31, 2012, there is also a direct correlation between operating cash flows, operating 
margins and general and administrative expenses; however operating cash flows were also affected by cash taxes 
and interest. The Company’s increased operating equipment base and improved operating margin performance in 
the first part of 2012 resulted in higher operating margins net of general and administrative expenses in 2012 
compared to 2011. However, the amount of interest paid in 2012 was $3.8 million higher than in the in 2011 based 
on higher average debt levels year-over-year. Additionally, in 2012, the Company paid $3 million more in income 
taxes than it received in tax refunds, compared to 2011 when Savanna received $6.9 million more in tax refunds 
than it paid. The Company also incurred foreign exchange losses in 2012 versus gains in 2011, which amounts to 
a difference of $1.6 million on a cash basis.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

As at December 31 2012 2011 Change

Working capital held outside of partnerships  83,334  94,861  (11,527)
Working capital held in partnerships*  6,020  4,726  1,294 

Working capital (1)  89,354  99,587  (10,233)

•	 Working	capital	held	in	limited	partnerships	owned	50%	by	the	Company.	The	amount	presented	is	the	Company’s	proportionate	share.

The decrease in working capital at December 31, 2012, compared to December 31, 2011, is primarily a result of a 
decrease in accounts receivable in line with activity decreases in the third and fourth quarters of 2012 relative to the 
same periods in 2011. Savanna’s net debt(1) position at December 31, 2012, was $156 million (2011 – $108 million).

InVeStInG ACtIVItIeS

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 Change 2012 2011 Change

Purchase of property and equipment  (27,172)  (42,449) (36%)  (167,320)  (179,718) (7%)
Cash paid on acquisitions, net of cash  

or bank indebtedness acquired  (17,013)  – ∆  (17,013)  (20,355) (16%)
Proceeds on disposal of assets  175  1,309 (87%)  13,886  10,403 33%

∆	 Calculation	not	meaningful.

The following reconciles the amounts reported as “acquisition of capital assets” under “Financial Highlights” in 
this MD&A and the amounts above:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 Change 2012 2011 Change

Purchase of property and equipment  (27,172)  (42,449) (36%)  (167,320)  (179,718) (7%)
Property, equipment and intangible assets 

acquired through business acquisitions  (17,013)  – ∆  (17,013)  (80,753) (79%)
Non-cash property and equipment additions  (1,208)  – ∆  (1,208)  – ∆

 (45,393)  (42,449) 7%  (185,541)  (260,471) (29%)

∆	 Calculation	not	meaningful.

The property and equipment purchases for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2012, are primarily associated 
with expenditures under the Company’s capital program as described under “Equipment Fleet and Capital Program” 
in this MD&A. The assets acquired through business acquisitions in 2012 are as described under “Business 
Acquisitions” in this MD&A. In 2011, Savanna acquired 33 service rigs through two separate business acquisitions. 
The proceeds on disposal of assets are as described under “Other Financial Information” in this MD&A.
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FInAnCInG ACtIVItIeS

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended 

December 31 2012 2011 Change 2012 2011 Change

Shares issued on exercise of options  631  516 22%  2,518  1,449 74%
Issuance of long-term debt  30,000  16,745 79%  68,521  213,680 (68%)
Repayment of long-term debt  (347)  (8,854) (96%)  (30,140)  (128,624) (77%)
Dividends paid in cash  (5,707)  – ∆  (15,792)  – ∆

∆	 Calculation	not	meaningful.

At the date of this MD&A, the number of common shares outstanding was 86.2 million and the number of stock 
options outstanding was 5.9 million, the proceeds from which, if exercised, would be $42.9 million.

Savanna had total long-term debt outstanding of $245.8 million at December 31, 2012, compared to  
$207.6 million outstanding at December 31, 2011. The Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants 
at December 31, 2012.

In May 2012, Savanna renewed its revolving credit facility, increasing the total amount available from $135 million 
to $200 million, and extending the term of the loan by one year so all drawn amounts are not due until May 2016. 
The increase in the amount available under the revolving credit facility, together with Savanna’s current financial 
position, provides the Company with the financial flexibility to execute its strategic plans.

At December 31, 2012, the Company’s Canadian operating facility was undrawn; at the date of this MD&A $3.5 
million was drawn on the operating facility. At the date of this MD&A, $139.6 million was drawn on the Company’s 
revolving credit facility, compared to $114.9 million at December 31, 2012.

In March 2012, Savanna’s Board of Directors approved a $0.03 per share monthly dividend, which equates to an 
annual dividend of $0.36 per common share. During 2012 Savanna declared dividends totaling $23.1 million or 
$0.27 per share. Of the dividends declared, $4.7 million was reinvested in additional common shares through the 
Company’s dividend reinvestment plan, $15.8 million was paid in cash and $2.6 million was payable at December 
31, 2012. Of the dividends payable 31% were settled in shares subsequent to the end of the year, through the 
dividend reinvestment plan.

ContRACtuAl oBlIGAtIonS
In the normal course of business, the Company incurs contractual obligations, primarily related to short-term and 
long-term indebtedness and operating leases. Capital commitments relating to equipment purchases, asset construction, 
maintenance capital, and rig re-certifications are estimated based on committed capital budgets. Actual expenditures 
are recorded as capital asset additions at the time of payment and could differ from these estimates. The expected 
maturities of the Company’s contractual and constructive obligations, including interest, are as follows:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
For the twelve month period ending

Dec. 31 
2013

Dec. 31 
2014

Dec. 31 
2015

Dec. 31 
2016

Dec. 31 
2017 Total

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  74,753  –    –    –    –    74,753 
Income taxes payable  81  –    –    –    –    81 
Operating leases  3,945  3,558  2,867  2,495  2,436  15,301 
Capital commitments  109,249  –    –    –    –    109,249 
Long-term debt*  14,732  14,315  14,194  127,668  9,022  179,931 

 202,760  17,873  17,061  130,163  11,458  379,315 

•	 Interest	payments	required	on	the	revolving	credit	facility	are	estimated	based	on	an	assumed	static	rate	of	interest.
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For the remainder of 2013 and the foreseeable future, the Company expects cash flow from operations, working 
capital and its various sources of financing to be sufficient to meet its debt repayments and future obligations, and 
to fund anticipated capital expenditures and dividends.

ContInGenCIeS
The Company was subject to legal claims at December 31, 2012. Although the outcome of these matters is not 
determinable at this time, the Company believes the claims will not have any material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial position or operating results.

Outlook

In Canada, in the second half of 2012 demand for Savanna’s services was significantly lower than previously 
expected. Decreases in commodity pricing and a tightening of capital markets led to reduced spending by Savanna’s 
customers. In some cases projects were deferred until Q1 2013 or cancelled outright. Activity levels in Q1 2013 for 
Savanna in all of its operating areas are tracking utilization levels for 2012. In Canada, day rates for drilling are 
generally lower than 2012, reflecting the impact of slow activity in Q3 and Q4 2012. Oilfield services activity in 
Canada was slow to ramp up in Q1 2013, but has been tracking 2012 levels since. The uncertain duration of Q1 
activity in Canada as a result of the timing of spring break-up, will ultimately dictate Q1 2013 activity levels. 
Beyond Q1 2013, the Company is cautious on the outlook for the remainder of the year. The CAODC is forecasting 
2013 activity levels to be slightly lower than 2012. Savanna is still substantially dependent on activity levels in 
Canada to drive overall results. However, with the completion of the TDS-3000TM retrofit program and the addition 
of nine top drives in 2012, Savanna believes it now has a more marketable drilling rig fleet than previously.

Savanna’s well servicing and rental operations in Canada experienced lower than expected utilization and higher 
labour, repairs and maintenance, and support costs through most of 2012. The higher costs are reflective of a much 
larger equipment fleet, low utilization arising from wet field conditions in Q2 and a curtailment in demand in the 
second half of 2012. Savanna continues to support its firm belief that North American well servicing is in the early 
stages of a long-term upturn. While negatively impacting the short-term results somewhat, these initiatives will 
much better position Savanna’s well servicing group to take advantage of this anticipated activity increase.

In the U.S., activity levels to date have been consistent with Q1 2012 for both drilling and oilfield services. Savanna 
has most of its drilling rigs under contract and while these contracts will expire over the next 18 months, they should 
mitigate any further drilling market deterioration. Additionally, Savanna’s U.S. drilling and well servicing fleets are 
positioned in markets where activity is expected to remain relatively stronger and Savanna believes it has strong 
operating positions in those markets.

Finally, in Australia, despite some weather delays caused by cyclone activity, drilling utilization is up dramatically 
over the levels achieved in Q1 2012. Oilfield services activity in Australia is also sharply improved in Q1 2013 
relative to Q1 2012; however the equipment is not yet running on a full 24 hour basis as originally anticipated. 
Savanna has now established sufficient scale in Australia to take advantage of the expected sharp increase of activity 
levels in that country. With eight rigs operating in Australia, seven of which are under long-term contract, Savanna 
is now positioned to generate improved returns from this division. Savanna remains very optimistic on the future 
prospects of Australia. With looming liquefied natural gas deliveries for 2014 in sight, activity levels continue to 
increase in the region overall and support for a further ramp-up is also in place.

Savanna has executed its three-pronged strategy of shallow drilling rig conversion to a deeper platform, Australia 
expansion, and expansion of its oilfield services equipment base over the past few years under frequently challenging 
economic and oilfield services market conditions. While controlling field operating costs and managing repairs and 
maintenance, the focus has been squarely on execution of that three-pronged strategy. Savanna management has 
now turned its attention to right-sizing Savanna’s operating and general and administrative costs to better align with 
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anticipated volatility and base levels of activity. It is anticipated that cost management will improve in forward 
quarters relative to 2012 based upon the completion of the core expansion strategies noted above, and the more 
discrete capital additions going forward. Despite uncertain North American base demand levels, Savanna is focused 
on reducing operating, repairs and maintenance and mobilization costs, with a view to maximizing returns from the 
restructured asset base.

The oilfield service market faces a high degree of uncertainty in the near-term. Commodity pricing, particularly 
heavy oil, and tight credit markets in North America are impacting customer demand for services, and this volatility 
has created significant uncertainty regarding activity levels in the second half of 2013. In Australia, long-term 
prospects appear strong, however activity swings arising from weather and development have historically impacted 
short-term utilization and initial start-up costs have impacted cash flows. Despite these factors, Savanna remains 
confident in the long-term prospects for every region in which the Company operates and in Savanna’s ability to 
deliver the safest, most effective drilling, completion and workover services possible to its customers.

Savanna’s key 2013 initiatives are as follows:

opeRAtIonAl StRAteGIeS
• Continue to improve safety performance relative to 2012
• Execute on plans to increase rates and lower operating expenses through improved safety, sales and marketing, 

and operational programs to improve operating margin performance
• Increase long-term contract position in Canada for existing fleet, as well as any new-build opportunities
• Develop plan to maximize full-year profitability of the shallow drilling rig fleet recognizing the highly seasonal 

demand for the equipment
• Establish corporate standards for processes and functions to ensure consistency and avoid duplication, driving 

general and administrative expense reductions

teCHnoloGY AnD RIG BuIlD StRAteGIeS
• Build three additional service rigs for the U.S.
• Add drilling and service rigs in Australia (if supported by long-term contracts)
• Add ultra-deep double and triple drilling rigs (if supported by long-term contracts)
• Initiate development of a Nisku, Alberta facility capable of handling the combined demands of maintaining 

Savanna’s larger fleet, as well as final assembly and commissioning of new rigs

people StRAteGIeS
• Continue to communicate Savanna’s vision and values inside and outside of the organization
• Expand current training and safety initiatives
• Capitalize on recent investments in systems infrastructure to support efficient workforce management
• Continue leadership development in all areas of the Company

ABoRIGInAl pARtneRSHIp StRAteGIeS
• Increase customer awareness of Savanna’s 50/50 partnerships with Aboriginal communities
• Expand the program operationally and geographically by fully exploring all expansion opportunities

Savanna believes it has the high-quality people, equipment, leading-edge technology and Aboriginal partnerships  
to carry out its strategies, and to continue on its growth and expansion path despite inevitable fluctuations in  
industry activity.
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Related Party Transactions

During the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2012:

Lease revenue, management fees and other fees in the amount of $0.4 million (2011 – $0.5 million), net of inter-
company eliminations, were earned from partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company in the quarter bringing 
the total earned for the year ended December 31, 2012, to $1.6 million (2011 – $1.9 million). Lease amounts have 
been recorded as revenue and management and other fees have been recorded as a reduction of either operating 
expenses or general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of net earnings.

Savanna incurred lease fees in the amount of $0.3 million (2011 – $0.4 million), net of inter-company eliminations, 
from partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company in the quarter bringing the total earned for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, to $1.1 million (2011 – $1.6 million). Lease fees have been recorded as operating expenses in 
the consolidated statement of net earnings (loss).

Revenue in the amount of $1.5 million (2011 – $0.4 million) was earned from customers that have common directors 
of the Company in the quarter bringing the total earned for the year ended December 31, 2012, to $4.8 million  
(2011 – $5.0 million).

Savanna sold two service rigs to a partnership owned 50% by the Company for net proceeds of $2.8 million in Q1 2012.

Savanna received $0.02 million (2011 – $0.06 million) in interest and $0.12 million (2011 – $0.17 million) was 
applied to the principal owing on notes receivable from partnerships that are owned 50% by the Company in the 
quarter, bringing the total earned for the year ended December 31, 2012, to $0.17 million (2011 – $0.11 million) 
and $1.69 million (2011 – $0.37 million) respectively.

The related party transactions above were in the normal course of operations and were measured at fair value, which 
are the amounts of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties and which, in the opinion of 
management, are considered similar to those negotiable with third parties.

Accounting Policies

Savanna’s significant accounting policies are set out in Note 3 of the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2012. There were no significant changes to those policies in 2012.

Critical Accounting Estimates

This MD&A is based on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements requires that certain estimates and judgements be made with respect to the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. These estimates are based on historical 
experience and management’s judgement. Anticipating future events involves uncertainty and consequently the 
estimates used by management in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements may change as future 
events unfold, additional experience is acquired or the Company’s operating environment changes. Management 
considers the following to be the most significant of these estimates and judgements:
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DepReCIAtIon AnD AMoRtIZAtIon
Depreciation of property, equipment and intangible assets is carried out on the basis of the estimated useful lives 
of the related assets. Equipment under construction is not depreciated until it is available for use. Included in 
property and equipment is equipment acquired under finance leases. All equipment is depreciated based on the 
straight-line method, utilizing either years, operating days in the case of drilling equipment, or operating hours in 
the case of well servicing equipment. All equipment is depreciated net of expected residual values of 0% – 20%.

Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated useful lives of property and equipment and the appropriate depreciation 
methodology requires judgement and is based on currently available information, including periodic depreciation 
studies conducted by the Company. Additionally, the Company canvasses its competitors to assess whether the 
methodologies and rates utilized are consistent with the remainder of the sector in which Savanna operates. Changes 
in circumstances, such as technological advances, changes to the Company’s business strategy, changes in the 
Company’s capital strategy or changes in regulations may result in the actual useful lives differing from the 
Company’s estimates.

A change in the remaining useful life of a group of assets, or their expected residual value, will affect the depreciation 
rate used to amortize the group of assets and thus affect depreciation expense as reported in the Company’s results 
of operations. These changes are reported prospectively when they occur.

IMpAIRMent oF non-FInAnCIAl ASSetS
The values of property, equipment, intangible assets and goodwill are reviewed annually, or more frequently, if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where 
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. The determination of CGUs and the 
allocation of assets thereto are based on management’s judgement.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted. As a result, any impairment losses are a result of management’s best estimates of 
expected revenues, expenses and cash flows at a specific point in time. These estimates are subject to measurement 
uncertainty as they are dependent on factors outside of management’s control.

In addition, by their nature, impairment tests involve a significant degree of judgement as expectations concerning 
future cash flows and the selection of appropriate market inputs are subject to considerable risks and uncertainties.

SHARe-BASeD pAYMentS
Compensation expense associated with stock options and performance share entitlements (“PSEs”) granted is based 
on various assumptions, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, to produce an estimate of fair value. This 
estimate may vary due to changes in the variables used in the model including interest rates, expected life, expected 
volatility, expected forfeitures and share prices. Estimating expected life and forfeitures requires judgement.

Compensation expense is also provided for deferred share units (“DSUs”) and performance share units (“PSUs”). 
The number of DSUs and PSUs expected to vest are measured at fair value at each reporting period on a mark-to-
market basis; any changes in their fair values are recognized immediately in earnings. An estimate of the number of 
DSUs expected to vest based on certain vesting criteria and an estimate of the number of PSUs expected to vest based 
on certain performance and other vesting criteria is made each reporting period. Estimating vesting criteria and 
forfeitures involves judgement. The number of DSUs and PSUs that actually vest could differ from those estimates 
and any changes are recognized prospectively when they occur as an increase or decrease in compensation expense.
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pRoVISIon FoR DouBtFul ACCountS AnD noteS ReCeIVABle
The allowance for doubtful accounts and past due receivables are reviewed by management on a monthly basis. 
Accounts receivable are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when objective 
evidence is received that a customer will default. The Company takes into consideration the customer’s payment 
history, their credit worthiness and the current economic environment in which the customer operates to assess 
impairment. The Company’s historical bad debt expenses have not been significant and are usually limited to 
specific customer circumstances. However, given the cyclical nature of the oil and natural gas industry along with 
the current economic operating environment, a customer’s ability to fulfil its payment obligations can change 
suddenly and without notice.

InCoMe tAXeS
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability 
and its tax base. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying amount 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. The Company’s 
operations are complex and computation of the provision for income taxes involves a significant degree of judgement 
regarding tax interpretations, regulations and legislation that are continually changing. There are matters that have 
not yet been confirmed by taxation authorities; however, management believes the provision for income taxes is 
adequate. Any changes in the estimated amounts are recognized prospectively in the statement of net earnings.

FAIR VAlue oF FInAnCIAl InStRuMentS
The Company records its financial instruments at fair value on inception with changes in fair value being recorded 
when required by the Company’s classification of such instruments. The calculation of fair value of the Company’s 
financial instruments requires judgement around expected outcomes and is based on many variables including but 
not limited to credit spreads and interest rate spreads. These calculations are complex and require significant 
judgement around the selection of market inputs that are subject to factors outside of management’s control.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The following are IFRS changes that have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, which 
may affect the Company, but are not yet effective:

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009 and is the first step to replace current IAS 39, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a 
financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach 
in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and 
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment 
method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. The Company is continuing to assess the effect of IFRS 9 on its financial 
results and financial position.

• IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of 
consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities and outlines specific criteria 
to use in determining whether control exists. IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, and is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013.
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Savanna has assessed IFRS 10 and the Company has determined that based on the criteria outlined in the standard, 
it has control of the limited partnerships owned 50% by the Company for financial reporting purposes. The adoption 
of IFRS 10 on January 1, 2013 will result in a change in how Savanna accounts for these limited partnerships from 
proportionate consolidation to full consolidation with the Aboriginal partners’ 50% share in the equity and net 
earnings of the partnerships reported as non-controlling interests. The change will affect each of the line items on 
the consolidated statements of net earnings and on the balance sheets (except for shareholders’ equity) by the 
Aboriginal partners’ 50% share in these amounts and add a non-controlling interest component to shareholders’ 
equity. The resulting net earnings will be split between that attributed to non-controlling interests and that attributed 
to the shareholders whereby the net earnings attributed to the shareholders will be virtually the same as that under 
proportionate consolidation.

The adoption of IFRS 10 will also change the disclosure throughout the MD&A, with all equipment fleet and financial 
results reported on a gross basis versus the current net basis. Full disclosure of the amounts of non-controlling interest 
included by financial statement line item and by segment will also be provided for comparability purposes. For 2012, 
the following amounts, by segment, would be added to figures previously disclosed in this MD&A:

ContRACt DRIllInG
For contract drilling, all of the rigs owned in 50/50 limited partnerships are telescoping double drilling rigs and as 
a result the amounts below will only affect the reporting of long-reach drilling in Canada.

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue by day) 
Three months ended

Dec. 31 
2012

Sep. 30 
2012

Jun. 30 
2012

Mar. 31 
2012

Total  
2012

Revenue  $ 3,543  $ 3,767  $ 1,711  $ 6,812  $15,833 
Operating expenses  $ 2,193  $ 2,224  $   948  $ 3,993  $ 9,358 
Operating margin (1)  $ 1,350  $ 1,543  $   763  $ 2,819  $ 6,475 
Operating margin % (1) 38% 41% 45% 41% 41%
Operating days (2)  126  144  62  252  584 
Revenue per operating day  $28,119  $26,160  $27,597  $27,032  $27,111 
Spud to release days (2)  110  128  54  229  521 
Wells drilled (2)  5  8  3  11  27 
Meters drilled (2)  17,343  23,204  12,107  38,079  90,733 
Average number of net rigs deployed  4  4  4  4  4 

oIlFIelD SeRVICeS
For oilfield services, all of the service rigs owned in 50/50 limited partnerships are in Canada and as a result the 
amounts below will only affect the reporting of well servicing in Canada.

(Stated in thousands of dollars, except revenue per hour) 
Three months ended

Dec. 31 
2012

Sep. 30 
2012

Jun. 30 
2012

Mar. 31 
2012

Total  
2012

Revenue $ 1,069  $   967  $   752  $ 1,263  $ 4,051 
Operating expenses  $   705  $   645  $   625   $   965  $ 2,940 
Operating margin (1)  $   364  $   322  $   127  $   298  $ 1,111 
Operating margin % (1) 34% 33% 17% 24% 27%
Operating hours (2)  1,409  1,313  1,053  1,677  5,452 
Revenue per hour  $   759  $   736  $   714  $   753  $   743 
Average number of net rigs deployed 3 3 3 3 3
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• IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement. IFRS 
11 supersedes current IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary 
Contributions by Venturers, and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Based on 
the conclusions reached in the assessment of IFRS 10, the adoption of IFRS 11 is not expected to have an effect 
on the Company’s financial results or financial position.

• IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint 
arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013. Based on the conclusions reached in the assessment of IFRS 10, the adoption of IFRS 
12 is not expected to have an effect on the Company’s financial statement disclosures.

• IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements, defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS framework for measuring fair 
value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit 
fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less 
costs to sell, based on fair value or disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances. 
IFRS 13 is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. 
The Company does not expect the adoption of IFRS 13 to have a material effect on its financial results and 
financial position.

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, was amended in June 2011 and will require items of OCI to be 
grouped into those that will and will not subsequently be reclassified to net earnings. The amendment to IAS 1 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The Company has assessed the changes to IAS 
1 and does not expect a significant change in its financial statement presentation as all of the items of OCI for 
Savanna will in the future be reclassified to net earnings.

• IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, was amended in 2011 and prescribes the accounting for 
investments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting 
for investments in associates and joint ventures. IAS 28 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013. Based on the conclusions reached in the assessment of IFRS 10, the adoption of IAS 28 is not 
expected to have an effect on the Company’s financial results or financial position.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company’s primary activity is the provision of contract drilling and oilfield services to the oil and gas industry 
in Canada, the United States and Australia. The demand, price and terms of these services are dependent on the 
level of activity in this industry, which in turn depends on several factors, including, but not limited to:

• Crude oil, natural gas and other commodity prices, markets and storage levels;
• Expected rates of production and production declines;
• Access to land and the discovery of new oil and natural gas reserves;
• Availability of capital and financing;
• Exploration and production costs;
• Pipeline capacity and availability;
• Manufacturing capacity and availability of supplies for rig construction; and
• Government imposed regulations, royalties and taxes.

The following provides a further description of risks associated with the Company’s business and the contract 
drilling and oilfield services business in general. This list should not be taken as an exhaustive list, nor should it be 
taken as a complete summary or description of all the risks associated with the Company’s business.
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VolAtIlItY oF InDuStRY ConDItIonS
The demand, pricing and terms for oilfield services largely depend upon the level of industry activity for natural gas 
and oil exploration and development. Industry conditions are influenced by numerous factors over which the Company 
has no control, including: the level of oil and gas prices; expectations about future oil and gas prices; the cost of 
exploring for, producing and delivering oil and gas; the expected rates of declining current production; the discovery 
rates of new oil and gas reserves; available pipeline transportation capacity; development of liquefied natural gas; 
weather conditions; macroeconomic and geopolitical factors, military conflict; sovereign debt crises; regulatory and 
other economic conditions; and the ability of oil and gas companies to raise equity capital or debt financing.

The level of activity in the oil and gas exploration and production industry is volatile. No assurance can be given 
that expected trends in oil and gas production activities will continue or that demand for oilfield services will reflect 
the level of activity in the industry. Any prolonged substantial reduction in oil and natural gas prices would likely 
affect oil and gas production levels and therefore affect the demand for drilling and well servicing services to oil 
and gas customers. A material decline in oil or gas prices or industry activity could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Any addition to or elimination 
or curtailment of government incentives could have a significant impact on the oilfield services industry.

WoRKFoRCe AVAIlABIlItY
The Company’s ability to provide reliable and quality services is dependent on its ability to hire and retain a 
dedicated and quality pool of employees. The combination of the technical skills required to work in the oilfield 
services industry, the physically demanding nature of the work and the volatility inherent in the oil and gas sector, 
may inhibit the Company’s ability to employ and retain qualified personnel. Furthermore, in periods of higher 
activity it may become more difficult to find and retain qualified employees, which could limit growth, increase 
operating costs or have other adverse effects on the Company’s operations. The Company strives to retain employees 
by providing a safe working environment, competitive wages and benefits, employee savings plans and an 
atmosphere in which all employees are treated equally regarding opportunities for advancement. The Aboriginal 
partnerships that the Company has formed have enhanced access to a large, capable workforce of Aboriginal 
employees. The Company also operates drilling and service rig training programs designed to provide inexperienced 
individuals with the skills required for entry into the oilfield services industry.

SAFetY peRFoRMAnCe
Standards for the prevention of incidents in the oil and gas industry are governed by service company safety policies 
and procedures, accepted industry safety practices, customer specific safety requirements and health and safety 
legislation. Many customers consider safety performance a key factor in selecting oilfield service providers. 
Deterioration of Savanna’s safety performance could result in a decline in the demand for Savanna’s services and could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

CoMpetItIon
The oilfield services industry is highly competitive and the Company competes with a substantial number of 
companies that have greater technical and financial resources. The Company’s ability to generate revenue and 
earnings depends primarily upon its ability to win bids in competitive bidding processes and to perform awarded 
projects within estimated times and costs. There can be no assurance that such competitors will not substantially 
increase the resources devoted to the development and marketing of products and services that compete with those 
of the Company or that new competitors will not enter the various markets in which the Company is active. In 
certain aspects of its business, the Company also competes with a number of small and medium-sized companies, 
which, like the Company, have certain competitive advantages such as low overhead costs and specialized regional 
strengths. Reduced levels of activity in the oil and natural gas industry can intensify competition and result in lower 
revenue to the Company. Variations in the exploration and development budgets of oil and natural gas companies 
which are directly affected by fluctuations in energy prices, the cyclical nature and competitiveness of the oil and 
natural gas industry and governmental regulation, will have an effect upon the Company’s ability to generate 
revenue and earnings.
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SeASonAlItY
In Canada, the level of activity in the oilfield services industry is influenced by seasonal weather patterns. The spring 
thaw makes the ground unstable and less capable of supporting heavy weights. Consequently, municipalities and 
transportation departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of heavy equipment, thereby reducing 
drilling and well servicing activity levels. In addition, during excessively rainy periods, equipment moves may be 
delayed, thereby adversely affecting revenues.

There is greater demand for oilfield services provided by the Company in the winter season when the occurrence 
of freezing permits the movement and operation of heavy equipment. Activities tend to increase in the fall and peak 
in the winter months of November through March. However, if an unseasonably warm winter prevents sufficient 
freezing, the Company may not be able to access well sites and its operating results and financial condition may 
therefore be adversely affected. Volatility in the weather and temperature can therefore create unpredictability in 
activity and utilization rates, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

opeRAtInG RISK AnD InSuRAnCe
Savanna’s operations are subject to all the risks and hazards typically associated with drilling and well servicing 
operations, including but not limited to: equipment defects; malfunction; failures; blowouts; cratering; loss of well 
control; fire, explosions; other environmental hazards; extreme weather conditions; or other acts of nature each of which 
could result in work stoppages, personal injury, loss of life or damage to or destruction of equipment and facilities.

These risks and hazards could expose the Company to substantial liability for personal injury, loss of life, business 
interruption, property damage or destruction, pollution and other environmental damages. Although the Company 
has obtained insurance against certain of the risks to which it is exposed, such insurance is subject to coverage limits 
and no assurance can be given that such insurance will be adequate to cover the Company’s liabilities or will be 
generally available in the future or, if available, that premiums will be commercially reasonable. If the Company 
were to incur substantial liability and such damages were not covered by insurance; or were in excess of policy 
limits; or a customer or insurer failed to meet its indemnification obligations; or if the Company were to incur such 
liability at a time when it is not able to obtain liability insurance, resulting losses could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

RelIAnCe on KeY peRSonnel
The success of the Company is dependent upon its key personnel. Any loss of the services of such persons could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
The Company does not have any key person insurance in effect. The ability of the Company to expand its services 
is dependent upon its ability to attract additional qualified employees. The ability to secure the services of additional 
personnel is constrained in times of strong industry activity.

DepenDenCe on CuStoMeRS
Savanna has a broad customer base and does not depend significantly on any one customer or group of customers. 
The single largest customer accounted for 8% of revenue in 2012. However, in certain geographical operating areas, 
the Company may depend on a smaller number of customers, the loss of which could have a material adverse effect 
on Savanna’s operations in those operating areas and may result in significant equipment relocation costs.

enVIRonMentAl lIABIlItY
The Company is subject to the operating risks inherent in the industry, including environmental damage. The Company 
has established programs to address compliance with current environmental standards and monitors its practices 
concerning the handling of environmentally hazardous materials. However, there can be no assurance that the Company’s 
procedures will prevent environmental damage occurring from spills of materials handled by the Company or that such 
damage has not already occurred. On occasion, substantial liabilities to third parties may be incurred. The Company may 
have the benefit of insurance maintained by it or the operator; however the Company may become liable for damages 
against which it cannot adequately insure or against which it may elect not to insure because of high costs or other reasons.
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In addition, trends in environmental regulation to increase restrictions and limitations on activities that may impact the 
environment, including the generation and disposal of wastes, the use and handling of chemical substances and laws, 
regulations or treaties concerning climate change, greenhouse gas emissions or other environmental matters could have 
a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

FoReIGn opeRAtIonS
Some of the Company’s current operations and related assets are located in the United States and Australia. In 
addition, the Company’s growth plans may contemplate establishing operations in additional foreign countries, 
including countries where the political and economic systems may be less stable than those in North America and 
Australia. Risks of foreign operations include, but are not necessarily limited to, changes of laws affecting foreign 
ownership, government participation, taxation, royalties, duties, rates of exchange, inflation, repatriation of earnings, 
social unrest or civil war, acts of terrorism, extortion or armed conflict and uncertain political and economic 
conditions resulting in unfavourable government actions such as unfavourable legislation or regulation. While the 
impact of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, if any of the risks materialize, they could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

VulneRABIlItY to MARKet CHAnGeS
Fixed costs, including costs associated with operating expenses, leases, labour costs and depreciation will account 
for a significant portion of the Company’s costs and expenses. As a result, changes in market conditions could reduce 
demand for the Company’s equipment, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

potentIAl ReplACeMent oR ReDuCeD uSe oF pRoDuCtS AnD SeRVICeS
Certain of the Company’s equipment may become obsolete or experience a decrease in demand through the 
introduction of competing products or new technologies that are lower in cost; exhibit enhanced performance 
characteristics; or are determined by the market to be more preferable for environmental or other reasons. These 
changes could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows. Although the Company makes reasonable effort to keep current with the changing market for oil 
and gas services and technological and regulatory changes, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able 
to identify all changes to competing products of technology.

teCHnoloGY RISKS
Exploration and development of conventional and unconventional oil and natural gas reserves requires high 
performance drilling rigs. The ability of the Company to meet customer demands in respect of performance and 
cost will depend upon continuous improvements in operating equipment. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be successful in its efforts in this regard or that it will have the resources available to meet this 
continuing demand. Failure by the Company to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. No assurances can be given that competitors will 
not achieve technological advantages over the Company. The Company relies on proprietary technology in respect 
of aspects of its oilfield services, particularly coiled tubing drilling. The Company has been granted patent protection 
in Canada and in the United States in respect of certain of such technology. No assurances can be given that the 
proprietary nature of the technology can be adequately protected.

DepenDenCe on SupplIeRS
Failure of suppliers to deliver equipment in a timely and efficient manner could be detrimental to the Company’s 
ability to keep customers and to grow. In addition, certain equipment is manufactured specifically for the Company 
and the Company is dependent upon the continued availability of the manufacturer and the maintenance of the 
quality of manufacture. No assurances can be given that the Company will be successful in maintaining its required 
supply of equipment.
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AlteRnAtIVeS to AnD CHAnGInG DeMAnD FoR petRoleuM pRoDuCtS
Fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements, increasing consumer demand for alternatives to oil and 
gas, and technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation devices could reduce the demand for crude 
oil and other liquid hydrocarbons. The Company cannot predict the impact of changing demand for oil and gas 
products, and any major changes could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

GoVeRnMent lAWS AnD InDuStRY ReGulAtIonS
The Company’s operations are subject to numerous laws as well as industry regulations and guidelines many of 
which are related to health and safety, the conduct of operations, transportation and the environment. Some of the 
laws, regulations and guidelines that apply to operations also authorize; the recovery of natural resource damages 
by the government, injunctive relief, and the imposition of stop, control, remediation and abandonment orders. 
While management believes that its businesses will be operated in accordance with applicable laws, the Company 
will remain subject to a varied and complex body of laws and regulations that both public officials and private 
individuals may seek to enforce. The costs arising from compliance with such laws, regulations and guidelines may 
be material to the Company.

Any regulatory changes that impose additional operating or environmental restrictions or requirements on the 
Company or its customers could result in increased operating costs and decreased demand for the Company’s 
services, which could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.

FAIluRe to ReAlIZe AntICIpAteD BeneFItS oF ACQuISItIonS AnD DISpoSItIonS
The Company considers acquisitions and dispositions of businesses and assets in the ordinary course of business. 
Achieving the benefits of acquisitions depends in part on successfully consolidating functions and integrating 
operations and procedures in a timely and efficient manner as well as the Company’s ability to realize the anticipated 
growth opportunities and synergies from combining the acquired businesses and operations with those of the 
Company. The integration of acquired businesses may require substantial management effort, time and resources and 
may divert management’s focus from other strategic opportunities and operational matters. Management continually 
assesses the value and contribution of services provided and assets required to provide such services. In this regard, 
non-core assets are periodically disposed of, so that the Company can focus its efforts and resources more efficiently. 
Depending on the state of the market for such non-core assets, certain non-core assets of the Company, if disposed 
of, could be expected to realize less than their carrying value in the financial statements of the Company.

MAnAGeMent oF GRoWtH
The Company may be subject to growth related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its internal 
systems and controls. The ability of the Company to manage growth effectively will require it to continue to 
implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage its employee base. 
The inability of the Company to deal with this growth could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

ACCeSS to CuRRent AnD ADDItIonAl FInAnCInG
The Company’s ability to access its revolving credit facility is directly dependent, among other factors, on certain 
financial ratios and other restrictive covenants. A breach of any of these covenants, which may be affected by events 
beyond the Company’s control, could constitute an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in 
the amounts outstanding on the credit facility to become due and payable immediately. In addition, the Company’s 
credit facility may, from time to time, impose operating and financial restrictions on the Company that could include 
restrictions on, the payment of dividends, repurchase or making of other distributions with respect to the Company’s 
securities, incurring of additional indebtedness, provision of guarantees, the assumption of loans, making of capital 
expenditures, entering into of amalgamations, mergers, take-over bids or disposition of assets, among others.
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The Company may find it necessary in the future to obtain additional debt or equity to support ongoing operations, 
to undertake capital expenditures, to repay existing borrowings or to undertake acquisitions or other business 
combination transactions. As a result of the global economic volatility, the Company, along with many other issuers, 
may, from time to time, have restricted access to capital and increased borrowing costs. There can be no assurance 
that additional financing will be available to the Company when needed or on terms acceptable to the Company. 
The Company’s inability to raise financing to support ongoing operations or to fund capital expenditures or 
acquisitions could limit the Company’s growth and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

CASH FloW RISK
The Company will require sufficient cash flow in the future in order to service and repay its indebtedness. The 
Company`s ability to generate sufficient cash flow to meet these obligations is to a certain extent, subject to global 
economic, financial, competitive and other factors that may be beyond its control. If the Company is unable to attain 
future borrowings or generate cash flow from operations in an amount sufficient to service and repay its indebtedness, 
the Company will need to refinance or be in default under the agreements governing its indebtedness and could be 
forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets. Such refinancing or 
alternative measures may not be available on favourable terms or at all. The inability to service, repay and/or 
refinance its indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows.

CReDIt RISK
Credit risk arises from cash held with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to customers and 
partners in the form of outstanding accounts and notes receivable. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to 
the carrying value of the financial assets. As stated above, the carrying amount of accounts receivable reflects 
management’s assessment of the credit risk associated with its customers. The Company generally grants unsecured 
credit to its customers; however, the Company applies rigorous evaluation procedures to all new customers and 
analyzes and reviews the financial health of its current customers on an ongoing basis. The allowance for doubtful 
accounts and past due receivables are reviewed by management on a monthly basis. Accounts receivable are considered 
for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when objective evidence is received that a customer 
will default. The Company takes into consideration the customer’s payment history, their credit worthiness and the 
current economic environment in which the customer operates to assess impairment. The Company accounts for a 
specific bad debt provision when management considers that the expected recovery is less than the actual amount 
receivable. When a receivable balance is considered uncollectible it is written off against the allowance for doubtful 
accounts. Subsequent recovery of amounts previously written off is included in net earnings. Based on the nature of 
its operations, Savanna will always have a concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion of the Company’s 
accounts receivable are with customers in the oil and gas industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks.

FoReIGn CuRRenCY eXCHAnGe RISK
The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations as revenues, expenses and working capital derived from 
its foreign operations are denominated in U.S. dollars and Australia dollars. In addition, the Company’s U.S. and 
Australian subsidiaries are subject to translation gains and losses on consolidation. Realized foreign exchange gains 
and losses are included in net earnings while foreign exchange gains and losses arising on the translation of the 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the Company’s foreign operations are included in OCI.

InteReSt RAte RISK
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on a portion of its notes receivable and long-term debt and does not 
currently hold any financial instruments that mitigate this risk. The Company’s floating-rate notes receivable are 
subject to interest rate cash flow risk, as the cash received will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates. The 
Company’s fixed-rate notes receivable and fixed-rate debt are subject to interest rate price risk, as the values will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. Floating-rate debt is subject to interest rate cash flow risk, 
as the required cash flows to service the debt will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates. The remainder of 
the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are not exposed to interest rate risk.
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lItIGAtIon
In the normal course of the Company’s business, it may become involved in, named as a party to, or be the subject 
of, various legal proceedings, including regulatory proceedings, tax proceedings and legal actions, related to 
personal injuries, property damage, property tax, the environment and contract disputes. The outcome of outstanding, 
pending or future proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and may be determined adversely to the Company 
and as a result, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.

DIVIDenDS
The Company implemented a dividend for 2012. The amount of future cash dividends paid by the Company, if any, 
will be subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company and may vary depending on a variety of 
factors and conditions existing from time to time, including fluctuations in capital expenditure requirements, debt 
service requirements, operating costs, foreign exchange rates and the satisfaction of the liquidity and solvency tests 
imposed by applicable corporate law for the declaration and payment of dividends. Depending on these and various 
other factors, many of which will be beyond the control of the Company, the amount of dividends paid by the 
Company could be reduced or suspended entirely.

The market value of the common shares of the Company may deteriorate if cash dividends are reduced or suspended. 
Furthermore, the future treatment of dividends for tax purposes will be subject to the nature and composition of 
dividends paid by the Company and potential legislative and regulatory changes.

To the extent that external sources of capital, including the issuance of additional common shares of the Company, 
become limited or unavailable, the ability of the Company to make the necessary capital investments to maintain 
or expand its business will be impaired. To the extent that the Company is required to use funds from operations to 
finance capital expenditures or acquisitions, the cash available for dividends may be reduced.

MARKet pRICe oF CoMMon SHAReS
The trading price of securities of oilfield services issuers is subject to substantial volatility. This volatility is often 
based on factors both related and unrelated to the financial performance or prospects of the issuers involved. The 
market price of the common shares of the Company could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to 
variations in the Company’s operating results, financial condition, liquidity and other internal factors. Factors that 
could affect the market price of the common shares of the Company that are unrelated to the Company’s performance 
include domestic and global commodity prices and market perceptions of the attractiveness of particular industries. 
The price at which the common shares of the Company will trade cannot be accurately predicted.

DIlutIon
The Company may complete future acquisitions or enter into financings or other transactions involving the issuance 
of securities of the Company which may be dilutive.

BReACH oF ConFIDentIAlItY
In the normal course of the Company’s business the Company may discuss potential business relationships, 
transactions with third parties, financing solutions or other activities and at which time the Company may disclose 
confidential information relating to the business, operations or affairs of the Company. The Company takes 
commercially reasonable measures to ensure confidentiality agreements are signed by third parties prior to the 
disclosure of any confidential information or to otherwise ensure the confidentiality of such information is 
maintained; however a breach or failure of these measures could put the Company at competitive risk and may 
cause significant damage to its business. The harm to the Company’s business from a breach of confidentiality 
cannot presently be quantified, but may be material and may not be compensable in damages. There is no assurance 
that, in the event of a breach of confidentiality, the Company will be able to obtain equitable remedies, such as 
injunctive relief, from a court of competent jurisdiction in a timely manner, if at all, in order to prevent or mitigate 
any damage to its business that such a breach of confidentiality may cause.
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InCoMe tAXeS
The Company makes all required income tax filings and believes that it is in full compliance with all applicable tax 
legislation of each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. However, such filings are subject to reassessment by the 
applicable taxation authority and in the event of a reassessment of the Company, such reassessment may have a 
negative impact on current and future taxes payable. Income tax laws relating to various matters, including 
dividends, may in the future be changed or interpreted in a manner that adversely affects the Company. Furthermore, 
tax authorities having jurisdiction over the Company may disagree with how the Company calculates its taxes or 
could change administrative practices to the Company’s detriment.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls  
over Financial Reporting

The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) have designed or caused to be designed 
under their supervision, disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) 
material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the CEO 
and the CFO by others within those entities, particularly during the periods in which the annual and interim filings 
of the Company are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Company in its annual 
filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time period specified in securities legislation. As of December 31, 2012, an 
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s DC&P was conducted by and under the supervision of the 
Company’s management including the CEO and the CFO. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have 
concluded that the Company’s DC&P are effective at December 31, 2012 to provide reasonable assurance that; (i) 
material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the CEO 
and the CFO by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which the annual and interim filings 
of the Company are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Company in its annual 
filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time period specified in securities legislation.

The CEO and CFO do not expect that the DC&P will prevent or detect all errors, misstatements and fraud but are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. A control system, no matter how well designed 
or operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.

In addition to DC&P, the CEO and CFO have designed internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”), or caused 
them to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. The design 
and effectiveness of these controls have been evaluated by and under the supervision of the Company’s management, 
including the CEO and the CFO, using the framework and criteria established in the Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this 
evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company’s ICFR as of December 31, 2012 are effective to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.

The Company’s ICFR may not prevent or detect all errors, misstatements and fraud. The design of internal controls 
must take into account cost-benefit constraints. A control system, no matter how well designed or operated, can 
only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. While the 
Company is continually enhancing its ICFR, no material changes were made during the period beginning October 
1, 2012 and ending December 31, 2012, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect 
the Company’s ICFR.
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CAutIonARY StAteMent ReGARDInG FoRWARD-looKInG InFoRMAtIon AnD StAteMentS
Certain statements contained in this MD&A, including statements related to the Company’s 2013 capital program 
and other strategic or growth initiatives, the expectation of adding ultra-deep double and triple rigs to its drilling 
fleet and further demand for both drilling and service rigs in Australia, the intention to focus on new builds for 
expansion going forward, the expectation of increased activity levels and operating margin contributions from 
Savanna’s Australian operations, the expectation that recently acquired oilfield accommodation buildings will 
enhance the marketability of its drilling rigs and other rental assets, the expectation that the contribution from extra 
crews in Q1 2013 will exceed the costs incurred in the 2012 retention program, the expectation of lower future 
repairs and maintenance and re-supply costs in the Company’s U.S. drilling and Canadian well servicing division 
relative to Q4 2012 and of overall cost management improvements, the outlook for future oil and gas demand and 
prices, cyclical and seasonal industry fundamentals, drilling and completion activity levels and the migration of 
equipment in North America from natural gas to oil and gas liquids focused areas, the expectation of continued 
uncertainty in North American activity levels and the Company’s ability to mitigate the effect of such, the expectation 
of a long-term increase in well servicing activity in North America, the Company’s financial flexibility and its ability 
to meet debt repayments and fund future obligations, capital expenditures and growth initiatives, the expectation 
of sustaining a regular dividend, and statements that contain words such as “could”, “should”, “can”, “anticipate”, 
“expect”, “believe”, “will”, “may”, “likely”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “continue”, “maintain”, “retain”, 
“grow”, and similar expressions and statements relating to matters that are not historical facts constitute “forward-
looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation and “forward-looking 
statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

These statements are based on certain assumptions and analysis made by the Company in light of its experience 
and its perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments as well as other factors 
it believes are appropriate in the circumstances. In particular, the Company’s expectation of the amount it will spend 
on its 2013 capital program, the expectation of adding ultra-deep double and triple rigs to its drilling fleet and further 
demand for both drilling and service rigs in Australia, and the intention to focus on new builds for expansion going 
forward is premised on the Company’s current outlook for 2013 industry activity, its ability to secure long-term 
contracts to support any new builds, and its belief that its remaining shallow drilling fleet represents an appropriate 
product mix going forward. The Company’s expectation of increased activity levels and operating margin 
contributions from Savanna’s Australian operations is premised on increases in the number of rigs Savanna operates 
in Australia, actual results experienced in 2012 and to date in 2013, the contracts in place and communications with 
its customers in the region, and the general expectation that coal seam gas activity will increase in that country as 
plans for liquefied natural gas plants move forward. The Company’s expectation that recently acquired oilfield 
accommodation buildings will enhance the marketability of its drilling rigs and other rental assets is premised on 
its belief that there is an industry shortage of oilfield accommodation buildings in Canada and a strategy to more 
aggressively cross market its service lines. The Company’s expectation that the contribution from extra crews in 
Q1 2013 will exceed the costs incurred in the 2012 retention program is premised on the actual number of rigs it 
was able to put to work in Q1 2013. The Company’s expectations of lower future repairs and maintenance and re-
supply costs in the Company’s U.S. drilling and Canadian well servicing divisions relative to Q4 2012 and of overall 
cost management improvements, is premised on actual Q4 2012 costs being higher than historical and anticipated 
levels and cost management and process improvement initiatives currently underway. The Company’s outlook for 
future oil and gas demand and prices and its ability to mitigate the effect of continued uncertainty in North American 
activity levels are premised on actual results experienced in 2012 and to date in 2013, customer contracts and 
commitments, the Company’s expectations for its customers’ capital budgets and geographical areas of focus, the 
status of current negotiations with its customers, and the focus of its customers on oil directed drilling opportunities 
in the current natural gas pricing environment in North America. The Company’s expectation of a long-term increase 
in well servicing activity in North America is premised on the increase in the number of oil and gas liquids based 
wells that have been drilled over the last several years and the required maintenance through the life of such wells 
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compared to natural gas wells. The Company’s expectation of funding future obligations, capital expenditures and 
growth initiatives, and sustaining a regular dividend, is premised on its currently available debt, realizing its working 
capital and generating cash flows at current levels or better which in turn is premised on the pricing of the Company’s 
services remaining at or improving from present levels while maintaining its current cost structure. Whether actual 
results, performance or achievements will conform to the Company’s expectations and predictions is subject to a 
number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from 
the Company’s expectations. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: fluctuations in the price 
and demand for oil and natural gas; fluctuations in the level of oil and natural gas exploration and development 
activities; fluctuations in the demand for well servicing and contract drilling; the effects of weather conditions on 
operations and facilities; the existence of competitive operating risks inherent in well servicing and contract drilling; 
general economic, market or business conditions; changes in laws or regulations, including taxation, environmental 
and currency regulations; the lack of availability of qualified personnel or management; the other risk factors set 
forth under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties” in this MD&A and under the heading “Risk Factors” in the 
Company’s Annual Information Form and other unforeseen conditions which could impact on the use of services 
supplied by the Company.

Included herein is an estimate of cash capital expenditures for 2013. To the extent such estimate constitutes future 
oriented financial information or a financial outlook, such future oriented financial information or financial outlook 
is included herein to provide readers with an understanding of the Company’s anticipated capital expenditures for 
2013. Readers are cautioned that the information may not be appropriate for other purposes.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking information and statements made in this MD&A are qualified by this 
cautionary statement and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated by the 
Company will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or 
effects on the Company or its business or operations. Except as may be required by law, the Company assumes no 
obligation to update publicly any such forward-looking information and statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events, or otherwise.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Information

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the Annual Report have been prepared 
by management and approved by the Board of Directors of Savanna. The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and, where appropriate, reflect 
management’s best estimates and judgements. Management is responsible for the accuracy, integrity and objectivity 
of the consolidated financial statements within reasonable limits of materiality and for the consistency of financial 
data included in the text of the Annual Report with that in the consolidated financial statements.

To assist management in the discharge of these responsibilities, the Company maintains a system of internal controls 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that accounting records are reliable, transactions are properly authorized 
and assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors, with all of its members being independent directors. 
The Audit Committee meets with management, as well as with the external auditors, to satisfy itself that management 
is properly discharging its financial reporting responsibilities and to review the consolidated financial statements 
and the auditor’s report. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for consideration in 
approving the consolidated financial statements for presentation to the shareholders. The external auditors have 
direct access to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited independently by Deloitte LLP on behalf of the Company 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Their report outlines the nature of their audits 
and expresses their opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Ken Mullen Darcy Draudson
President and Chief Executive Officer  Executive Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Calgary, Alberta  Calgary, Alberta

C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S
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Independent Auditor’s Report

to tHe SHAReHolDeRS oF SAVAnnA eneRGY SeRVICeS CoRp.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Savanna Energy Services Corp., which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the consolidated 
statements of net earnings, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of 
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

MAnAGeMent’S ReSponSIBIlItY FoR tHe ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AuDItoR’S ReSponSIBIlItY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

opInIon
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Savanna Energy Services Corp. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
March 6, 2013 
Calgary, Alberta

C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S
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The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Net Earnings

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

REVENUE  669,321  610,737 

COST OF SERVICES
Operating expenses  474,083  434,244 
Share-based compensation (Note 9)  1,837  1,217 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 10)  71,752  60,773 
Impairment loss (Note 18)  6,687 –

 554,359  496,234 

GROSS PROFIT  114,962  114,503 
General and administrative expenses (Notes 9 and 10)  50,977  46,049 
Finance expenses (Note 11)  12,932  10,032 
Other expenses (income) (Note 12)  530  (2,582)

EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES  50,523  61,004 

Income tax expense (Note 13(a))  13,044  15,280 

NET EARNINGS  37,479  45,724 

NET EARNINGS PER SHARE (Note 26(g))

Basic – net earnings  0.44  0.56 
Diluted – net earnings  0.44  0.55 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars)

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

NET EARNINGS  37,479  45,724 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Foreign currency translation adjustment  (3,997)  3,547 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) on net investment hedge  1,326  (920)
Tax on foreign currency translation adjustments (Note 13(b))  45  176 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  34,853  48,527 

C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S
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The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars)

At December 31 2012 2011

ASSETS
Current

Cash  13,470  13,157 
Accounts receivable (Note 14)  142,154  154,788 
Income taxes receivable (Note 13(c))  3,519  993 
Inventory (Note 15)  3,271  4,870 

Prepaid expenses and deposits (Note 16)  1,774  1,353 

 164,188  175,161 
Notes receivable (Note 17)  10,362  12,573 
Property and equipment (Note 18)  1,118,236  1,031,368 
Intangible assets (Note 19)  1,528  1,873 
Deferred income tax assets (Note 13(d))  4,942  3,106 
Goodwill (Note 20)  9,619  9,619 

 1,308,875  1,233,700 

LIABILITIES
Current

Bank indebtedness (Note 21)  –    689 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 22)  74,753  74,202 
Income taxes payable (Note 13(c))  81  683 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 25)  1,781  329 

 76,615  75,903 
Deferred net revenue (Note 17)  1,647  1,647 
Long-term debt (Note 25)  241,081  204,067 
Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 13(d))  118,470  104,962 

 437,813  386,579 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 26(b))  975,571  967,450 
Share-based payment reserve  30,503  26,481 
Deficit  (127,630)  (142,054)
Foreign currency translation reserve  (7,382)  (4,756)

 871,062  847,121 

 1,308,875  1,233,700 

C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S
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The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars)

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

SHARE CAPITAL (Note 26(b))

Balance, beginning of year  967,450  911,776 
Issued for cash on exercise of stock options  2,518  1,449 
Fair value of stock options exercised  917  486 
Issued through dividend reinvestment plan  4,686  –   
Issued on business acquisitions (Note 20)  –    53,739 

Balance, end of year  975,571  967,450 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE
Balance, beginning of year  26,481  23,199 
Share-based compensation (Note 9)  4,939  3,768 
Fair value of options exercised (reclassified to share capital)  (917)  (486)

Balance, end of year  30,503  26,481 

DEFICIT
Balance, beginning of year  (142,054)  (187,778)
Dividends declared (Note 26(b))  (23,055)  –   
Net earnings  37,479  45,724 

Balance, end of year  (127,630)  (142,054)

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
Balance, beginning of year  (4,756)  (7,559)
Foreign currency translation adjustment  (3,997)  3,547 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) on net investment hedge  1,326  (920)
Tax on foreign currency translation adjustments (Note 13(b))  45  176 

Balance, end of year  (7,382)  (4,756)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  871,062  847,121 

C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S
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The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars)

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Earnings before income taxes  50,523  61,004 
Adjustments for:

Share-based compensation (Note 9)  6,833  5,554 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 10)  73,481  61,836 
Impairment loss (Notes 12 and 18)  6,687  5,255 
Finance expenses (Note 11)  12,932  10,032 
Interest paid  (12,342)  (8,503)
Income taxes paid  (4,115)  (5,702)
Income taxes received  1,079  12,605 
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets (Note 12)  102  (1,535)

 135,180  140,546 
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 28)  20,498  (20,091)

 155,678  120,455 

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment (Note 18)  (167,320)  (179,718)
Proceeds on disposal of assets (Note 18)  13,886  10,403 
Cash paid on acquisitions, net of cash or bank indebtedness acquired (Note 20)  (17,013)  (20,355)
Change in notes receivable  1,444  (1,820)
Interest received  933  230 
Change in non-cash working capital (Note 28)  (11,267)  9,544 

 (179,337)  (181,716)

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Shares issued on exercise of options (Note 26(b))  2,518  1,449 
Issuance of long-term debt  68,521  213,680 
Debt issue costs  (396)  (3,589)
Repayment of long-term debt  (30,140)  (128,624)
Dividends paid (Note 26(b))  (15,792) –

 24,711  82,916 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, net of bank indebtedness  (50)  187 

Increase in cash, net of bank indebtedness  1,002  21,842 
Cash, net of bank indebtedness, beginning of year  12,468  (9,374)

CASH, NET OF BANK INDEBTEDNESS, END OF YEAR  13,470  12,468 

Represented by:
Cash  13,470  13,157 
Bank indebtedness (Note 21) –  (689)

 13,470  12,468 

C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Stated in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011

Note 1. Description of Business

Savanna Energy Services Corp. (the “Company” or “Savanna”) was incorporated under the Alberta Business 
Corporations Act on March 22, 2001, to provide a variety of services in the oil and natural gas industry. The Company’s 
head office is located in Calgary, Alberta at 800, 311 - 6th Avenue S.W. Savanna operates through a number of wholly-
owned subsidiaries and 50/50 limited partnerships which are managed through three reportable segments: corporate, 
services, and drilling. The following entities have been consolidated within Savanna’s financial statements:

% Interest
Subsidiary Country Segment 2012 2011

Savanna Energy Services Corp. (parent company) Canada Corporate  100  100 
Savanna Energy Services (U.S.A.) Corp. United States Corporate  100  100 
Savanna Energy Services PTY Ltd. Australia Corporate, Services, Drilling  100  100 
Savanna Well Servicing Inc. Canada Services  100  100 
Savanna Well Servicing Corp. United States Services  100  100 
D&D Oilfield Rentals Corp. Canada Services  100  100 
Savanna Drilling Limited Partnership Canada Drilling  100  100 
Savanna Drilling LLC United States Drilling  100  100 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #1 Canada Drilling  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #2 Canada Drilling  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #5 Canada Drilling  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #6 Canada Drilling  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #7 Canada Drilling  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #8 Canada Drilling  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #9 Canada Services, Drilling  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #10 Canada Services  50  50 
Savanna Energy Services Limited Partnership #11 Canada Services  50  50 

Note 2. Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of Savanna have been prepared by management, on a historical cost basis, other 
than as disclosed in Note 3(p), in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, and are presented in thousands of Canadian dollars. The significant 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out in Note 3. Unless 
otherwise stated, these policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented. The consolidated financial 
statements include the accounts of the Company, its 100% owned subsidiaries and the proportionate share of its 
interests in joint ventures. All inter-company transactions, balances, revenues and expenses have been eliminated. 
The Company’s net earnings and cash flows include the results of any acquisitions from their dates of acquisition.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from these estimates.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorized for issue on March 6, 2013.
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Note 3. Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared using careful 
judgement within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the significant accounting policies 
summarized below:

A) JoInt VentuReS
The Company conducts a portion of its operations in the drilling and services divisions through joint ventures. Joint 
ventures are established through contractual arrangements whereby the strategic financial and investing policies of 
the venture require the unanimous consent of each of the venturers. Savanna’s joint ventures are comprised of 50/50 
limited partnerships in which each of Savanna and an Aboriginal partner hold an equal interest (Note 1). A joint 
venture operates in the same way as other entities and controls its own assets, earns its own income and incurs its 
own liabilities and expenses.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method. Under the proportionate 
consolidation method, the Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 50/50 limited 
partnerships is combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

In certain circumstances, the Company will build and sell interests in drilling or well servicing rigs and related 
equipment to these partnerships. Such sales may be transacted directly with the partnership or with the other 
partners. The Company eliminates its proportionate share of transactions with 50/50 limited partnerships.

B) BuSIneSS CoMBInAtIonS
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and assets that meet the definition of a business under IFRS are accounted for using 
the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the date of exchange as the aggregate 
of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Company. 
The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed that meet the conditions for 
recognition under IFRS 3 are recognized at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for, deferred income 
taxes, employee benefit arrangements, share-based compensation, and assets held for sale, which are measured in 
accordance with their applicable IFRS. Any excess consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets is 
recognized as goodwill. Acquisition-related costs, other than those associated with the issuance of debt or equity, 
are recognized in earnings as incurred.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Company reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement period, or additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized as of that date. The measurement period 
is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Company obtains complete information about facts and 
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date up to a maximum of one year.

C) ReVenue ReCoGnItIon
Revenue from drilling, well servicing and other oilfield services is recognized upon delivery of service to customers and 
is calculated on a daily or hourly basis. Cost recoveries billed to customers are included as both revenue and operating 
expenses and are not netted. The customer contract terms do not include a provision for post-delivery obligations.

Interest revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a monthly basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the applicable effective interest rate.

Lease revenue from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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D) CASH AnD BAnK InDeBteDneSS
Cash consists of cash held in banks. Bank indebtedness consists of temporary overdrafts, operating facilities and 
cheques written but not cashed by the payee. Classification as cash or bank indebtedness depends on the financial 
institution in which the consolidated balance is held, except for balances held through 50/50 limited partnerships. 
Balances held through 50/50 limited partnerships are classified as cash or bank indebtedness on an individual basis.

e) InVentoRY
The Company’s inventory includes parts and operating supplies valued at the lower of cost, determined on a 
weighted average basis, and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less costs to sell.

F) IntAnGIBle ASSetS AnD GooDWIll
Intangible assets consist of costs associated with securing Savanna’s intellectual property rights and the values 
attributed to customer relationships and non-compete agreements acquired through business combinations. 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. Intangible assets are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period of benefit as follows:

Patent 17 years straight-line with no residual value
Customer relationships 5 years straight-line with no residual value
Non-compete agreements 2 years straight-line with no residual value

Intangible assets are reviewed annually with respect to their useful lives, or more frequently, if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. Any impairment is charged to earnings in the period in 
which it is determined and the effects of any changes in estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis.

Goodwill represents the excess consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired in a business 
combination. Goodwill is not amortized and is carried at cost less impairment losses.

G) pRopeRtY, eQuIpMent AnD DepReCIAtIon
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is 
determined using the straight-line method and begins when the asset is available for use, except for certain components 
of drilling rigs and equipment which are depreciated based on the number of drilling days and certain components 
of well servicing rigs and equipment which are depreciated based on the number of operating hours as follows:

Buildings 20 years straight-line with no residual value
Field equipment – non-drilling or well servicing 5 to 17 years straight-line with residual values of 0% to 20%
Drilling rigs and equipment 1,000 to 5,000 drilling days with residual values of 0% to 20%
Well servicing rigs and equipment 10,000 to 35,000 operating hours with residual values of 20%
Furniture and office equipment 3 to 5 years straight-line with no residual value
Vehicles 3 to 5 years straight-line with no residual value

Costs related to equipment under construction are capitalized when incurred, including directly attributable 
borrowing costs; all other borrowing costs are expensed. No depreciation is provided on assets under construction 
until those assets are substantially complete and available for use.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed annually, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continued use. Assets held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts or their fair value less costs to sell and are no longer depreciated.
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H) IMpAIRMent oF non-FInAnCIAl ASSetS
At the end of each reporting period, management assesses the carrying amounts of non-financial assets for indications 
of impairment. Indications of impairment include an ongoing lack of profitability and significant changes in 
technology. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in earnings. If the impairment 
loss relates to a CGU it is first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and 
then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognized immediately in earnings. Impairment losses relating to goodwill are not reversed.

I) CuRRent tAXeS
Current income taxes payable are based on taxable earnings for the year. Taxable earnings differs from earnings as 
reported in the consolidated statements of net earnings and comprehensive income because of items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in different years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the reporting period. Current taxes are recognized in earnings except when they relate to items that are 
not part of the determination of earnings, in which case the tax is recognized net of those items.

J) DeFeRReD tAXeS
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability 
and its tax base. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying amount 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred 
taxes are recognized in earnings except when they relate to items that are not part of the determination of earnings, 
in which case the tax is recognized net of those items.

Deferred tax liabilities are also recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with the Company’s interests 
in joint ventures. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these interests 
are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize 
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The Company’s deferred tax balances have been measured based on tax rates, which have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, that are expected to apply when the asset is recognized or 
the liability is settled.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

K) leASeS
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, 
at the present value of the minimum lease payments with the corresponding liability included in long-term debt as 
a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between interest expense and a reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognized as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred. Lease incentives, if received, are recognized as a reduction of the related expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

l) pRoVISIonS
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset 
if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
There were no material provisions requiring recognition for the years ended December 31, 2012 or 2011.

M) SHARe-BASeD pAYMentS
The Company follows the fair value method of accounting for equity settled stock options and phantom share 
entitlements (“PSEs”) settled in cash, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, whereby compensation 
expense is recognized for each tranche of options or PSEs on the date of grant and amortized over the vesting period 
based on the Company’s estimate of options or PSEs expected to vest. At the end of each reporting period, the 
Company adjusts the fair value of its PSEs and revisits its estimate of the number of options or PSEs expected to 
vest. The effect of a revision to the original estimates, if any, is recognized in earnings such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate.

Deferred share units (“DSUs”) and performance share units (“PSUs”) that are vested or are expected to vest are 
measured at fair value at each reporting period on a mark-to-market basis; any changes in the fair value of DSUs 
or PSUs or in the estimate of the number of DSUs or PSUs expected to vest are recognized immediately in earnings.

Stock options are settled through the issuance of shares upon exercise. PSEs are settled in cash upon exercise based 
on the differential between the price on exercise and the grant price. DSUs are settled in cash upon exercise or on 
the date a director ceases to be a director of the Company or within 120 days of termination of an officer. PSUs 
which meet the performance and other vesting criteria are settled in cash or shares, at the option of the Company, 
upon exercise.

The recognition of stock options results in share-based compensation expense with a corresponding increase to 
share-based payment reserve. Upon exercise of the option both the consideration paid by the employee and the 
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related share-based payment reserve is included in share capital. The recognition and valuation of DSUs, PSUs and 
PSEs results in share-based compensation expense and corresponding liabilities which have been included in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

n) eARnInGS peR SHARe
Earnings per share are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding in the period. Diluted 
earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the dilutive 
effect of outstanding share-based payments granted under the Company’s various share-based incentive plans.

o) FoReIGn CuRRenCY tRAnSlAtIon
The Company’s functional and presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements is Canadian Dollars. 
Transactions entered into by the Company’s subsidiaries are recorded in their respective functional currency, which is 
the currency of the economic environment in which they operate. Monetary assets and liabilities relating to transactions 
in currencies other than an entity’s functional currency are initially recorded at the rate of exchange in effect at the 
transaction date. Gains and losses resulting from subsequent changes in foreign exchange rates are recorded in earnings 
for the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities relating to foreign denominated transactions are recorded at the rate 
of exchange in effect at the transaction date and are not adjusted for subsequent changes in foreign exchange rates.

Savanna’s foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency as follows: assets and liabilities are 
translated into Canadian dollars at rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date and revenues and expenses 
are translated using average rates for the period. Exchange gains and losses arising on translation of the Company’s 
foreign operations are recorded as foreign currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). 
Amounts included in foreign currency translation reserve will be recognized in earnings when there is a reduction 
in the net investment of the foreign operation on a pro-rata basis. Advances made to its foreign operations for which 
settlement is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future are considered part of the Company’s net investment 
in its foreign operations. Accordingly, unrealized gains and losses from these advances are also recorded in OCI.

p) FInAnCIAl InStRuMentS
All of the Company’s financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the balance sheet and classified 
into the following categories: fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) financial assets and financial liabilities, 
loans or receivables, held to maturity investments, available for sale financial assets, and other financial liabilities. 
Subsequent measurements of the financial instruments are based on their classification. Unrealized gains and losses 
on FVTPL financial instruments are recognized in earnings. Gains and losses on available for sale financial assets 
are recognized in OCI and are transferred to earnings when the instrument is settled. The other categories of financial 
instruments are recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The Company does not 
currently utilize derivative financial instruments. Derivatives embedded in other instruments or host contracts are 
separated from the host contract and accounted for separately when their economic characteristics and risks are not 
closely related to the host contract. Embedded derivatives are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value with any 
changes in the fair value recognized in earnings.

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

The Company’s financial instruments are listed as follows, according to their classification:
i) Cash and bank indebtedness are classified as FVTPL and are measured at fair value. Gains and losses as a result 

of subsequent revaluations are recorded in earnings.
ii) Accounts and notes receivable are classified as loans and receivables and are initially measured at fair value 

with subsequent revaluations recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
iii) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt are classified as other liabilities and are initially 

measured at fair value with subsequent revaluations recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method.
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The Company’s U.S. dollar denominated debt has been designated as a hedge of the net investment in its U.S. 
operations. At the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents whether the hedge is 
highly effective in offsetting foreign exchange fluctuations of its net investment. The effective portion of the change 
in fair value of the hedging instrument is recorded in OCI; any ineffectiveness is recorded immediately in earnings. 
Amounts included in foreign currency translation reserve will be recognized in earnings when there is a reduction 
of the hedged net investment.

Financial assets, other than those classified as FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly 
for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account; in either case the impairment loss is recognized in earnings. When a trade receivable 
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. When an available for sale financial asset 
is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

With the exception of available for sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount 
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognized. In respect of available for sale equity securities, impairment losses 
previously recognized in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss; instead, any increase in fair value 
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized in OCI.

Note 4. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

The following are IFRS changes that have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, which 
may affect the Company, but are not yet effective:

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, was amended in December 2011 and requires entities to provide 
disclosures related to offsetting financial assets and liabilities. The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company is continuing to assess the effect of IFRS 7 on its financial 
disclosures; however, no significant effect is anticipated.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, was issued in November 2009 and is the first step to replace current IAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is 
measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on 
how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing 
the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2015. The Company is continuing to assess the effect of IFRS 9 on its financial results and financial position.

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of 
consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities and outlines specific criteria to 
use in determining whether control exists. IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, and is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after January 1, 2013. Savanna has assessed IFRS 10 and the Company has determined that based on the criteria 
outlined in the standard, it has control of the limited partnerships owned 50% by the Company for financial reporting 
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purposes. The adoption of IFRS 10 on January 1, 2013 will result in a change in how Savanna accounts for these 
limited partnerships from proportionate consolidation to full consolidation with the Aboriginal partners’ 50% share 
in the equity and net earnings of the partnerships reported as non-controlling interests. The change will affect each 
of the line items on the consolidated statements of net earnings and on the balance sheets by approximately the 
amounts disclosed in Note 7 of these consolidated financial statements and add a non-controlling interest component 
to shareholders’ equity. The resulting net earnings will be split between that attributed to non-controlling interests 
and that attributed to the shareholders whereby the net earnings attributed to the shareholders will be virtually the 
same as that under proportionate consolidation.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement. IFRS 
11 supersedes current IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary 
Contributions by Venturers, and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Based on the 
conclusions reached in the assessment of IFRS 10, the adoption of IFRS 11 is not expected to have an effect on the 
Company’s financial results or financial position.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint 
arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2013. Based on the conclusions reached in the assessment of IFRS 10, the adoption of IFRS 
12 is not expected to have an effect on the Company’s financial statement disclosures.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements, defines fair value, sets out a single IFRS framework for measuring fair value 
and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value 
measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, 
based on fair value or disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances. IFRS 13 is to be 
applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The Company 
does not expect the adoption of IFRS 13 to have a material effect on its financial results and financial position.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, was amended in June 2011 and will require items of OCI to be grouped 
into those that will and will not subsequently be reclassified to net earnings. The amendment to IAS 1 is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. The Company has assessed the changes to IAS 1 and does 
not expect a significant change in its financial statement presentation as all of the items of OCI for Savanna will in 
the future be reclassified to net earnings.

IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, was amended in 2011 and prescribes the accounting for 
investments in associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for 
investments in associates and joint ventures. IAS 28 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013. Based on the conclusions reached in the assessment of IFRS 10, the adoption of IAS 28 is not expected to have 
an effect on the Company’s financial results or financial position.

IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, was amended in December 2011 and clarifies the requirements for 
offsetting financial assets and liabilities. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014. The Company is continuing to assess the effect of IAS 32 on its financial presentation; however, 
no significant effect is anticipated.

Note 5. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that certain estimates and judgements be made with 
respect to the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. These 
estimates are based on historical experience and management’s judgement. Anticipating future events involves 
uncertainty and consequently the estimates used by management in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements may change as future events unfold, additional experience is acquired or the Company’s operating 
environment changes. Management considers the following to be the most significant of these estimates and judgements:
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DepReCIAtIon AnD AMoRtIZAtIon
Depreciation of property, equipment and intangible assets is carried out on the basis of the estimated useful lives 
of the related assets. Equipment under construction is not depreciated until it is available for use. Included in 
property and equipment is equipment acquired under finance leases. All equipment is depreciated based on the 
straight-line method, utilizing either years, operating days in the case of drilling equipment, or operating hours in 
the case of well servicing equipment. All equipment is depreciated net of expected residual values of 0%-20%.

Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated useful lives and the appropriate depreciation methodology of property 
and equipment requires judgement and is based on currently available information, including periodic depreciation 
studies conducted by the Company. Additionally, the Company canvasses its competitors to assess whether the 
methodologies and rates utilized are consistent with the remainder of the sector in which Savanna operates. Changes 
in circumstances, such as technological advances, changes to the Company’s business strategy, changes in the 
Company’s capital strategy or changes in regulations may result in the actual useful lives differing from the 
Company’s estimates.

A change in the remaining useful life of a group of assets, or their expected residual value, will affect the depreciation 
rate used to amortize the group of assets and thus affect depreciation expense as reported in the Company’s results 
of operations. These changes are reported prospectively when they occur.

IMpAIRMent oF non-FInAnCIAl ASSetS
The values of property, equipment, intangible assets and goodwill are reviewed annually, or more frequently, if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where 
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable 
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. The determination of CGUs and the allocation of assets thereto are 
based on management’s judgement.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted. As a result, any impairment losses are a result of management’s best estimates of 
expected revenues, expenses and cash flows at a specific point in time. These estimates are subject to measurement 
uncertainty as they are dependent on factors outside of management’s control.

In addition, by their nature impairment tests involve a significant degree of judgement as expectations concerning 
future cash flows and the selection of appropriate market inputs are subject to considerable risks and uncertainties.

SHARe-BASeD pAYMentS
Compensation expense associated with stock options and PSEs granted is based on various assumptions, using the 
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, to produce an estimate of fair value. This estimate may vary due to changes 
in the variables used in the model including interest rates, expected life, expected volatility, expected forfeitures 
and share prices. Estimating expected life and forfeitures requires judgement.

Compensation expense is also provided for DSUs and PSUs. The number of DSUs and PSUs expected to vest are 
measured at fair value at each reporting period on a mark-to-market basis; any changes in their fair values are 
recognized immediately in earnings. An estimate of the number of DSUs expected to vest based on certain vesting 
criteria and an estimate of the number of PSUs expected to vest based on certain performance and other vesting 
criteria is made each reporting period. Estimating vesting criteria and forfeitures involves judgement. The number 
of DSUs and PSUs that actually vest could differ from those estimates and any changes are recognized prospectively 
when they occur as an increase or decrease in compensation expense.
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pRoVISIon FoR DouBtFul ACCountS AnD noteS ReCeIVABle
The allowance for doubtful accounts and past due receivables are reviewed by management on a monthly basis. 
Accounts receivable are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due or when objective 
evidence is received that a customer will default. Management makes these assessments after taking into 
consideration the customer’s payment history, their credit worthiness and the current economic environment in 
which the customer operates to assess impairment. The Company’s historical bad debt expenses have not been 
significant and are usually limited to specific customer circumstances. However, given the cyclical nature of the oil 
and natural gas industry along with the current economic operating environment, a customer’s ability to fulfill its 
payment obligations can change suddenly and without notice.

InCoMe tAXeS
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability 
and its tax base. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying amount 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. The 
Company’s operations are complex and computation of the provision for income taxes involves a significant degree 
of judgement regarding tax interpretations, regulations and legislation that are continually changing. There are 
matters that have not yet been confirmed by taxation authorities; however, management believes the provision for 
income taxes is adequate. Any changes in the estimated amounts are recognized prospectively in the statement of 
net earnings.

FAIR VAlue oF FInAnCIAl InStRuMentS
The Company records its financial instruments at fair value on inception with changes in fair value being recorded 
when required by the Company’s classification of such instruments. The calculation of fair value of the Company’s 
financial instruments requires judgement around expected outcomes and is based on many variables including but 
not limited to credit spreads and interest rate spreads. These calculations are complex and require significant 
judgement around the selection of market inputs that are subject to factors outside of management’s control.

Note 6. Segmented Information

The Company’s reportable operating segments, as determined by management, are strategic operating units that 
offer different products and services. The accounting policies of each reportable segment are the same as those 
described in Note 3. The Company has three reportable segments as follows:

CoRpoRAte
The corporate segment provides management and administrative services to all of the Company’s subsidiaries and 
their respective operations.

SeRVICeS
The services segment provides well servicing services and rental equipment to the oil and gas industry.

DRIllInG
The drilling segment provides contract drilling services to the oil and gas industry.

There are varying levels of integration between the Services and Drilling reportable segments. This integration 
includes the provision of rental equipment for use in drilling operations at market rates. These transactions are 
eliminated on consolidation as an inter-segment elimination.
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For the year ended December 31, 2012 Corporate Services Drilling
Inter-segment 

Eliminations 2012 Total

REVENUE
Oilfield services  –    184,920  487,197  (3,522)  668,595 
Other  –    284  442  –    726 

 –    185,204  487,639  (3,522)  669,321 

OPERATING EXPENSES  –    139,910  337,695  (3,522)  474,083 

REVENUE LESS OPERATING EXPENSES  –    45,294  149,944  –    195,238 

Share-based compensation (Note 9)  4,996  859  978  –    6,833 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 10)  3,587  16,958  52,936  –    73,481 
Impairment loss (Note 18)  –    1,472  5,215  –    6,687 
General and administrative expenses (i)  37,579  3,319  3,354  –    44,252 
Finance expenses  11,142  143  1,647  –    12,932 
Other (income) expenses  (470)  582  418  –    530 

Earnings (loss) before income taxes  (56,834)  21,961  85,396  –    50,523 

Goodwill  –    9,619  –    –    9,619 
Capital assets (ii)  25,604  307,039  787,121  –    1,119,764 
Capital expenditures (iii)  8,805  63,407  113,329  –    185,541 
Total assets  58,639  350,369  899,867  –    1,308,875 
Total liabilities  273,662  46,835  117,316  –    437,813 

For the year ended December 31, 2011 Corporate Services Drilling
Inter-segment 

Eliminations 2011 Total

REVENUE
Oilfield services  –    162,607  451,132  (3,729)  610,010 
Other  –    177  550  –    727 

 –    162,784  451,682  (3,729)  610,737 

OPERATING EXPENSES  –    114,924  323,049  (3,729)  434,244 

REVENUE LESS OPERATING EXPENSES  –    47,860  128,633  –    176,493 

Share-based compensation (Note 9)  4,337  563  654  –    5,554 
Depreciation and amortization (Note 10)  2,608  13,378  45,850  –    61,836 
General and administrative expenses (i)  35,589  2,550  2,510  –    40,649 
Finance expenses  8,601  29  1,402  –    10,032 
Other (income) expenses  (843)  (728)  (1,011)  –    (2,582)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes  (50,292)  32,068  79,228  –    61,004 

Goodwill  –    9,619  –    –    9,619 
Capital assets (ii)  22,707  266,781  743,753  –    1,033,241 
Capital expenditures (iii)  5,285  120,014  135,172  –    260,471 
Total assets  46,307  317,268  870,125  –    1,233,700 
Total liabilities  (223,409)  (41,304)  (121,866)  –    (386,579)

i)	 General	and	administrative	expenses	above,	differs	from	the	amount	reported	in	the	consolidated	statement	of	net	earnings	as	it	excludes	the	attributable	
amounts	of	share-based	compensation	and	depreciation	and	amortization	(Notes	9	and	10).	This	presentation	is	consistent	with	how	management	reviews	
the	information	internally.

ii)	 Capital	assets	include	property,	equipment	and	intangible	assets.
iii)	 Capital	expenditures	include:	the	purchase	of	property,	equipment	and	intangible	assets,	non-cash	capital	asset	additions	and	property,	equipment	and	

intangible	assets	acquired	through	business	acquisitions.

In the drilling and services segments, for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, no single customer accounted 
for more than 10% of revenue.
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The Company operates in three different reportable geographical segments. The following table presents revenue 
from external customers based on project location and non-current assets by physical location:

For the year ended December 31, 2012 Canada U.S. Australia  2012 Total

Revenue  415,567  185,434  68,320  669,321 
Goodwill  9,619  –    –    9,619 
Capital assets (i)  792,561  226,184  101,019  1,119,764 

For the year ended December 31, 2011 Canada U.S. Australia  2011 Total

Revenue  431,176  155,854  23,707  610,737 
Goodwill  9,619  –    –    9,619 
Capital assets (i)  757,204  217,247  58,790  1,033,241 

i)	 Capital	assets	include	property,	equipment	and	intangible	assets.

Note 7. Joint Ventures

As described in Note 3(a), the Company conducts a portion of its business through 50/50 limited partnerships. The 
Company accounts for its 50% interest in these limited partnerships using the proportionate consolidation method. 
The Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of 50/50 limited partnerships is as follows:

For the years ended December 31 Services Drilling 2012 Total Services Drilling 2011 Total

REVENUE
Oilfield services  4,051  15,833  19,884  1,900  22,995  24,895 

OPERATING EXPENSES  2,940  9,358  12,298  1,286  14,479  15,765 

REVENUE LESS OPERATING EXPENSES  1,111  6,475  7,586  614  8,516  9,130 

Depreciation and amortization  368  1,729  2,097  220  2,190  2,410 
General and administrative expenses (i)  191  944  1,135  99  1,196  1,295 
Finance expenses  101  116  217  8  55  63 
Other (income) expenses  48  (13)  35  –    (2)  (2)

Net earnings  403  3,699  4,102  287  5,077  5,364 

Current assets  543  5,114  5,657  375  5,382  5,757 
Capital assets (ii)  6,518  21,810  28,328  3,836  21,577  25,413 
Current liabilities  (42)  (582)  (624)  –    (1,031)  (1,031)
Current amounts from (to) Savanna (Note 14)  54  (316)  (262)  (249)  (492)  (741)
Notes payable to Savanna (Note 17)  (1,069)  (502)  (1,571)  (2,430)  (829)  (3,259)
Long-term debt (Note 25(d))  (1,951)  (2,167)  (4,118)  –    –    –   

i)	 General	and	administrative	expenses	for	the	limited	partnerships	owned	50%	by	the	Company	do	not	include	share-based	compensation	or	depreciation	
and	amortization	as	these	are	corporate	costs	that	do	not	affect	the	partnerships.

ii)	 Capital	assets	include	property,	equipment	and	intangible	assets.
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Note 8. Personnel Expenses

Total personnel related costs, excluding share-based compensation expense (Note 9) are as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Wages, salaries and other short-term employee benefits  326,217  292,451 

Included in:
Cost of services  299,797  269,122 
General and administrative expenses  26,420  23,329 

 326,217  292,451 

Note 9. Share-based Compensation Expense

The breakdown of share-based compensation expense is as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Share-based compensation expense relating to:
Deferred share units (Note 26(c))  712  853 
Performance share units (Note 26(d))  979  754 
Phantom share entitlements (Note 26(e))  203  179 
Stock options (Note 26(f))  4,939  3,768 

 6,833  5,554 

Included in:
Cost of services  1,837  1,217 
General and administrative expenses  4,996  4,337 

 6,833  5,554 

Note 10. Depreciation and Amortization

The breakdown of depreciation and amortization expense is as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 18)  72,990  61,585 
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 19)  491  251 

 73,481  61,836 

Included in:
Cost of services  71,752  60,773 
General and administrative expenses  1,729  1,063 

 73,481  61,836 

Note 11. Finance Expenses

The breakdown of finance expenses is as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Interest on long-term debt  12,253  9,684 
Amortization of debt issue costs  679  348 

 12,932  10,032 



S a v a n n a  E n e r g y  S e r v i c e s  C o r p .  2 0 1 2  A n n u A l  R e p o R t90

n o t e S  t o  t H e  C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S

Note 12. Other Expenses (Income)

The breakdown of other expenses (income) is as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Loss (gain) on disposal of assets (Note 18)  102  (1,535)
Impairment of rigs damaged by flooding in Australia (Note 18)  –  5,255 
Insurance proceeds on repair of rigs damaged by flooding (Note 18)  –  (5,255)
Foreign exchange loss (gain)  647  (955)
Other  (219)  (92)

 530  (2,582)

Note 13. Income Taxes

A) InCoMe tAX eXpenSe
The provision for income taxes differs from the result which would be obtained by applying the combined Canadian 
federal and provincial income tax rate of 25% (2011 – 27%) to earnings before income taxes. This difference results 
from the following:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Earnings before income taxes  50,523  61,004 
Computed income tax expense at the statutory rate  12,631  16,166 

INCREASE (DECREASE) RESULTING FROM
Non-deductible expenses  1,889  1,660 
Permanent differences relating to dispositions of property and equipment  (122)  (431)
Income tax rate differential on foreign operations  (598)  (329)
Changes in future income tax rates  (863)  (1,476)
Other  107  (310)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE  13,044  15,280 

Represented by:
Current income taxes  203  2,306 
Future income taxes  12,841  12,974 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE  13,044  15,280 

B) InCoMe tAX eXpenSe not pARt oF tHe DeteRMInAtIon oF net eARnInGS
Unrealized and realized gains and losses on the Company’s net investment hedge result in tax expenses that are 
included in OCI. In 2011, a tax recovery of $386 related to realized gains and losses on the Company’s net investment 
hedge is netted against income taxes receivable. A tax expense of $166 (2011 – $271) related to unrealized gains 
and losses on the Company’s net investment hedge is included in deferred income tax liabilities on the consolidated 
balance sheet. A deferred tax recovery of $211 (2011 – $61) is also included in the foreign currency translation 
adjustment in OCI.



S a v a n n a  E n e r g y  S e r v i c e s  C o r p .  2 0 1 2  A n n u A l  R e p o R t 91

n o t e S  t o  t H e  C o n S o l I D At e D  F I n A n C I A l  S tAt e M e n t S

C) CuRRent InCoMe tAX ASSetS AnD lIABIlItIeS
The components of the Company’s current income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

At December 31 2012 2011

CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS
Income taxes receivable – Canada  3,402  993 
Income taxes receivable – Mexico  117  – 

 3,519  993 

CURRENT INCOME TAX LIABILITIES
Income taxes payable – Canada  –  (84)
Income taxes payable – U.S.  (81)  (74)
Income taxes payable – Australia  –  (321)
Income taxes payable – Mexico  –  (204)

 (81)  (683)

NET CURRENT INCOME TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)  3,438  310 

D) DeFeRReD InCoMe tAX ASSetS AnD lIABIlItIeS
The components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities are a result of the origination and 
reversal of temporary differences and are comprised of the following:

At December 31 2012 2011

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)
Unused non-capital losses*  61,011  70,909 
Share issue and deferred financing costs  414  717 
Deferred share unit plan  1,251  1,025 
Deferred income taxes on income from limited partnerships  (4,310)  (428)
Property, equipment and intangible assets  (168,468)  (170,163)
Unrealized foreign exchange gains  (3,426)  (3,916)

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES  (113,528)  (101,856)

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS BY JURISDICTION:
Australia  4,942  3,106 

 4,942  3,106 

DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES BY JURISDICTION:
Canada  (114,489)  (102,819)
U.S.  (3,981)  (2,143)

 (118,470)  (104,962)

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES  (113,528)  (101,856)

•	 The	Company	has	non-capital	losses	available	for	carry	forward	totaling	$171,169	(2011	–	$197,708),	of	which	$15,050	(2011	–	$10,378)	relates	to	
Australian	entities,	$113,842	(2011	–	$152,370)	relates	to	U.S.	entities	and	$42,277	(2011	–	$34,961)	relates	to	Canadian	entities.	The	unused	tax	losses,	
which	begin	to	expire	in	2026,	may	be	applied	to	reduce	future	taxable	income	and	future	income	taxes	payable.
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The movements in the Company’s temporary differences are as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2012

Unused             
non-capital 

losses

Share 
issue and 
deferred 
financing 

costs

Deferred 
share  

unit plan
Partnership                        

deferrals

Property, 
equipment 

and 
intangible 

assets

Unrealized 
foreign 

exchange 
gains

Net 
deferred 

income tax 
liabilities

Balance, beginning of year  70,909  717  1,025  (428)  (170,163)  (3,916)  (101,856)
Recognized in net earnings  (9,257)  (303)  226  (3,882)  375  –    (12,841)
Recognized in OCI  –    –    –    –    –    45  45 
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  (641)  –    –    –    1,320  445  1,124 

Balance, end of year  61,011  414  1,251  (4,310)  (168,468)  (3,426)  (113,528)

For the year ended December 31, 2011

Unused             
non-capital 

losses

Share 
issue and 
deferred 
financing 

costs

Deferred 
share  

unit plan
Partnership                        

deferrals

Property, 
equipment 

and 
intangible 

assets

Unrealized 
foreign 

exchange 
gains

Net 
deferred 

income tax 
liabilities

Balance, beginning of year  52,570  1,035  701  (1,968)  (124,879)  (3,931)  (76,472)
Recognized in net earnings  16,776  (318)  324  1,540  (31,296)  –    (12,974)
Recognized in OCI  –    –    –    –    –    (54)  (54)
Acquired in business acquisitions  546  –    –    –    (13,162)  –    (12,616)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  1,017  –    –    –    (826)  69  260 

Balance, end of year  70,909  717  1,025  (428)  (170,163)  (3,916)  (101,856)

Note 14. Accounts Receivable

The breakdown of the Company’s accounts receivable is as follows:

At December 31 2012 2011

Trade accounts receivable (Note 30(c))  132,167  134,779 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 30(c))  (567)  (559)

Net trade accounts receivable  131,600  134,220 
Accrued accounts receivable  8,711  14,605 
Goods and services taxes  1,532  2,330 
Insurance proceeds receivable  –  2,844 
Due from jointly controlled limited partnerships (Note 29(b))  262  741 
Other  49  48 

 142,154  154,788 

Note 15. Inventory

The Company’s inventory includes parts and operating supplies; the changes during the years are as follows:

At December 31 2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year  4,870  3,713 
Purchased  2,202  4,095 
Expensed in operating expenses  (3,364)  (3,004)
Capitalized (Note 18)  (424)  – 
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  (13)  66 

Balance, end of year  3,271  4,870 
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No inventories were specifically pledged as security for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011; however all 
of the inventories were covered under the general security agreement of the Company’s term revolving credit facility 
(Note 25(a)).

Note 16. Prepaid Expenses and Deposits

The breakdown of the Company’s prepaid expenses and deposits is as follows:

At December 31 2012 2011

Deposits  258  326 
Prepaid rent  195  427 
Prepaid insurance  401  356 
Prepaid property taxes  81  109 
Prepaid licensing and permits  491  – 
Other  348  135 

 1,774  1,353 

Prepaid rent is recorded as rent expense in the period to which the pre-payments relate and is included in operating 
expenses and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of net earnings at that time. Prepaid 
insurance and property taxes are amortized evenly over the periods to which the amounts relate and are included in 
operating expenses and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of net earnings. Prepaid 
licensing and permits are expensed in the period to which the pre-payments relate and are included in operating 
expenses in the consolidated statements of net earnings.

Note 17. Notes Receivable and Deferred Net Revenue

At December 31 Interest Rate (%) 2012 2011

Note receivable (a)  7.0  3,847  4,657 
Note receivable (b)  7.0  4,364  4,657 
Note receivable (c)  5.5  580  – 
Note receivable (d)  7.0  237  401 
Note receivable (e)  7.0  265  428 
Note receivable (f)  7.0  1,069  2,430 

 10,362  12,573 

The notes receivable in (a), (b) and (c) above arose from the sale of interests in drilling and well servicing rigs and 
related equipment to partners of the Company’s 50/50 limited partnerships and have no set repayment terms. Net 
profits related to amounts that remain receivable are deferred and recognized once reasonable certainty regarding 
the collection of the related receivable exists. The notes receivable in (a) and (b) have $828 and $819, respectively, 
of net revenue deferred.

The notes receivable in (d), (e) and (f) above were advanced to partnerships owned 50% by the Company and were 
used primarily to pay down current amounts owed by the partnerships to Savanna. The notes receivable in (d) and 
(e) require equal monthly payments of $16 and mature in April and June 2014, respectively. The note receivable in 
(f) requires equal monthly payments of $19 and matures in September 2018. All of the monthly payments include 
both principal and interest.

All of the notes must be paid in full before the partnerships make any cash distribution to the partners. The notes 
receivable are secured by the related equipment, the fair values of which exceed the amount of the notes. In 2012, 
$442 (2011 – $571) in interest was accrued on the notes receivable, and $2,437 (2011 – $1,364) in principal 
repayments and $933 (2011 – $230) in interest was received by Savanna.
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Note 18. Property and Equipment

Land Buildings
Field  

Equipment

Furniture  
and Office 
Equipment 2012 Total

COST
Balance, beginning of year  10,872  27,657  1,207,169  9,305  1,255,003 
Additions  794  2,317  162,094  3,322  168,527 
Business acquisition (Note 20)  –  –  16,867  –  16,867 
Disposals  (1,465)  (500)  (18,253)  –  (20,218)
Impairment  –  –  (6,687)  –  (6,687)
Transferred from inventory (Note 15)  –  –  424  –  424 
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  (27)  (49)  (6,796)  (11)  (6,883)

Balance, end of year  10,174  29,425  1,354,818  12,616  1,407,033 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Balance, beginning of year  –  5,649  213,090  4,896  223,635 
Depreciation expense (Note 10)  –  1,530  69,731  1,729  72,990 
Disposals  –  (96)  (6,134)  –  (6,230)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  –  (8)  (1,585)  (5)  (1,598)

Balance, end of year  –  7,075  275,102  6,620  288,797 

NET BOOK VALUE  10,174  22,350  1,079,716  5,996  1,118,236 

Land Buildings
Field  

Equipment

Furniture  
and Office 
Equipment 2011 Total

COST
Balance, beginning of year 12,172  25,692  960,061  6,067  1,003,992 
Additions  399  4,010  172,091  3,218  179,718 
Business acquisition (Note 20)  158  –  78,545  4  78,707 
Disposals  (1,886)  (2,099)  (4,087)  –  (8,072)
Impairment (Note 12)  –  –  (5,255)  –  (5,255)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  29  54  5,814  16  5,913 

Balance, end of year  10,872  27,657  1,207,169  9,305  1,255,003 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Balance, beginning of year  –  4,788  154,752  3,827  163,367 
Depreciation expense (Note 10)  –  1,455  59,067  1,063  61,585 
Disposals  –  (601)  (2,269)  –  (2,870)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  –  7  1,540  6  1,553 

Balance, end of year  –  5,649  213,090  4,896  223,635 

NET BOOK VALUE  10,872  22,008  994,079  4,409  1,031,368 
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Included in the cost of field equipment was $6,742 (2011 – $45,615) of equipment under construction or intended 
for future construction, which was unavailable for use. Included in additions for 2012 were $1,208 of assets acquired 
by way of finance lease; as such, these are excluded from the additions reported in the consolidated statements of 
cash flows. Included in field equipment was equipment under finance leases with a cost of $3,022 (2011 – $1,815) 
and accumulated depreciation of $785 (2011 – $446).

In 2012, Savanna retired three service rigs and removed its only pipe-arm single drilling rig from the active fleet. 
The Company determined that in aggregate, the carrying amounts of its “out of service” rigs, which also included 
Savanna’s coring rigs, and certain other equipment were in excess of their recoverable amounts. As a result, an 
impairment loss of $6,687 was recorded in 2012. Of the total impairment loss, $5,215 is included in the drilling 
segment and $1,472 is included in the services segment (Note 6). The recoverable amount of the impaired rigs and 
equipment was estimated as fair value less cost to sell, which was based on independent third party appraisals or 
market transactions for similar equipment in the same time period. Impairment losses are a result of management’s 
best estimates at a specific point in time. These estimates are subject to measurement uncertainty as they are 
dependent on factors outside of management’s control.

At December 31, 2012, the Company’s market capitalization was significantly lower than the combined net book 
value of its property, equipment, intangible assets and goodwill, which under IFRS is an indication of impairment. 
As a result, the Company tested for impairment by estimating the recoverable amount of the Company’s CGUs at 
December 31, 2012, on a value in use basis. The assumptions used in the 2012 impairment tests were based on the 
Company’s internal budgets. The Company projected revenue, operating margins and cash flows for a period of 
three years and applied perpetual long-term growth rates of 1.5% to 3% thereafter, depending on the CGU. In 
arriving at its forecasts, the Company considered past experience, economic trends and industry trends. The 
Company assumed a discount rate of 11.7% in order to calculate the present value of its projected cash flows. This 
discount rate represented a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) for Savanna based on publicly available 
information. The WACC is an estimate of the overall required rate of return on an investment for both debt and 
equity owners and serves as the basis for developing an appropriate discount rate. Determination of the WACC 
requires separate analysis of the cost of equity and debt, and considers a risk premium based on an assessment of 
risks related to the projected cash flows of the Company.

The results of the tests indicated that there was no further impairment, on a CGU basis, at December 31, 2012. The 
most sensitive inputs to the model are the discount rate and the growth rate. The impairment test’s sensitivity to 
these inputs is as follows: All else being equal, a 0.5% increase in the discount rate would have led to an impairment 
loss of $4,511. All else being equal, a 0.5% decrease in the growth rates would have led to an impairment loss of 
$2,582. In each of these scenarios the impairment losses would have occurred on Savanna’s shallow drilling CGU.

In 2012, Savanna sold two service rigs to a partnership owned 50% by the Company (Note 29(e)), its remaining 
coring rigs, non-essential field locations and other redundant assets for total proceeds of $13,886, which resulted 
in a loss of $102 (Note 12).

In 2011, the Company sold one service rig to a partnership owned 50% by the Company (Note 29(e)), a field 
location, and other redundant assets for total proceeds of $6,737, which resulted in a gain of $1,535 (Note 12). Also 
included in proceeds on disposal of assets in 2011, was the sale of the Company’s machining and pipe inspection 
facility, which was classified as held for sale in 2010, for gross proceeds of $3,666.

In 2011, the Company incurred an impairment loss of $5,255 on two service rigs in Australia that suffered extensive 
flooding damage. Savanna was fully reimbursed for all of the repair and related costs through its insurance program. 
The recoverable amount of the impaired rigs was estimated as fair value less cost to sell, which was based on 
independent third party appraisals. Both the write-down and insurance proceeds were included in other (income) 
expenses on the consolidated statement of net earnings (Note 12) and affected the services segment only (Note 6).
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Note 19. Intangible Assets

Patent*
Non-compete 

Agreements
Customer 

Relationships 2012 Total

COSTS
Balance, beginning of year  101  237  1,810  2,148 
Business acquisition (Note 20)  –  146  –  146 

Balance, end of year  101  383  1,810  2,294 

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
Balance, beginning of year  30  64  181  275 
Amortization expense (Note 10)  6  123  362  491 

Balance, end of year  36  187  543  766 

NET BOOK VALUE  65  196  1,267  1,528 

Patent*
Non-compete 

Agreements
Customer 

Relationships 2012 Total

COSTS
Balance, beginning of year 101  –  –  101 
Business acquisition (Note 20)  –  237  1,810  2,047 

Balance, end of year  101  237  1,810  2,148 

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
Balance, beginning of year  24  –  –  24 
Amortization expense (Note 10)  6  64  181  251 

Balance, end of year  30  64  181  275 

NET BOOK VALUE  71  173  1,629  1,873 

•	 Savanna’s	patent	relates	to	specific	hybrid	coiled	tubing	drilling	technology	developed	and	owned	by	the	Company.

Note 20. Business Acquisitions

a) On December 1, 2012, Savanna acquired substantially all of the operating assets of a private company in 
Alberta. The acquisition included 208 oilfield accommodation buildings, 20 of which were newly manufactured, 
and related support equipment. The Company expects that the addition of this equipment will enhance the 
marketability of its drilling rigs and other rental assets. The $17,013 acquisition price was funded in cash.

 The acquisition included a two-year non-compete agreement with the principals of the company from which 
the assets were acquired, the value of which is included in the purchase price allocation as an intangible asset. 
The intangible assets acquired are deductible for tax purposes. Acquisition costs were expensed during the 
period and are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings. Since 
the acquisition date, the assets acquired contributed $726 of revenue and $254 of earnings before income taxes.

b) On June 1, 2011, Savanna acquired all the outstanding shares of Performance Services Ltd. (“Performance”). 
Performance was a well servicing company operating 16 mobile free-standing service rigs throughout Alberta, 
British Columbia and Saskatchewan. This acquisition allowed Savanna to increase its service rig fleet by nearly 
25% by adding rigs complementary to its pre-existing fleet as the average age of the rigs acquired was less 
than five years and all were of similar design to the Company’s then existing well servicing rigs. The acquisition 
was funded through the issuance of 3,560 common shares of Savanna. The value of Savanna’s shares issued 
as consideration was determined based on the closing price of Savanna’s shares on the acquisition date which 
was $10.20 per share.
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 The fair value of trade receivables acquired of $4,202 was included in non-cash working capital in the purchase 
price allocation. The acquisition included a two-year non-compete agreement with the founder and former 
president of Performance, the value of which is included in the purchase price allocation as an intangible asset. 
Neither the goodwill nor the intangible assets acquired are deductible for tax purposes. Acquisition costs were 
expensed during the period and are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statement of earnings. From the acquisition date to December 31, 2011, the Performance acquisition contributed 
$13,719 of revenue and $4,431 of earnings before income taxes. In 2012, a further $17,238 of revenue and 
$3,832 of earnings before income taxes was earned as a result of this acquisition.

c) On July 12, 2011, Savanna acquired all the outstanding shares of Silverstar Well Servicing Ltd. (“Silverstar”). 
Silverstar was a well servicing company operating 17 mobile free-standing service rigs throughout Alberta and 
British Columbia. This acquisition, together with the Performance acquisition, allowed Savanna to increase its 
service rig fleet by nearly 50% by adding rigs complementary to its pre-existing fleet as the average age of the 
rigs acquired was less than five years. Additionally, the Silverstar rigs acquired consisted of 13 doubles and 
four singles, which complemented the five doubles and 11 single rigs acquired through the Performance 
acquisition. The acquisition also resulted in several new customer relationships, the value of which is included 
in the purchase price allocation as an intangible asset. The acquisition was funded through the issuance of 1,956 
common shares of Savanna and $19,804 in cash. The value of Savanna’s shares issued as consideration was 
determined based on the closing price of Savanna’s shares on the acquisition date which was $8.91 per share.

 The fair value of trade receivables acquired of $4,306 was included in non-cash working capital in the purchase 
price allocation. The acquisition included a two-year non-compete agreement with the founder and former 
president of Silverstar, the value of which is included in the purchase price allocation as an intangible asset. 
Neither the goodwill nor the intangible assets acquired are deductible for tax purposes. Acquisition costs were 
expensed during the period and are included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statement of earnings. From the acquisition date to December 31, 2011, the Silverstar acquisition contributed 
$12,955 of revenue and $4,599 of earnings before income taxes. In 2012, a further $27,767 of revenue and 
$8,838 of earnings before income taxes was earned as a result of this acquisition.

The purchase price allocations are as follows:

2012 (a) 2011 (b) 2011 (c) 2011 Total

Net assets acquired:
Cash, net of bank indebtedness  –  (1,282)  731  (551)
Non-cash working capital  –  2,664  2,340  5,004 
Property and equipment  16,867  34,714  43,993  78,707 
Intangibles assets  146  120  1,927  2,047 
Goodwill  –  6,355  3,264  9,619 
Long-term debt  –  –  (8,667)  (8,667)
Deferred income tax liability  –  (6,263)  (6,353)  (12,616)

 17,013  36,308  37,235  73,543 

Consideration:
Cash  17,013  –  19,804  19,804 
Common shares issued  –  36,308  17,431  53,739 

 17,013  36,308  37,235  73,543 

Had the acquisitions above occurred on January 1 of each respective year, Savanna’s consolidated revenue for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, would have been approximately $677,894 (2011 – $640,064) and its earnings before 
income taxes would have been approximately $51,955 (2011 – $66,936).
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Note 21. Bank Indebtedness

At December 31
Interest  
Rate (%)

Effective  
Rate (%) Authorized

2012 
Outstanding

2011 
Outstanding

Canadian operating facility (Note 25(a)) Note 25(a) –  20,000  –  – 
Limited partnership operating facilities* – – –  –  689 

 20,000  –  689 

•	 These	operating	facilities	were	in	limited	partnerships	owned	50%	by	the	Company.	The	amounts	presented	were	the	Company’s	proportionate	share.	
In	conjunction	with	new	term-loan	financing	secured	in	the	limited	partnerships	(Note	25(d)),	these	operating	facilities	were	cancelled	in	2012.

Note 22. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

The breakdown of the Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities is as follows:

At December 31 2012 2011

Trade payables  21,050  37,069 
Accrued liabilities  38,946  27,738 
Goods and services taxes  3,103  2,907 
Dividends payable  2,577  – 
DSU liabilities (Note 26(c))  3,989  3,277 
PSU liabilities (Note 26(d))  1,015  644 
PSE liabilities (Note 26(e))  382  179 
Defined contribution plan liabilities  555  852 
Other payroll liabilities  2,968  1,427 
Other  168  109 

 74,753  74,202 

Note 23. Commitments

A) opeRAtInG leASeS
Commitments relating to office and shop premises are recorded as rent expenses in the period to which the monthly 
amounts relate and are included in operating and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement 
of earnings at that time.

Commitments relating to operating vehicle and equipment leases are recorded as equipment rental expenses in the 
period to which the amounts relate and are included in operating expenses and general and administrative expenses 
in the consolidated statement of earnings at that time.

B) CApItAl CoMMItMentS
Commitments relating to equipment purchases, asset construction, maintenance capital, and rig re-certifications are 
estimated based on committed capital budgets. Actual expenditures are recorded as capital asset additions at the 
time of payment and could differ from these estimates.

Payments required in each of the next five years are as follows:

 (a)  (b) 

For the years ending December 31, 2013  3,945  109,249 
2014  3,558  –   
2015  2,867  –   
2016  2,495  –   
2017  2,436  –   

 15,301  109,249 
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Note 24. Contingencies

The Company was subject to legal claims at December 31, 2012, and, although the outcome of these matters is not 
determinable at this time, the Company believes the claims will not have any material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial position or operating results.

Note 25. Long-term Debt

At December 31

Monthly 
Principal 

Payments
Interest 

Rate (%)
Effective 
Rate (%)

Maturity 
Date Authorized

2012 
Outstanding

2011 
Outstanding

Revolving credit facilities (a)  – (a) 3.1 May-16  180,000  114,863  81,232 
Senior unsecured notes (b)  – 7.0 7.0 May-18  125,000  125,000  125,000 
Finance lease obligations (c)  75 4.2-5.7 5.4 Oct-15  1,839  1,839  1,405 
Limited partnership term loans (d)  74 5.5 5.5 Mar-17  4,118  4,118  – 

Total long-term debt  310,957  245,820  207,637 
Less: net unamortized debt issue costs  2,958  3,241 
Less: current portion  1,781  329 

 241,081  204,067 

The effective rate represents the actual rates of interest paid or payable during the period.

a) In May 2012, Savanna renewed its senior secured revolving credit facility, increased the amount available and 
extended the term of the loan by one year. The entire facility, which is with a syndicate of banks, is for a 
committed four-year term and based on the renewal all drawn amounts are not due until May 2016; the 
Company can request to extend the term of the loan annually. On renewal, the total amount available was 
increased to $200,000 from the $135,000 available at December 31, 2011. The renewed facility is comprised 
of a $170,000 (2011 – $110,000) Canadian syndicated facility, a $10,000 (2011 – $10,000) Australian facility, 
and a $20,000 (2011 – $15,000) Canadian operating facility, which when drawn is included in bank indebtedness 
in the consolidated financial statements (Note 21). Of the total amount outstanding on the overall revolving 
credit facility at December 31, 2012, $59,694 Canadian dollar equivalent (2011 – $61,020) was denominated 
in U.S. dollars and $5,170 Canadian dollar equivalent (2011 – $5,212) was denominated in Australian dollars. 
Debt issue costs with respect to the facility are expensed over the term of the loan as finance expenses.

 Borrowings under the facility may be made by way of Canadian prime rate based advances, bankers’ 
acceptances, letters of credit, U.S. base rate advances, LIBOR advances or, in the case of the Australian facility, 
BBSY advances. The facility bears interest at the banks’ Canadian prime rate plus 0.75% to prime plus 2.25% 
(2011 – prime rate plus 1.0% to prime plus 2.5%), bankers’ acceptance, letter of credit, LIBOR or BBSY 
advances plus a 2% to 3.5% stamping fee (2011 – bankers’ acceptance, letter of credit, LIBOR or BBSY 
advances plus a 2.25% to 3.75% stamping fee), which is dependent on certain financial ratios of the Company. 
A commitment fee ranging from 0.45% to 0.79% (2011 – 0.56% to 0.94%) per annum is paid quarterly on the 
unused portion of the facility depending on certain financial ratios of the Company.

 The facility is secured by a general security agreement over all the present and future property of the Company 
and its subsidiaries. The Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants at December 31, 2012 and 
2011 (Note 27).

b) On May 25, 2011, Savanna completed its offering of $125,000 aggregate principal amount of 7.0% senior 
unsecured notes, due May 25, 2018, pursuant to a private placement in Canada. There are no financial debt 
covenants associated with this offering. Interest is paid semi-annually and debt issue costs with respect to this 
transaction are expensed over the term of the loan as finance expenses. Savanna has redemption options available 
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throughout the term of the loan at varying redemption prices, all of which are in excess of the principal amount 
of the loan; however, the Company does not expect to repay any portion of the notes prior to May 25, 2018.

c) Finance lease obligations relate to field equipment with lease terms of two to five years. The Company has the 
option to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease agreements. The finance 
lease obligations are secured by the related equipment (Note 18). Minimum lease payments required over the 
next three years are as follows:

For the years ending December 31, 2013  973 
2014  556 
2015  434 

 1,963 
Less Future finance charges      124 

Present value of minimum lease payments      1,839 

d) The limited partnership facilities are in limited partnerships owned 50% by the Company; the amounts 
presented are the Company’s proportionate share. On March 30, 2012, four separate 50/50 limited partnerships 
secured term loans with Peace Hills Trust, the proceeds of which were primarily used to pay amounts owing 
to Savanna. The Company has not guaranteed any of the loans in the limited partnerships. Within the individual 
limited partnerships, the loans are secured by a general assignment of book debts and a general security 
agreement charging all present and after-acquired property of the 50/50 partnerships. Principal repayments 
required over the next five years are as follows:

For the years ending December 31, 2013  884 
2014  935 
2015  986 
2016  1,043 
2017  270 

 4,118 

Note 26. Share Capital

A) AutHoRIZeD
The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares, Class A common shares, and preferred shares.

B) ISSueD

2012 2011

Shares $ Shares $

COMMON SHARES
Balance, beginning of year  84,830  967,450  79,080  911,776 
Issued for cash on exercise of stock options  410  2,518  234  1,449 
Fair value of stock options exercised  –  917  –  486 
Issued through dividend reinvestment plan  665  4,686  –  – 
Issued on business acquisitions (Note 20)  –  –  5,516  53,739 

Balance, end of year 85,905 975,571 84,830 967,450

The Company has 7,667 (2011 – 8,077) common shares reserved for issue upon exercise of stock options and PSUs.
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In March 2012, Savanna’s Board of Directors approved a monthly dividend to be paid to holders of common shares 
of the Company which commenced in April 2012. During 2012, Savanna declared dividends totaling $23,055 or 
$0.27 per share. Of the dividends declared, $4,686 was reinvested in additional common shares through the 
Company’s dividend reinvestment plan, $15,792 was paid in cash and $2,577 was payable at December 31, 2012. 
Of the dividends payable, 31% were settled in shares subsequent to the end of the year, through the dividend 
reinvestment plan. The Company has 3,580 common shares reserved for issue under its dividend reinvestment plan.

C) DeFeRReD SHARe unIt plAn
The Company has a deferred share unit plan for independent directors and officers of the Company. The DSUs are 
granted annually and represent rights to share value based on the number of DSUs issued. Under the terms of the 
plan, DSUs awarded to independent directors will vest immediately and those awarded to officers will vest equally 
over a three-year term on their anniversary date. Additional DSUs are awarded in lieu of dividends, when declared, 
based on the number of DSUs outstanding. Effective July 2010, DSUs are only granted to independent directors.

2012 2011

Outstanding 
DSUs

Exercisable 
DSUs

Outstanding 
DSUs

Exercisable 
DSUs

Outstanding, beginning of year  455  425  404  358 
Granted/vested  101  116  73  86 
Cancelled  –  –  (3)  – 
Settled in cash  –  –  (19)  (19)

Outstanding, end of year  556  541  455  425 

The number of DSUs expected to vest are valued on a mark-to-market basis. The recognition and valuation of DSUs 
results in share-based compensation expense (Note 9) and a corresponding liability which was included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities (Note 22).

D) peRFoRMAnCe SHARe unIt plAn
The Company has a performance share unit plan for officers of the Company. The PSUs are granted annually and 
represent rights to share value based on the number of PSUs issued and achieving certain performance criteria as 
set out by the Board of Directors. Subject to achievement of performance criteria, under the terms of the plan, PSUs 
awarded will vest equally over a three-year term on their anniversary date and are recognized over their vesting 
period. PSUs, which meet the performance and other vesting criteria, will be settled in cash or common shares of 
the Company upon exercise. Additional PSUs are awarded in lieu of dividends, when declared, based on the number 
of PSUs outstanding.

2012 2011

Outstanding 
PSUs

Exercisable  
PSUs

Outstanding 
PSUs

Exercisable  
PSUs

Outstanding, beginning of year  192  –  127  – 
Granted/vested  189  83  109  38 
Forfeited  –  –  (6)  – 
Settled in cash  (83)  (83)  (38)  (38)

Outstanding, end of year  298  –  192  – 

The number of PSUs expected to vest are valued on a mark-to-market basis. The recognition and valuation of PSUs 
results in share-based compensation expense (Note 9) and a corresponding liability which was included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities (Note 22).
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e) pHAntoM SHARe entItleMent plAn
The Company has a phantom share entitlement plan for the purpose of developing the interest of employees in its 
foreign subsidiaries in the growth and development of the Company by providing them rights to share value based 
on the number of PSEs granted.

2012 2011

 
Outstanding

PSEs

Weighted 
Average

Exercise Price
($ per share) 

Exercisable
PSEs at
Dec. 31

Outstanding
PSEs

Weighted 
Average

Exercise Price
($ per share)

Exercisable
PSEs at
Dec. 31

Outstanding, beginning of year  287 7.87  119  87 5.86  29 
Granted  306 7.00  54  200 8.74  – 
Exercised  (6) 5.86  –  –  –  – 

Outstanding, end of year  587 7.44  173  287 7.87  29 

Compensation expense for PSEs is recognized using fair value, which is adjusted at the end of each reporting period, 
and is amortized over the vesting period. For PSEs granted in 2012, the Company used the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 1.1% to 1.3%, expected lives of one to five 
years, expected annual dividends of $0.36, estimated forfeiture rates of 9% to 11% and expected volatilities of 39% 
to 52%. For PSEs granted in 2011, the Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 1%, expected lives of three to five years, expected annual dividends of $Nil, 
estimated forfeiture rates of 8% and expected volatility of 50%. The recognition and valuation of PSEs results in 
share-based compensation expense (Note 9) and a corresponding liability which was included in accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities (Note 22).

F) StoCK optIon plAn
The Company has a stock option plan for the purpose of developing the interest of officers, employees and 
consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries in the growth and development of the Company by providing them 
with the opportunity, through stock options, to acquire an increased effective interest in the Company.

2012 2011

Share  
Options

Weighted 
Average

Exercise Price
($ per share)

Share  
Options

Weighted 
Average

Exercise Price
($ per share)

Outstanding, beginning of the year  5,606 8.97  5,156 10.91
Granted  2,321 7.10  1,981 8.70
Exercised  (410) 6.14  (234) 6.18
Expired  (767) 19.52  (736) 20.79
Forfeited  (670) 8.26  (561) 11.51

Outstanding, end of the year  6,080 7.20  5,606 8.97

At December 31, 2012, 6,080 (2011 – 5,606) options were outstanding at exercise prices between $4.46 and $9.23 
per share (2011 – $4.46 and $19.91 per share). The options expire from July 14, 2013 to November 14, 2016 and 
vest in equal amounts on their anniversary over three to five years. At December 31, 2012, 2,106 (2010 – 1,878) 
options were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of $6.84 per share (2011 – $11.91 per share). The 
following table summarizes these details:
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2012 2011

Exercise Price (per share)

Number 
of Options 

Outstanding

Weighted 
Average 

Contractual  
Life (years)

Number 
of Options 

Exercisable

Number 
of Options 

Outstanding

Weighted 
Average 

Contractual  
Life (years)

Number 
of Options 

Exercisable

 $4.46 - $6.03  1,650  2.1  1,198  2,172  3.0  860 
 $6.70 - $7.17  1,830  3.7  353  687  2.0  204 
 $7.60 - $9.23  2,600  4.0  555  1,960  4.7  27 
 $15.90 - $19.91  –    –    –    787  0.6  787 

 6,080 3.4  2,106  5,606 3.2  1,878 

Compensation expense for stock options is recognized using the fair value when the stock options are granted, and 
is amortized over the option’s vesting period for employees and the related service period for non-employees (Note 
9). For options granted in 2012, the Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
assumptions: risk-free interest rates of 1.1% to 1.4%, expected lives of three to five years, expected annual dividends 
of $0.36, estimated forfeiture rates of 9% to 11% and expected volatilities of 39% to 52%. For options granted in 
2011, the Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest 
rates of 1.5% to 2%, expected lives of three to five years, expected annual dividends of $Nil, estimated forfeiture 
rates of 10% and expected volatilities of 49% to 50%.

G) ReConCIlIAtIon oF WeIGHteD AVeRAGe SHAReS outStAnDInG

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 85,210 82,183
Effect of dilutive securities: Stock options  451  504 

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 85,661 82,687

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the dilutive effect with respect to stock options is that 2,754 (2011 – 3,127) 
options are assumed exercised and 2,302 (2011 – 2,623) shares are assumed purchased.

Note 27. Capital Management

The capital structure of the Company consists of the following:

As at December 31 2012 2011

Long-term debt (Note 25)  245,820  207,637 
Shareholders' equity  871,062  847,121 

Total capitalization  1,116,882  1,054,758 

Long-term debt to shareholders' equity ratio  0.28  0.25 

Savanna’s primary objective of managing capital, given the cyclical nature of the oil and gas services business, is 
to preserve the Company’s financial flexibility in order to benefit from potential opportunities as they arise and in 
turn maximize returns for Savanna shareholders. This objective is achieved by: prudently managing the capital 
generated through internal growth; optimizing the use of lower cost capital; raising share capital or placing debt 
when required to fund growth initiatives; and a conservative approach to safeguarding the Company’s assets. The 
Company’s overall capital management strategy remains unchanged from 2011.
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The Company’s ability to access its revolving credit facility (Note 25(a)) is directly dependent, among other factors, 
on the following financial ratios: (i) total borrowings on this facility to twelve month trailing EBITDAS (EBITDAS 
is defined as earnings before finance expenses, income taxes, depreciation, amortization and share-based 
compensation) of less than 3.0; (ii) total long-term debt (excluding limited partnership facilities) to twelve month 
trailing EBITDAS of less than 4.0; and (iii) twelve month trailing EBITDAS to interest expense of greater than 3.0. 
The computation of these ratios excludes amounts from certain non-guarantor subsidiaries and the limited 
partnerships owned 50% by the Company. Also, as part of the 2012 renewal and in conjunction with the approval 
of a monthly dividend (Note 26(b)), a covenant with respect to permitted distributions was added to limit dividends 
paid to 60% of excess cash flows. The Company was in compliance with all of its debt covenants as at December 
31, 2012 and 2011. Other than its debt covenants, the Company has no externally imposed capital requirements.

Additionally, the ability to raise capital through the issuance of equity could be restricted in the face of a reduction 
in oilfield service demand. Although Savanna cannot anticipate all eventualities in this regard, the Company 
maintains what it believes to be a conservatively leveraged balance sheet by maintaining a long-term debt to 
shareholders’ equity ratio below 0.50. In certain circumstances the Company may need to increase this ratio in order 
to fund significant acquisitions or other significant expansions; however, the current level provides for considerable 
flexibility while maintaining a conservatively leveraged balance sheet.

The Company intends to maintain a flexible capital structure consistent with the objectives stated above and to 
respond to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of underlying assets. In order to maintain or 
adjust Savanna’s capital structure, the Company may purchase shares for cancellation pursuant to normal course 
issuer bids, issue new shares, adjust the amount of dividends paid to align the dividend policy with shareholder 
expectations, raise debt or refinance existing debt with different characteristics.

Note 28. Supplementary Cash Flow Information

The net change in working capital items other than cash is as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Accounts receivable  12,732  (29,594)
Inventory  1,118  (1,116)
Prepaid expenses and deposits  (422)  1,460 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (4,197)  18,703 

 9,231  (10,547)

Represented by:
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities  20,498  (20,091)
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities  (11,267)  9,544 

 9,231  (10,547)
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Note 29. Related Party Transactions

The Company’s related parties include its wholly-owned subsidiaries, partnerships owned 50% by the Company, 
and key management, which consists of the directors and officers of the Company. Balances and transactions 
between the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation and, therefore, are not 
disclosed. Similarly, of the balances and transactions with partnerships owned 50% by the Company only the 
portions not eliminated on consolidation are disclosed below. Except as disclosed elsewhere, the following related 
party transactions occurred:

a) Compensation expense for key management is included in general and administrative expenses and share-based 
compensation expenses, as applicable, and comprised the following:

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

Wages, salaries and other short-term employee benefits  2,943  2,740 
Share-based compensation  3,029  2,412 
Other  595  450 

 6,567  5,602 

b) In 2012, lease revenue, management fees and other fees in the amount of $1,582 (2011 – $2,386), net of inter-
company eliminations, were earned from partnerships owned 50% by the Company. Lease amounts have been 
recorded as revenue and management and other fees have been recorded as a reduction of either operating 
expenses or general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of net earnings. The total amount 
owing from partnerships owned 50% by the Company was $262 (2011 – $741). The amounts owing are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and are included in accounts receivable (Note 14) as they fluctuate with the 
working capital in the partnerships.

c) In 2012, Savanna incurred lease fees in the amount of $1,100 (2011 – $1,560), net of inter-company eliminations, 
from partnerships owned 50% by the Company. Lease fees have been recorded as operating expenses in the 
consolidated statement of net earnings and have been netted against amounts owing from the 50% owned 
partnerships (Note 29(b)).

d) In 2012, revenue in the amount of $4,826 (2011 – $4,950) was earned from customers that have common 
directors of the Company.

e) In 2012, Savanna sold two service rigs to a partnership owned 50% by the Company for net proceeds of $2,750. 
In 2011, Savanna sold one service rig to another partnership owned 50% by the Company for net proceeds of $913.

f) In 2011, Savanna advanced $2,500 in cash to a partnership owned 50% by the Company in exchange for a 
promissory note (Note 17(f)). The advanced funds were used primarily to pay down current amounts owing 
by the partnership to Savanna. The Company has two additional notes receivable from partnerships owned 
50% by the Company (Notes 17(d) and (e)). Each of the related party notes is secured by a general security 
agreement over all the present and future property of the limited partnerships. In 2012, Savanna received $166 
(2011 – $113) in interest and $1,687 (2011 – $374) was applied to the principal owing on notes receivable from 
partnerships owned 50% by the Company.

The related party transactions above were in the normal course of operations and were measured at fair value, which 
are the amounts of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties and, which in the opinion of 
management, are considered similar to those negotiable with third parties.
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Note 30. Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, notes receivable, bank indebtedness, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and long-term debt. All of the Company’s financial instruments were 
classified as either FVTPL, loans and receivables or other financial liabilities. The fair values of the Company’s 
financial instruments are as follows:

i) The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
approximate their fair values due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

ii) The carrying amounts of the Company’s revolving credit facilities (Note 25(a)) approximate their fair values 
due to the variable interest rates applied to these facilities, which approximate market interest rates.

iii) The fair value of the Company’s senior unsecured notes (Note 25(b)) is estimated based on level one inputs, 
which are, unadjusted, quoted market prices for these notes. The Company’s senior unsecured notes had a fair 
value of $128,438 at December 31, 2012 (2011 – $121,250).

iv) The fair values of the Company’s remaining long-term debt (Notes 25(c) and (d)) and notes receivable (Note 17) 
are estimated based on current market interest rates and are not materially different than their carrying amounts.

The nature of these financial instruments and the Company’s operations expose the Company to financial risks. 
Financial risk management is the responsibility of the Company’s corporate finance function. The main objective of 
the Company’s risk management process is to properly identify financial risks and minimize the exposure to potential 
losses arising from those risks. The nature of the Company’s operations and the issuance of long-term debt expose the 
Company to risks of varying degrees of significance. The principal financial risks to which the Company is exposed 
are described in a) to d) below. The Company does not manage these risks through the use of derivative instruments.

A) FoReIGn CuRRenCY eXCHAnGe RISK
The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations as revenues, expenses and working capital derived from 
its foreign operations are denominated in U.S. dollars, Australian dollars and Mexican pesos. In addition, the 
Company’s foreign subsidiaries are subject to translation gains and losses on consolidation. Realized foreign 
exchange gains and losses are included in net earnings while foreign exchange gains and losses arising on the 
translation of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the Company’s foreign operations are included in OCI. 
The Company’s Canadian dollar equivalent of working capital, excluding the current portion of long-term debt, 
denominated in foreign currencies was as follows:

At December 31 2012 2011

Working capital denominated in U.S. dollars  28,849  21,811 
Working capital denominated in Australian dollars  13,260  6,282 
Working capital denominated in Mexican Pesos  214  (148)

 42,323  27,945 

The Company also holds U.S. and Australian dollar denominated debt (Note 25(a)). The Company’s U.S. dollar 
debt is used to manage the exposure to foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of its U.S. 
functional currency operations included in OCI.
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The Company’s sensitivity to foreign currency fluctuations are as follows: all else being equal, a hypothetical 
strengthening of 5% of each of the U.S. dollar, Australian dollar and Mexican peso against the Canadian dollar 
would have increased (decreased) earnings before income taxes and OCI as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2012 U.S. Dollar Australian Dollar Mexican Peso 2012 Total

Earnings before income taxes  511  (176)  (9)  326 
OCI  10,366  858  95  11,319 

 10,877  682  86  11,645 

For the year ended December 31, 2011 U.S. Dollar Australian Dollar Mexican Peso 2011 Total

Earnings before income taxes  (86)  (171)  15  (242)
OCI  9,059  1,518  98  10,675 

 8,973  1,347  113  10,433 

For a hypothetical 5% weakening of each of the U.S. dollar, Australian dollar and Mexican peso against the 
Canadian dollar, there would be an equal and opposite effect on earnings before income taxes and OCI to that 
presented in the tables above.

B) InteReSt RAte RISK
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on a portion of its notes receivable and long-term debt and does not 
currently hold any financial instruments that mitigate this risk. The Company’s floating-rate notes receivable are 
subject to interest rate cash flow risk, as the cash received will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates. The 
Company’s fixed-rate notes receivable and fixed-rate debt are subject to interest rate price risk, as the values will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. Floating-rate debt is subject to interest rate cash flow risk, 
as the required cash flows to service the debt will fluctuate with changes in market interest rates.

All of the Company’s notes receivable at December 31, 2012 had fixed-rates, compared to December 31, 2011, 
when 26% were fixed-rate and 74% were floating-rate. Of the Company’s total debt at December 31, 2012, 53% 
was fixed-rate debt (2011 – 61%) and 47% was floating-rate debt (2011 – 39%). The remainder of the Company’s 
financial assets and liabilities are not exposed to interest rate risk. For the year ended December 31, 2012, all else 
being equal, a 1% increase in interest rates on floating-rate debt would have decreased earnings before income taxes 
by $829 (2011 – $803). For a 1% decrease in interest rates on floating-rate debt, there would be an equal and 
opposite effect on earnings before income taxes.

C) CReDIt RISK
Credit risk arises from cash held with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposure to customers and 
partners in the form of outstanding accounts and notes receivable. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to 
the carrying value of the financial assets.

As stated above, the carrying amount of accounts receivable reflects management’s assessment of the credit risk 
associated with its customers. The Company generally grants unsecured credit to its customers; however, the 
Company applies rigorous evaluation procedures to all new customers and analyzes and reviews the financial health 
of its current customers on an ongoing basis. The allowance for doubtful accounts and past due receivables are 
reviewed by management on a monthly basis. Accounts receivable are considered for impairment on a case-by-case 
basis when they are past due or when objective evidence is received that a customer will default. The Company 
takes into consideration the customer’s payment history, their credit worthiness and the current economic 
environment in which the customer operates to assess impairment. The Company accounts for a specific bad debt 
provision when management considers that the expected recovery is less than the actual amount receivable. When 
a receivable balance is considered uncollectible it is written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. 
Subsequent recovery of amounts previously written off is included in net earnings.
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Based on the nature of its operations, Savanna will always have a concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion 
of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the oil and gas industry and are subject to normal 
industry credit risks. For the year ended December 31, 2012, ten customers comprised 40% of revenue (2011 – 40%) 
and one customer comprised 8% of revenue (2011 – 6%). At December 31, 2012, ten customers comprised 45% of 
trade accounts receivable (2011 – 39%) and one customer comprised 13% of trade accounts receivable (2011 – 6%). 
At December 31, 2012, approximately 93% (2011 – 95%) of trade accounts receivable had been outstanding for 
less than 90 days. The following details the age of outstanding accounts receivable and the related allowance for 
doubtful accounts:

At December 31 2012 2011

Not overdue (outstanding for less than 30 days)  60,682  61,417 
Past due for more than one day but not more than three months  68,756  71,294 
Past due for more than three months but not more than six months  2,089  1,833 
Past due for more than six months  640  235 

Total trade accounts receivable  132,167  134,779 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts  (567)  (559)

Net trade accounts receivable  131,600  134,220 

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:

 2012 2011

Balance, beginning of year  (559)  (713)
Additional allowance  (163)  (219)
Amounts used  153  381 
Changes due to changes in foreign exchange rates  2  (8)

Balance, end of year  (567)  (559)

D) lIQuIDItY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due or 
can do so only at excessive cost. The Company maintains what it believes to be a conservatively leveraged balance 
sheet and can finance any future growth through one of, or a combination of, internally generated cash flows, 
borrowing under existing credit facilities, the issuance of debt or the issuance of equity, according to its capital 
management objectives. Given the Company’s currently available liquid resources as compared to its contractual 
obligations, management assesses the Company’s liquidity risk to be low. The expected maturities of the Company’s 
contractual obligations, including interest, are as follows:

(Stated in thousands of dollars)
For the years ending

Dec. 31  
2013

Dec. 31  
2014

Dec. 31  
2015

Dec. 31  
2016

Dec. 31  
2017 Total

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 22)  74,753  –    –    –    –    74,753 
Income taxes payable (Note 13(c))  81  –    –    –    –    81 
Operating leases (Note 23(a))  3,945  3,558  2,867  2,495  2,436  15,301 
Capital commitments (Note 23(b))  109,249  –    –    –    –    109,249 
Long-term debt* (Note 25)  14,732  14,315  14,194  127,668  9,022  179,931 

 202,760  17,873  17,061  130,163  11,458  379,315 

•	 Interest	payments	required	on	the	revolving	credit	facility	(Note	25(a))	are	estimated	based	on	an	assumed	static	prime	rate	of	interest.

For the remainder of 2013 and the foreseeable future, the Company expects cash flow from operations, working 
capital and from its various sources of financing to be sufficient to meet its debt repayments and future obligations, 
and to fund anticipated capital expenditures.
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